
 

 
 

 
Notice of meeting of  

Cabinet 
 
To: Councillors Alexander (Chair), Crisp, Fraser, Gunnell, 

Looker, Merrett, Potter and Simpson-Laing (Vice-Chair) 
 

Date: Tuesday, 19 July 2011 
 

Time: 5.30 pm 
 

Venue: The Priory Street Centre, 15 Priory Street, York 
 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 
 
Notice to Members - Calling In: 
  
Members are reminded that, should they wish to call in any item on 
this agenda, notice must be given to Democracy Support Group by: 
  
10:00 am on Monday 18 July 2011, if an item is called in before a 
decision is taken, or 
  
4:00 pm on Thursday 21 July 2011, if an item is called in after a 
decision has been taken. 
  
Items called in will be considered by the Scrutiny Management 
Committee. 
 
 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 At this point, Members are asked to declare any personal or 

prejudicial interest they may have in the business on this agenda. 
 

2. Minutes   (Pages 3 - 8) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 

21 June 2011. 
 



 
3. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting, members of the public who have 

registered their wish to speak regarding an item on the agenda or 
a matter within the Cabinet’s remit can do so.  The deadline for 
registering is 5:00 pm on Monday 18 July 2011. 
 

4. Forward Plan   (Pages 9 - 12) 
 To receive details of those items that are listed on the Forward 

Plan for the next two Cabinet meetings. 
 

5. Taking Forward the 2011/12 Budget 
Priorities   

(Pages 13 - 48) 

 This report describes how the Council will structure and prioritise 
its work programme during 2011/12 to ensure that key priority 
actions are initiated and seeks approval to develop a plan, 
incorporating these priorities, for submission to Council in 
October.   
 
Note: 
The above item did not appear on the Forward Plan and has 
been added to this agenda under formal Urgency procedures, as 
it involves a key decision.  An Urgency notice was published on 6 
July 2011. 
 

6. Petition to Council on Support for 
Vulnerable People   

(Pages 49 - 56) 

 This report asks Cabinet to review whether any further action is 
required in response to the above petition, which was presented 
to the Budget Council meeting on 24 February 2011.   
 

7. A Review of City of York Council's 
Elderly Persons Homes (EPHs)   

(Pages 57 - 134) 

 This report describes a review that has been conducted of the 
Council’s residential care homes for older persons and seeks 
approval to carry out a consultation on the review, and its options 
for the future, with all interested parties. 
 



 
 
8. Homeless Review 2010/11   (Pages 135 - 152) 
 This report outlines service developments and future targets in 

relation to prevention work, the trends of statutory homelessness 
and the work of the Resettlement Services and Youth Homeless 
Services, for the financial year 2010/11. 
 

9. Approval of the Homeless Strategy 
(Review) 2011 to 2013   

(Pages 153 - 180) 

 This report asks Members to note the review of the Council’s 
homeless strategy and to approve the contents of the strategy 
that will cover the period between 2011 and 2013. 
 

10. Strengthening the Capability and 
Capacity of York's Voluntary Sector   

(Pages 181 - 186) 

 This report seeks approval for the allocation of an additional 
£100k funding to support the voluntary sector in the City, 
specifically focused around building the capacity and capability of 
local voluntary bodies to diversify income streams and deliver 
joined-up services at a neighbourhood and City-wide level, and 
extending the opening hours and provision of the City 
Volunteering Centre. 
 

11. High Speed Rail Consultation - The 
Council's Response to the Government's 
Consultation   

(Pages 187 - 198) 

 This report invites Members to amend or approve a draft 
response to the Government’s ‘High Speed Rail Consultation’ on 
its proposed high speed rail network (HS2). 
 

12. Financial Out-turn 2010/11   (Pages 199 - 208) 
 This report provides details of the headline financial performance 

issues for 2010-11, covering the period 1 April 2010 to 31 March 
2011, outlines requests for the carry forward of budgets into 
2011-12 and provides a position statement on the Council’s 
revenue reserves. 
 



 
 
13. Capital Programme Out-turn 2010/11 and 

Revisions to the 2011/12-2015/16 
Programme   

(Pages 209 - 230) 

 This report sets out the Council’s capital programme out-turn 
position for 2010/11, along with the final outturn position, 
approval for changes to the programme resulting from under or 
overspends and slippage, and provides an update on the future 
years’ programme. 
 

14. Treasury Management Annual Report and 
Review of Prudential Indicators   

(Pages 231 - 248) 

 This report provides a review of the Council’s treasury 
management activities and actual prudential and treasury 
indicators for 2010/11, in compliance with regulations issued 
under the Local Government Act 2003 to produce an annual 
treasury report. 
 

15. 2012/14 Budget Process   (Pages 249 - 256) 
 This report provides Cabinet with an overview of the proposed 

2012/14 budget strategy, highlighting the key issues in relation to 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Forecast (MTFF).      
 

16. Urgent Business - Water End Flood 
Alleviation Scheme   

(Pages 257 - 260) 

 Any other business which the Chair considers urgent under the  
Local Government Act 1972. 
 
The Chair has agreed to consider under this item a report which 
seeks authorisation for the Council to enter into a financial 
contribution agreement with the Environment Agency, to give 
effect to the undertaking made at Budget Council to make a 
contribution of £1m in its capital programme towards the Water 
End Flood Alleviation Scheme.  The matter is being treated as 
urgent in order to avoid any further delay on the scheme. 
 



 
Democracy Officer:  
  
Name: Fiona Young 
Contact details: 

• Telephone – (01904) 551027  
• E-mail – fiona.young@york.gov.uk  

 
 
 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting: 
 

• Registering to speak 
• Business of the meeting 
• Any special arrangements 
• Copies of reports 

 
Contact details are set out above. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



About City of York Council Meetings 
 

Would you like to speak at this meeting? 
If you would, you will need to: 

• register by contacting the Democracy Officer (whose name and 
contact details can be found on the agenda for the meeting) no 
later than 5.00 pm on the last working day before the meeting; 

• ensure that what you want to say speak relates to an item of 
business on the agenda or an issue which the committee has 
power to consider (speak to the Democracy Officer for advice 
on this); 

• find out about the rules for public speaking from the Democracy 
Officer. 

A leaflet on public participation is available on the Council’s 
website or from Democratic Services by telephoning York 
(01904) 551088 
 
Further information about what’s being discussed at this 
meeting 
All the reports which Members will be considering are available for 
viewing online on the Council’s website.  Alternatively, copies of 
individual reports or the full agenda are available from Democratic 
Services.  Contact the Democracy Officer whose name and contact 
details are given on the agenda for the meeting. Please note a 
small charge may be made for full copies of the agenda 
requested to cover administration costs. 
 
Access Arrangements 
We will make every effort to make the meeting accessible to you.  
The meeting will usually be held in a wheelchair accessible venue 
with an induction hearing loop.  We can provide the agenda or 
reports in large print, electronically (computer disk or by email), in 
Braille or on audio tape.  Some formats will take longer than others 
so please give as much notice as possible (at least 48 hours for 
Braille or audio tape).   
 
If you have any further access requirements such as parking close-
by or a sign language interpreter then please let us know.  Contact 
the Democracy Officer whose name and contact details are given 
on the order of business for the meeting. 
 
Every effort will also be made to make information available in 
another language, either by providing translated information or an 

Agenda AnnexPage 1



interpreter providing sufficient advance notice is given.  Telephone 
York (01904) 551550 for this service. 

 
 
Holding the Cabinet to Account 
The majority of councillors are not appointed to the Cabinet.  Any 3 
non-Cabinet councillors can ‘call-in’ an item of business from a 
published Cabinet (or Cabinet Member Decision Session) agenda. 
The Cabinet will still discuss the ‘called in’ business on the 
published date and will set out its views for consideration by a 
specially convened Scrutiny Management Committee (SMC).  That 
SMC meeting will then make its recommendations to the next 
scheduled Cabinet meeting in the following week, where a final 
decision on the ‘called-in’ business will be made.  
 
Scrutiny Committees 
The purpose of all scrutiny and ad-hoc scrutiny committees 
appointed by the Council is to:  

• Monitor the performance and effectiveness of services; 
• Review existing policies and assist in the development of new 

ones, as necessary; and 
• Monitor best value continuous service improvement plans 

 
Who Gets Agenda and Reports for our Meetings?  

• Councillors get copies of all agenda and reports for the 
committees to which they are appointed by the Council; 

• Relevant Council Officers get copies of relevant agenda and 
reports for the committees which they report to;  

• Public libraries get copies of all public agenda/reports.  
 

Page 2



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

MEETING CABINET 

DATE 21 JUNE 2011 

PRESENT COUNCILLORS ALEXANDER (CHAIR), 
FRASER, GUNNELL, LOOKER, MERRETT, 
POTTER (IN ATTENDANCE FOR AGENDA 
ITEMS 8 AND 9) AND SIMPSON-LAING 
(VICE-CHAIR) 

APOLOGIES 
 
IN ATTENDANCE 

COUNCILLOR CRISP 
 
COUNCILLORS KING, TAYLOR, WARTERS 
AND WATSON 

 
 

PART A - MATTERS DEALT WITH UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 
 

1. CHAIR’S WELCOME  
 
Councillor Alexander welcomed everyone in attendance to the 
first Cabinet meeting under the new administration. He 
confirmed that, in future, all reports would be written by Cabinet 
Members to provide clear accountability for all decision-making.   
 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Members were invited to declare at this point in the meeting any 
personal or prejudicial interests they might have in the business 
on the agenda.   
 
Councillors Merrett and Simpson-Laing withdrew from the 
meeting for agenda item 6 (Kent Street Site – Disposal), under 
the provisions of the Planning Code of Good Practice as 
members of the Planning Committee and took no part in the 
discussion or voting thereon.  
 
 

3. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED: That the press and public be excluded from 

the meeting during consideration of Annexes 2 and 

Agenda Item 2Page 3



3 to Agenda Item 5 (Kent Street Site – Disposal), on 
the grounds that they contain information relating to 
the financial or business affairs of particular persons, 
which is classed as exempt under paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A to Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as revised by The Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) 
Order 2006. 

 
 

4. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the last Executive 

meeting, held on 26 April 2011, be approved 
and signed by the Chair as a correct record. 

 
 

5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION / OTHER SPEAKERS  
 
It was reported that there had been one registration to speak at 
the meeting under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme 
and two requests to speak, from Members of Council.   
 
Mr A Cossins of Indominito Properties spoke in relation to the 
Kent Street Site – Disposal (agenda item 6). He confirmed his 
company’s involvement in the site for in excess of five years 
during which they had secured detailed planning consent for a 
hotel. He pointed out that his firm were in advanced negotiations 
with a hotel chain to provide quality hotel accommodation. 
Support for this had been received from the adjacent Barbican 
Centre. He therefore requested Members to accept their bid and 
scheme for the site which would provide a significant addition to 
York’s hospitality and employment offer. 
 
Councillor Warters questioned details of the disposal of the Kent 
Street site in relation to planning. The Assistant Director, 
Governance and IT confirmed that he would reply to the query 
in writing. 
 
Councillor Taylor raised concerns in relation sale of the Kent 
Street site and to the relocation of the Fire Station. He pointed 
out that reduced cover could put York’s heritage buildings and 
lives at risk with the added reputational risk to the economy. He 
requested Cabinet to either refuse to sell the site, defer their 
decision pending the Fire Authority meeting the following day or 

Page 4



agree the sale with the caveat that two full time engines and a 
turntable ladder were based at the station.    
 
Councillor Warters also spoke in relation to the Local 
Development Framework (agenda item 7). He questioned why 
this recommendation had not been to the Local Development 
Framework Working Group and expressed concerns at the 
apparent lack of public consultation. The City Strategy Cabinet 
Member confirmed that Officer’s were still working on details in 
the Core Strategy Submission however the public would be 
given the opportunity to make representations following Officer’s 
final revisions. 
 
 

6. FORWARD PLAN  
 
Members received and noted details of those items listed on the 
Forward Plan for the next two Cabinet meetings at the time the 
agenda was published. Officers confirmed that since the agenda 
had first been published the Forward Plan had been updated 
and the current list of items for these meetings was viewable on 
the Council’s website. 
 
 

7. KENT STREET SITE - DISPOSAL  
 
Members considered a report which sought approval to sell the 
former Kent Street coach park site to the North Yorkshire Fire 
and Rescue Service (NYFRS). 
 
The site, shown edged in black on the plan at Annex 1 to the 
report, was surplus to the Council’s service requirements and 
had not been included in the final tender for the Barbican 
Auditorium.  NYFRS had expressed an interest in acquiring the 
site for construction of a new fire station to replace the 
inadequate building on Clifford Street. 
 
The Cabinet were asked to consider the following options: 

 
a) Sell the Site to NYF&RS for a proposed fire 
station. 

b) Put the Site on the open market for sale by 
informal tender. 

Page 5



c) Do nothing and wait for an improvement in 
property values before putting the site on the 
market for sale. 

 
The Chair confirmed Cabinets concerns for the safety of 
residents and the historic city centre. He also referred to 
meetings held with Fire Brigade Unions in order to try and 
ensure adequate fire cover in the city. He pointed out that the 
best cover option for the city was not a Council decision 
however any changes agreed should be subject to review in 12 
months to ensure that there was no detriment to the city.    
 
Following further discussion it was 
 
RESOLVED: That the Cabinet agree Option a) to sell the 

freehold interest in the Kent Street site to 
North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service 
based on the terms and conditions contained 
in the report and to delegate authority to the 
Director of City Strategy in consultation with 
the Head of Legal Service to conclude the 
sale. 1. 

 
REASON: To ensure the development potential of the 

site is utilised, that a satisfactory capital 
receipt is obtained to support the capital 
programme and to assist another local public 
authority to achieve its service objectives.  

 
Action Required  
1. Undertake arrangements for the sale of the site.   
 

 
AD, JU  

 
PART B - MATTERS REFERRED TO COUNCIL 

 
8. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK  

 
Members considered a submission from the Cabinet Member 
for City Strategy that a recommendation be made to Council to 
amend the provision for housing growth contained in the 
submission draft of the Local Development Framework Core 
Strategy, together with other textual amendments. 
 
The Cabinet Member circulated a brief document at the 
meeting, which summarised proposed changes that Council 

Page 6



would be asked to approve at their meeting on 30 June 2011 
(This document has been attached as a late annex to the 
Cabinet agenda).  
 
Members expressed support for changes to the plan and in 
particular to the amendment to increase the housing 
requirement to 800 dwellings per annum, in accordance with the 
evidence base.  
 
Following further discussion it was 
 
RECOMMENDED:    i) That Council be requested to agree to 

amend the provision for housing growth 
contained in the submission draft of the 
Local Development Framework core 
strategy to an average of 800 dwellings 
per annum, along with other textual 
amendments.  

 
ii) That the Director of City Strategy be 

requested to prepare a report for Council 
highlighting the implications of these 
changes, along with an amended Core 
Strategy document and to arrange 
briefings for Members. 1. 

 

iii) That the Director of City Strategy be also 
requested to include the points 
highlighted in the document circulated at 
the meeting into the revised Core 
Strategy document. 2. 

           (This document has been attached as a 
late annex to the Cabinet agenda). 

 
REASON: To ensure the Council submits a robust 

and sustainable LDF Core Strategy for 
the LDF period to 2029. 

 
Action Required  
1. Prepare report and submit to Council.  
2. Amend Strategy document to address the points 
highlighted in the circulated report.   
 

 
JR  
JR  

 
 

Page 7



9. MEDIA PROTOCOL  
 
Consideration was given to a report which had been added to 
the agenda as an urgent item on 17 June 2011. The report 
proposed a change to the existing Media Protocol to ensure that 
communication of Council policies and activities were open and 
transparent giving clear accountability for all Council decision 
making.  
 
The Chair pointed out that following a review of media protocols 
in use in other local authorities it appeared that York was unique 
in not providing quotes from elected members. He therefore 
requested approval of the alteration in order to provide clear and 
open communication of council policy. 
 
RECOMMENDED:   i) That Council approve the revised Media 

Protocol at their meeting on 30 June 
2011. 

 
ii) That Council agree to the removal of the 

Media Protocol from the Council’s 
Constitution. 1. 

 
REASON:            i) To ensure greater transparency and 

accountability. 
 

ii)  To ensure that future practical 
amendments can be made to the policy 
without disproportionate bureaucratic 
decision making 

 
 
Action Required  
1. Refer recommendations to Council   
 
 

 
JP  

 
 
 
 
 
 
CLLR J ALEXANDER, Chair 
[The meeting started at 6.30 pm and finished at 7.30 pm]. 

Page 8



 
Cabinet Meeting 19 July 2011  
 
FORWARD PLAN (as at 14 June 2011) 
 
 

Table 1: Items scheduled on the Forward Plan for the Cabinet Meeting on 6 September 2011 
Title & Description Author Portfolio Holder 
York Education Partnership 
 
Purpose of report: The Schools White Paper : “The Importance of 
Teaching” was published on the 24 November. This paper describes the 
steps that have taken place between the Local Authority and the school 
community to respond to the direction of travel described in the 
document. 
 
 Members are asked to consider the recommendations 
 
This item was moved from the Executive meeting on 15 March to the 
Decision Session as consultation was still underway with schools. The 
move to the Decision Session in June was to allow the response to 
encompass schools’ views. This item will now be considered by Cabinet 
on 6 September 2011 due to having to wait for the Education Bill to 
receive Royal Assent. 
 

Pete Dwyer Cabinet Member for 
Education, Children 
and Young People’s 
Services  

 
 

Table 2: Items scheduled on the Forward Plan for the Cabinet Meeting on 4 October 2011 
Title & Description Author Portfolio Holder 
 
At the present time no items are scheduled on the Plan for this 
meeting. 
 

  

 

A
genda Item

 4
P

age 9



 
Table 3: Items slipped on the Forward Plan  
Title & Description Author Portfolio 

Holder 
Original Date Revised Date Reason for 

Slippage 

Safeguarding Board (Adults) 
Annual Report 

Purpose of report: It is a 
requirement to advise the Cabinet 
of safeguarding activity last year. 
There is no decision to be taken, 
but the paper is to be formally 
accepted and recorded as seen by 
the Cabinet. 

The Cabinet is asked to: Formally 
accept and record. This report has 
been delayed to allow for further 
input from partner agencies. 

Anne 
Bygrave 

Executive 
Member for 
Health, Housing 
& Adult Social 
Services 

19 July 2011 - Removed from the 
Plan 
 

Allocation of DfT Additional 
Funds Report 

Purpose of report: This report 
outlines the programme of highway 
patching works carried out using 
DfT funding.  

Members are asked to: Take note 
of the locations of works completed 
using the additional DfT 
maintenance funding for carrying 
out patching repairs. 

Andy 
Binner 

Executive 
Member for 
Communities & 
Neighbourhoods 

19 July 2011 - 
 

No member 
approval is now 
required for 
locations of spend 
with additional 
revenue funds. 
These details are 
to be published on 
the CYC website 
and must be sent 
to DfT by 30 
September 2011. 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

P
age 10



Establishment and Governance 
of the Local Authority Trading 
Company 

Purpose of Report: The report 
details the establishment of a local 
authority trading company, in 
particular it seeks approval for the 
governance structures under 
which the company will operate.  

Members are asked to: Approve 
the establishment lf a local 
Authority trading company 
(LATC), wholly owned by the 
authority. Also to agree the 
articles of association presented 
with the paper which detail how 
the company will operate and the 
governance structures under 
which it will be managed. 

Paul Kear Executive 
Member for 
Corporate 
Services 

19 July 2011 6 September 
2011 

Delay pending 
outcome of 
discussions on 
shared services.  

 

P
age 11



P
age 12

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 
 
Cabinet 

 
19th July 2011 

 
Report of the Leader of the Council  

 
 

Taking Forward the 2011/12 Budget Priorities 
 
Summary 
 
1. This report describes how the Council will structure and prioritise its work 

programme during 2011/12 to ensure that key priority actions are 
initiated. This will help to ensure that the Council is well placed to deliver 
the budget reductions required of it. Also the report proposes that the 
priorities be incorporated into a Council Plan and seeks approval to 
develop a plan for submission to Council in October.   

 
Background 
 
2. On 30th June 2011, Council approved an amendment to the 2011/12 

budget. The affect of this amendment was to reprioritise aspects of the 
Council’s services and how it spends its budget. In response to this, there 
is a need to create a plan that reflects the consequences of the budget on 
council services and incorporates the actions required to deliver new 
priorities. Alongside this action plan there is a need to develop an easily 
understood working document that can be used to guide the work of 
Directorates and their staff.  
 

Proposal 
 

3. The Council’s 2011/12 budget sets a target to drive consistently high 
performance from across all services. However it is recognised that this 
has to be achieved against a backdrop of reduced resources. It is a 
reality that over the next four years, some council services may have to 
stop, others might be delivered differently and more will be done with 
partners and by working cooperatively with residents.  
 

4. The budget responds to this challenge by focusing on 5 key priorites – 
 

• Create jobs and grow the economy 
• Get York Moving 
• Build Strong Communities 
• Protect vulnerable people 

Agenda Item 5Page 13



• Protect the environment  
 

5. A strong and growing economy will provide new job opportunities and the 
ability for residents to achieve a high quality of life for themselves and 
their families. The Council will work with businesses to create an 
additional 1000 jobs per annum with an emphasis on employment in high 
tech or science and financial, creative or professional services. Work will 
be taken forward to ensure that the city is at the forefront of digital 
connectivity. 
 

6. An effective transport system is critical to the success of York. Supporting 
and developing public transport services and enabling and encouraging 
more walking and cycling provide a means to tackle congestion. An 
emphasis moving forwards on these more sustainable transport options 
will bring wider benefits – air quality will improve, people will be healthier, 
pollution will reduce, access for disadvantaged communities will be better 
and our built environment will be enhanced.  
 

7. York wants to be a cooperative, enabling council that harnesses the 
enterprising spirit of local people to remodel council services. 
Communities will increasingly be empowered to influence and shape the 
services they receive and to know that any issues they raise with the 
council will be responded to quickly and effectively.    
 

8. Over 7000 vulnerable adults receive an adult social care service in York – 
a number that will grow given demographic changes. The council’s 
objective is to safeguard such adults, to promote their independence, 
enable them to make real life choices, and give them control over their 
daily lives. Although York’s residents overall enjoy better health than the 
national average, there are still quite startling inequalities between 
different parts of the city. The council is working to tackle the inequality 
and poverty that is at the heart of disadvantage for so many vulnerable 
people. 
 

9. The council recognises its fundamental responsibility to future 
generations to promote and invest in sustainability. Activities have been 
initiated at a local level to contribute to national and international 
commitments to reduce carbon emissions, recycle or minimise the impact 
of waste and prepare for the impact of a changing climate on our 
communities.  
 
Developing the Plan 

10. The next stage is to take the priorities detailed above and to create an 
action plan detailing the timeline for decision making, consultation and 
implementation of the Council’s priorities. 

 

Page 14



In addition, it is recommended that a council plan is developed as a 
working document for staff and mangers to use to inform their service 
plans and individual performance objectives. An example is attached at 
Annex A. 

 
 

Corporate Priorities 
 
11. This report sets out 5 new priorities for the authority which will be 

developed into a plan which can be taken to a full council meeting in 
October. The priorities reflect the mandate given to the administration by 
the people of York. 

 
Implications 
12.  

(a) Financial  - implications will be considered in the Council Plan 
(b) Human Resources (HR) - None 
(c) Equalities  - implications will be assessed in the Council Plan 
(d) Legal – Council Plan will be agreed by Full Council 
(e) Crime and Disorder None 
(f) Information Technology (IT) None 
(g) Property  -  None 

 
 

Recommendations 
 
9. Members are asked to: 
 
a) Recommend the development of a Council Plan and Delivery Plan to be 

brought to Full Council. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the Council delivers the priorities set out in this 
report. 

 

Page 15



 
Contact Details 
 
 
Author: 

 
Cabinet Member responsible for the 
report: 

Author’s name Kersten 
England 
Title Chief Executive 
Dept Name OCE 
Tel No.551000 

Cllr. James Alexander 
Council Leader 
 
Report 
Approved √ Date  

 
Legal advice – Andrew Docherty – AD Governance and ICT 
 
Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all All √ 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
 
Background Papers: 
 
Annexes 
 
Draft Plan. 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 16



The Council Plan 2011-2015

Page 17



Page 18



■ Foreword       4

■ Introduction       5

■ Understanding the plan     6

■ York today        8

■ Meeting the challenge     9

Our priorities      

■ Create jobs and grow the economy   11

■ Get York moving      14 

■ Build strong communities     17

■ Protect vulnerable people     20

■ Protect the environment     23

■ Our core capabilities      26

Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Understanding what we need to do and 
how we will do it

The purpose of the Council Plan is to:

a clear plan that will deliver the Council’s 
priorities over the next 4 years

are; the actions we plan to take to deliver 
them and the core capabilities that we need 
as an organisation, and to develop in every 
member of staff 

What we need to do: our priorities
The plan sets out what the Council’s five 
priorities are and describes our high level 
action plan for each. The priorities are closely 

inter-connected and many of the actions 
contribute to the achievement of outcomes 
for more than one priority. It is important 
to understand this inter-relationship across 
all the activities in the Council Plan to gain 
a sense of the Council’s overall purpose 
and direction. An illustration of some of the 
shared outcomes is included in the Shared 
Outcomes Matrix on the next page.

How we will do it: our core capabilities
The core capabilities (see page 26) 
represent the essential under-pinning 
qualities that we need to develop in the way 
that the organisation operates and that will 
be guiding principles for all staff in how they 
approach their work

What we need to do and how we will do it

Our five priorities

O
u

r 
C

o
re

 C
ap

ab
ili

ti
es

Create jobs and  
grow the economy

(see page 11)

Protect  
vulnerable people

(see page 20)

Build strong 
communities
(see page 17)

Get York  
moving

(see page 14)

Protect the 
environment
(see page 23)

Relentless focus on priorities

Completely in touch with our communities

A confident collaborative organisation

Page 22



Our 
Priorities

Create jobs 
and grow the 
economy

Get York 
moving

Build strong 
communities

Protect 
vulnerable 
people

Protect the 
environment

Create jobs 

and grow the 

economy

(see page 11)

Tackling 
congestion 
and providing 
a modern 
transport system 
is good for 
business.

Increase the role 
of the voluntary 
and community 
sector in service 
provision

Families will be 
supported to 
address financial 
inclusion and to 
take advantage 
of economic 
opportunities.

Sourcing more 
goods and 
services locally 
will reduce CO2 
emissions.

Get York 

moving

(see page 14)

Improvements 
to the regional 
and national rail 
network.

Greater 
engagement 
of residents in 
problem solving 
will win hearts 
and minds and 
encourage less 
reliance on the 
car.

Use of 
sustainable 
transport options 
can contribute to 
living a healthier 
lifestyle

Improvements to 
park and ride will 
make a saving of 
2,000 tonnes of 
CO2 per annum.

Build strong 

communities

(see page 17)

Increase 
volunteering 
to develop 
community 
involvement and 
resident’s skills

neighbourhoods 
with all of the 
services they 
need will reduce 
the need for 
travel.

Addressing 
housing need 
to ensure that 
vulnerable 
people have 
supply to meet 
their needs.

local community 
energy company 
will bring 
neighbourhoods 
together.

Protect 

vulnerable 

people

(see page 20)

Outreach 
work and 
apprenticeships 
will support 
people into 
learning and 
work.

Better transport 
will improve 
access to 
services and 
facilities for all

The Fairness 
Commission 
will engage with 
residents to 
transform council 
services and 
promote social 
justice. 

Improvements 
in air quality will 
benefit residents 
with respiratory 
problems

Protect the 

environment

(see page 23)

Improvements to 
local transport 
networks will 
encourage 
inward 
commuters 
to use public 
transport.

Increased use 
of sustainable 
transport options 
will reduce CO2 
emissions.

Neighbourhoods 
will be 
encouraged 
to focus on 
how they can 
collectively 
reduce their 
carbon footprints

Imaginative 
use of design 
will improve 
the safety and 
accessibility of 
the city’s streets 
and spaces.

Page 23



industries and the financial and service sector 
and by supporting expanding and major 
businesses in the city to thrive and develop. 

Other challenges include the need to better 
anticipate future challenges and opportunities 
in terms of demand for services and workforce 
supply. Increased demand for services, linked 
to demographic change, particularly health and 
social care, will require careful planning. 

The provision of adult social care services 
will present as one of the biggest challenges 
in responding to the change of York’s 
demography.

Increased growth and prosperity places 
considerable pressure on the city’s transport 
network and has the potential to increase 
congestion delay by up to 200% by 2026. 
Congestion stifles economic growth – it is 
costly to businesses, and detrimental to the 
health and wellbeing of our population.

The city also needs to deliver the right type 
and mix of housing to meet the city’s needs 
and make the best use of existing housing. 
Affordability is crucial given the significant gulf 
between average earnings and average house 
prices. Housing need, especially of vulnerable 
adults, older people and students will have 
to be considered in order to ensure supply to 
meet these needs.

York is in good shape, with a strongly 
performing modern and mixed economy. The 
city continues to attract investment and with 
major development opportunities in the pipeline 
and a strong market economy, there is the 
potential to further enhance York’s national 
standing. York, as an internationally recognised 
centre of excellence for education, has two 
great universities and an unparalleled education 
system that places the city amongst the leading 
authorities in the country for both  
Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 results. 

The city offers a superb quality of life to 
residents. It has an outstanding built and 
natural environment, with iconic world 
class heritage and a wide variety of cultural 
opportunities. Overall crime rates are falling, 
income levels are relatively high, deprivation  
is reducing and there is a good general  
level of health. Services for children with 
disabilities have been judged as amongst  
the best in the country and York is in the  
top ten nationally for its children’s services.

In the drive towards cutting CO2 emissions, 
the city is recognised as a leader in sustainable 
transport and recycling has increased by 350% 
over the last seven years. We now recycle 
nearly half of all household waste.

Nevertheless, York faces some significant 
challenges in the next four years, both from  
the government’s agenda and from existing 
city issues and all within the tightest budget 
framework for years.

A key challenge for York will be to rebalance 
the economy by reducing the city’s over 
dependence on public sector employment and 
to provide new opportunities for expansion of 
the private sector. This will include increased 
employment in the innovation and science 
sector, greater development of creative 

Page 24



The Council has much to be proud of in  
terms of the way in which services are delivered. 
We have one of the very best Children’s Services 
in the country that provide a great start to life 
for young people in the city. We have a strong 
record on sustainability and have led innovation 
in transport and developed the infrastructure for 
cycling to thrive within our city. We have a strong 
work programme to deliver further reductions 
in CO2 emissions and are aligning this work 
with partners in the city. We maintain a strong 
bond with local businesses and are developing 
a new economic strategy to provide even more 
opportunity for business to prosper and enabling 
residents to secure employment. Our community 
based services are increasingly responsive to 
the needs of residents and our Housing Services 
continue to be judged by tenants as being one 

drive consistently high performance from across 
all services. This challenge has to be met against 
a backdrop of reduced resources. It is a reality 
that over the next four years, some council 
services may have to stop, others might be 

provided differently and more will be done  
with partners and by working cooperatively  
with residents.

To respond to this challenge, we will invest in 
building the transformational skills required to 
change the way we work and deliver services. 
The number of staff employed by the Council 
has reduced because of the need to reduce cost 
yet staff are more than ever our most important 
resource; without them we would not be able 
to deliver our services or priorities. We are 
striving to make staff feel valued and engaged, 
to employ staff’s dedication and innovation 
effectively, to ensure that staff morale is improved 
and to develop skills that will equip our staff to 
meet the challenges of the future. 

We will embed as core capabilities a 
relentless focus on our priorities, a complete 
understanding of our customers and a confident 
and collaborative approach to delivering results 
for our customers. In other areas, like social 
work, where there are skills shortages nationally, 
focus should be on recruitment and retention, 
although this remains a challenging area.

Page 25



Collects 432 tonnes of household waste. 

 Looks after 230 vulnerable children.
 Provides 852 hours of home care. 
 Processes 97 housing benefit and council 
tax claims.
 Provides help to over 1,000 customers  
at the visitor information centre.
 Responds to up to 1,200 calls per day to 
the York Customer Centre.

In a typical working day the council....

The council provides a wide range of 
services around the clock to ensure that 
our neighbourhoods are clean and safe, our 
economy thrives, the most vulnerable members 
of our community are protected and there are 
opportunities to ensure that our children and 
young people receive the best start in life. 

The council’s annual budget is approximately 
£114 million (net) and £444 million (gross) and is 
used to provide a wealth of services including:

Waste Management and Recycling
The council collects over 90,000 tonnes of 
household waste every year, with over 40,000 
tonnes now recycled or composted. We also 
provide three household waste recycling centres, 
plus 51 public recycling points and kerbside 
recycling collections to over 73,400 households.

Children and Young People
The council works in partnership with 54 primary, 
10 secondary and two special schools, with 
nursery education offered at one nursery and 18 
primary schools. There are over 23,100 pupils in 
council maintained schools, (13,160 in primary 
schools and 9,950 in secondary schools). Our 
excellent education services mean that York is 
one of the leading authorities in the country for 
both Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 results.

Social Care for Adults
The council helps around 6,175 older people  
to live independently in their own homes and 
over 760 people are supported in residential  
or nursing care. Last year, York saw a 3% rise 
in the number of residents receiving adult social 
care and this trend is expected to continue to 
grow over the next 10 years.

Cleanliness of Streets and Highways, 
Environment and Transport
We maintain approximately 17,500 streetlights, 
600 miles of footpath, 470 miles of roads and 
150 miles of public right of way. We also operate 

14 city centre car parks. There are over 14.85 
million bus passenger journeys in York each year 
and over 2.83 million journeys are made on our 
Park & Ride Services

Housing and Benefits
The council manages and maintains 
approximately 7,926 homes in York and currently 
has 7,884 council tenants. It processes around 
24,000 housing and council tax benefit claims 
per year.

Cultural & Leisure Services
York is one of the UK’s most visited tourist 
centres, with over seven million visitors per year. 
York’s art galleries and museums receive over 
641,000 visits each year, which is one of the 
highest visit per capita rates in the UK. Its year 
round festival programme covers international 
and community events. Last year local residents 
made 940,000 visits to our 14 libraries and had 
799,000 swimming sessions (an increase of 
26% since 2009).

Jobs and the Economy
York contributes significantly to the economy  
of the region in particular in the fields of science, 
research and development, as well as through 
more established sectors such as tourism  
and rail.

Page 26



Why is this a priority and what will success 
look like?

All of the city’s residents will enjoy the opportunity 
to achieve their potential within York’s economy. 
A strong and growing economy will provide new 
job opportunities and the ability for residents to 
achieve a high quality of life for themselves and 
their families. 

York is the most buoyant economy in the north 
but it is an economy that faces challenges. As 
York’s population continues to grow it will drive 
the need for jobs. This is in addition to the need to 
replace jobs lost during the recession and through 
changes to public expenditure. The opportunity for 
businesses to expand their markets, and create 
jobs, is challenging following the recession with 
a risk-averse climate towards investment. York’s 
businesses and their markets are increasingly 
subject to global competition and inward 
investment opportunities are limited as businesses 
seek to consolidate rather than invest elsewhere. 

A successful York will have an enhanced 

international city, with a visitor economy 
recognised for its high quality that brings 
financial benefits to the city and its residents. 
York will benchmark itself against other 

position as the most buoyant economy in the 
north we expect to create an additional 1,000 
jobs per annum. We expect that the proportion 
of employment in high tech or science and 
financial, creative or professional services will 
increase each year to 2015. Our city will be at 
the forefront of digital connectivity and 95% of 
all businesses will have the opportunity to have 
minimum up and down speed connections of 
25 megabytes by the end of 2014.

A revised economic strategy will provide the 
framework for future actions, including a strong 
focus on encouraging enterprise to add an 
extra dimension to York’s economic strengths 
and we are seeking to increase the number of 
new business start-ups from 58 in 2008 to 75 
in 2015 per 10,000 population, and see the 
proportion of new businesses surviving three 
years increase from 65% in 2008 to 70% by 
2014/15. 

Page 27



forward these developments, maximising their 
economic impact and creating opportunities 

be implemented to provide an environment and 
tackle infrastructure issues so that business can 
flourish through the provision of space to meet 
differing business needs and enhanced travel 
connections within the City. This will involve 

employment allocations) in place by 2012. 

will be prioritised to ensure that businesses  
and residents wish to remain and relocate to 
the city.

Strategic Connectivity 
York is well connected to the national motorway 
and the railway network. However, we will 
need to keep under review the railway network 
modernisation programme, and continue to 

Mainline modernisation. In particular, to ensure 

What actions and projects will make  
this happen?

Positioning York on a global stage
York will devise an internationalisation strategy 
that will allow the city and its partnerships 
to be ambitious in improving its place in the 
world and to use its strengths to compete for 
international investment, visitors, expenditure 
and talent. At its heart will be proposals to 

Media Arts, the hosting of international events 
and festivals and to secure enhanced levels of 
inward investment. In addition, we will position 
York as a gateway into overseas trade and 
maximise the visitor economy opportunities.

Unlocking infrastructure to support 
investment. 
There are a number of key development 
sites coming forward at the same time in 
the city which provide the opportunity for 
employment growth and attracting investment. 
The Council will play an active role in bringing 

Page 28



Key outcomes

recognised as a great place to invest, 
visit, do business and for talent to remain 
or locate to.
More sustainable jobs and wealth for 
residents in a rebalanced economy with 
reduced dependence on public sector 
employment. 

large, will grow and international, national 
and local investment will bring new 
businesses into York.
Residents will be equipped with the tools 
and skills they need to take advantage of 
job opportunities and start up their own 
businesses.

that High Speed Train services connect with 

business travellers with the opportunity 
to access high speed trains. The benefits 
of enhancing rail connectivity to and from 
Leeds will be assessed and form the basis of 
influencing national investment decisions. 

High speed broadband coverage is a national 
objective, assisting businesses to increase 
the speed and security of information transfer 
and providing the opportunity for businesses 
to innovate. We will work with private sector 
providers to seek to achieve implementation  
of a high speed digital network. 

Supporting Business 
Critical to the economic success of the city is 
the prosperity of existing business. Proposed 
changes to the national business support 
framework will leave a more fragmented 
approach to both the provision of business 
advice and information to support local and 
inward investment opportunities. We plan 

to bring together, in a single portal, advice 
and information for businesses. The portal, 
driven by the needs of businesses, is under 
construction and will be fully in place by 
April 2012. Additional efforts will be made 
to encourage businesses to source more 
goods and services locally, encourage the 
development of export opportunities, and 
ensure there is a skilled workforce available to 
meet business needs. Whilst York has a highly 
skilled workforce, there remain issues of local 
companies being able to recruit to some jobs, 
particularly in technical skilled positions.

Creating a culture of enterprise and 
encouraging more start-ups. 
Within York schools we will enhance exisiting 
activities aimed at promoting an enterprise 
culture by introducing enterprise and business 
opportunities in both primary and secondary 
schools. In addition, we will also promote 
business awareness and opportunities amongst 
York’s under and post graduate population. 
We will also continue to develop ways of 
encouraging new business formation through 
the provision of advice, mentoring, support and 
premises.

Helping residents into employment  
and training
We will continue to provide an information 
and guidance service to support people into 
learning and work through Future Prospects. 
This will take place at its city premises but also 
through an extension of its outreach work, 
targeting areas of greatest need. In parallel 
the York Training Centre will seek out funding 
to support and provide skills to those most 
marginalised from employment and they will 
provide additional apprenticeship opportunities.

Page 29



consequences on the quality and character  
of York as a place.

Supporting and developing public transport 
services and enabling and encouraging more 
walking and cycling provide a means to tackle 
congestion. An emphasis on these more 
sustainable transport options will bring wider 
benefits – air quality will improve, people will 
be healthier, pollution will reduce, access for 
disadvantaged communities will be better  
and our built environment will be enhanced. 
This will all support more sustainable economic 
growth and improve quality of life for local 
communities.

Over the next four years we will  
Get York Moving by:

Expanding Park and Ride Services – 
this national exemplar service has been 
the foundation for reducing congestion. 
The current service provides the basis and 
opportunity for a more comprehensive system 

This is a low res image. 
Please supply high res  

for printing

Why is this a priority and what will  
success look like?

An effective transport system is critical to the 
success of our city. Through consultation 
on our Local Transport Plan residents and 
businesses pinpointed congestion as the most 
important transport challenge for York. 
York’s transport network faces considerable 
pressures from a growing population and 
economy. Key issues include high traffic flows 
on the outer ring road, congestion on the 
inner ring road, increasing levels of emissions 
and pollution and a situation where traffic is 
intruding on people’s shopping, leisure or  
visitor experience in York, particularly in our  
city centre.

York is a compact historic city. Its rich heritage 
of historic buildings, open strays, city walls, 
railways and historic street layout all affect 
movement. In simple terms York doesn’t 
have the space to fit more and more cars in. 
Trying to do this would have major negative 

Page 30



Nestle has been working 
with Cycle City York 

since 2009 and through 
a number of engaging 

initiatives, we have seen 
the number of employees 
cycling to work increase 

by over 15%.
cycling to work increase 

by over 15%.

to move more people into and around York. 
We aim to secure external funding, through 

of the Access York initiative. This will be used 
to increase the number of park and ride sites 
in the city from five to seven. We plan to start 
construction of two new sites at Clifton Moor 
and the A59 and to relocate the Askham Bar 
site in 2012/13, which will deliver over 40% 
more parking spaces. This will cater  
for an additional half a million cars annually 
and a will make a saving of 2,000 tonnes of 
carbon dioxide per annum.

Improving York’s local bus services – 
this will increase the quality, reliability and 
punctuality of local bus services. Partnership 
arrangements will be agreed with the bus 
operators to develop all aspects of bus 
travel. This will include improvements to 
vehicle fleets, better timetables, and real-time 
information and more bus priority measures. 
Through ticketing will also be introduced, 
which means passengers will only need to 

buy one ticket to complete a journey, even if 
they have to use more than one bus operator’s 
services. All of these improvements look to 
support a 10% increase in bus based trips 
over the next four years.

Developing York’s cycling and pedestrian 
network – as a ‘Cycling City’ York has 
introduced many new facilities and initiatives 
to encourage more cycling, including an 
orbital route. As a result, cycling numbers 
have increased by approximately 15%. We 
aim to develop this work further by securing 
Local Sustainable Transport Funding. This will 
be used to identify gaps in the network and 
deliver improvements to routes that make the 
biggest difference to reducing car use. 

buy y one ticket to comp

Page 31



We will also continue to improve our network 
of cycling and walking routes. Improvements 
made over the next four years to persuade 
more people to make ‘smarter travel’ choices 
aim to support a 5% per annum growth in 
cycling trips and a 2.5% increase in walking 
trips.

Improving movement in the city centre –  
York led the way with the large scale 
pedestrianisation of the footstreets area. 
Further measures and investigations will help 
us move towards being a largely car free city 
centre. Over the next year we aim to identify 
proposals to reduce car traffic and increase the 
use of public transport, walking and cycling in 
the city centre. In the next year, we will extend 
the operating hours and extent of the central 
‘footstreets’ area. Then over the next two 
to three years introduce further public realm 
improvements and deliver and enforce new 
and existing bus priority routes through the city 
centre. As a result pedestrians will have greater 
priority in the centre of York and the effects of 
through traffic and vehicle emissions will be 
being addressed.

Establishing 20mph speed limits in  
York’s residential areas – to improve 
people’s quality of life, make areas safer and 
encourage more walking and cycling. We 
will start by putting in place a programme to 
introduce 20mph limits in residential areas and 
minimise associated street clutter. By the end 
of 2011/12 we will implement 20mph speed 
limits in a ‘first phase’ of residential areas. 
Following this we will roll out 20mph limits 
across the rest of the city’s residential areas  
by 2013. 

Winning hearts and minds – information, 
education and awareness campaigns are 
vital to encouraging people to be less reliant 
on their cars and make different transport 
choices. We are aiming to secure Local 
Sustainable Transport funding for marketing 
and communications work on the benefits of 
making ‘smarter’ travel choices. This funding 
will also be used to develop personalised 
travel planning and workplace based travel 
planning initiatives undertaken in the city’s 
northern quadrant by 2013. Improvements 
such as new park and ride sites, better local 
bus services and an expanded cycle network 
will provide more quality alternatives to 
using the car. The target is to achieve a 2% 
reduction, by 2016, in the expected growth in 
the number of trips made by car.

Key outcomes

Far more people choosing to travel  
by bus, train, bike or on foot in York.
York will have a modern transport 
system, which offers quality alternatives 
to the car.
It is easier safer and more efficient for 
York’s residents, businesses and visitors 
to move within and beyond the city.
York’s communities and businesses 
have better accessibility to economic 
and educational opportunities and day 
to day services and facilities.

Page 32



Why is this a priority and what will 
success look like?

Strong communities belong to their residents 
not to the council and are the foundation of a 
thriving city. York wants to be a cooperative 
enabling council that harnesses the 
enterprising spirit of local people to remodel 
council services. We want residents and 
visitors alike to find York attractive, welcoming 
and safe, a city of active and self-reliant 
communities where everyone has an effective 
voice in local issues and where there is a 
strong sense of belonging to the city as a 
whole as well as distinct local community 
identities. Communities will increasingly 
be empowered to influence and shape the 
services they receive and to know that any 
issues they raise with the council will be 
responded to quickly and effectively. Service 
providers will work together to deliver efficient 
well coordinated services at a local level. York’s 
already strong voluntary sector will increasingly 
play an essential part in community life.  

All areas of York will be places where people 
want to live. This means areas that are safe, 
tolerant and respectful and where everyone 
is treated fairly. Strong communities are 
places that enable healthy lifestyles, with 
a good choice of housing and high quality 
environments, good schools and community 
facilities, thriving local shopping centres and 
opportunities for work and enterprise. 

What actions and projects will make 
this happen?

Community Engagement –
We will develop confidence in the council’s 
ability to deliver what residents need by 

including a 24 hour hotline, self service access, 
cross partner referrals, mobile working and 
strengthened street based enforcement. We will 
communicate better in local communities by 
introducing YorVoice, using social networking 
and developing local applications. We will 
promote community involvement in the 

Page 33



Fairness Commission and listen to residents to 
inform the transformation of council services. 
We will establish local community priorities 
using resident engagement, and customer 
insight to coordinate improved customer 
service delivery. We will make the council 
accountable to residents by agreeing service 
contracts with residents and publicising our 
performance. We will ensure that participatory 
budgeting is simplified and better focused on 
community needs. We will celebrate the 800th 
anniversary of York’s City Charter, which first 
gave local people a voice in the management 
of the city, with a renewed focus on community 
engagement. York 800 will be a year long 
citywide programme of activities and events. 
Our major festivals will be enhanced and 
working with partners in communities of interest 
and in neighbourhoods, we will celebrate our 
heritage and develop programmes to improve 
our future.

Stronger voluntary sector – 
We will facilitate the development of the 
proposed Community Right to Challenge and 
will work in partnership with the voluntary sector 
deciding how to increase the role of the sector 
and strengthen its service provision.

We will develop a Volunteering Strategy to 
promote more volunteering and establish a 
better mechanism to ensure residents and 
employers across the city can be involved in 
community-based work.

Safer inclusive communities – 
To tackle crime and increase community 
safety we will raise the community profile of 
the Safer York Partnership and establish an 
annual crime summit. We will work with the 
Safer York Partnership to engage residents 
in tackling noise, graffiti and other antisocial 
behaviour through an enforcement review, use 
of community payback, improved night time  

safety, changing licensing legislation and more 
effective use of the council’s noise service.

To develop cohesive and inclusive communities 
where no person or community feels left behind 

and we will target the involvement of traveller, 

communities which are identified as such in the 
one City Plan. We will establish an effective  
Bronze level group to embed the requirements 
of the Prevent agenda and safeguard our 
communities against terrorism.

Healthy sustainable communities – we will 
create healthy and sustainable living options in 
communities

To promote healthy, active and sustainable 
lifestyles we will increase access to public green 
spaces, increase allotment capacity and develop 

We will work with local businesses to improve 
access to, participation in and support for the 
city’s leisure and culture services to improve the 
health of our communities.

We will establish the York Alliance against Alcohol 
and Tobacco to tackle the issues of counterfeit 
and underage sales and enforce no smoking laws.

We will target fuel poverty to increase affordable 
warmth levels in the city.

We will use York’s role in welcoming the torch to 
the city to include communities in the celebration 
of 2012 Olympics and leave a lasting legacy for 
the city.

Create Communities where young people 
flourish – York’s young people are our future. 
We want to make York one of the best places 

Page 34



Key outcomes

Community Engagement – more residents will understand and 
be engaged in planning, budgeting, priority setting and problem 
solving in their communities.
Stronger voluntary sector – there will be a strong volunteering 
infrastructure with increased levels of volunteering in the city and 
opportunities for not for profit organisations to deliver services.
Safer inclusive communities – we will achieve safe, resilient 
and cohesive communities where no person or community feels 
left behind or disadvantaged.
Improved community infrastructure – we will establish an 
appropriate infrastructure including housing, leisure, schools and 
businesses supporting opportunities for capacity building, work 
and enterprise.
Healthy sustainable communities – we will create healthy and 
sustainable living options in communities.
Communities where young people flourish – we will consult 
with young people to build communities that reflect their needs.

schools, exciting things to do, new ways to get 
involved, and a range of professional support 

York, whatever their background, deserves a 
chance to live their dreams. So we will continue 
to stretch and challenge the most able, while 
providing a helping hand where it is needed to 
those who start at a disadvantage.

We will build communities that reflect what  
young people need by improved consultation 
with young people. Based on the TakePart 
pathfinder outcomes we will enhance the role 
of the voluntary sector in providing stimulating 
opportunities for young people. We will establish 
a new City Centre Youth Café and support more 
ways for young people to get involved with the 
local community and volunteering by working 
with students and children. 

Improved Community Infrastructure –  
we will establish an appropriate infrastructure 
including housing, leisure, schools and 

businesses supporting opportunities for  
capacity building, work and enterprise.

As part of the Community Planning process 
we will integrate Area Asset Plans and 

 
up the infrastructure needs of the community.

Specific projects that will add to or make  
better use of existing facilities include the  
delivery of the Community Stadium, the roll  

 
for learning and the development of a  
Swimming Pool Strategy. 

To address the need for a greater supply of 
good quality housing with a focus on affordability 

and make use of a new homes bonus to 
bring empty properties back into use. We 
will decrease the number of under-occupied 
properties and increase affordable housing 
provision and introduce private Rented Sector 
Accreditation to improve standards. 

Page 35



Our overarching objective is to safeguard such 
adults, to promote their independence, enable 
them to make real life choices, and give them 
control over their daily lives.

Although York’s residents overall enjoy better 
health than the national average, there are still 
quite startling inequalities between different 
parts of the city. People’s background and 
income still have the most significant influence 
over a whole range of outcomes, including 
educational attainment, employment, and 
health. We want to tackle the inequality and 
poverty that is at the heart of disadvantage for 
so many vulnerable people.

Finally, our care for our most vulnerable 
citizens starts with our youngest. 
Safeguarding their interests will always be a 
priority for us. It cannot be right that children 
from our more deprived communities start 
school already behind their peers in terms of 
their development. We want to improve the 
services we offer to families of pre-school 

Why is this a priority and what will  
success look like?

The population of older people in York is set 
to grow by 20.5% in the next nine years. The 
number of residents aged over 65 will increase 
from 33,000 to 40,000 by 2020. This growth 
is already placing greater demand on Council 
services and budgets with a 7% rise in the 
number of people seeking support from adult 
social care every year. 

Over 7,000 vulnerable adults receive an adult 
social care service in York. At the same time 
York is facing reduced financial support, year 
on year, from central government.

For these reasons, the way the Council buys 
and directly provides services has to change. 
To continue unaltered would mean a £12 
million rise in spending by 2020 to support 
the growing population of older people, and 
people with more complex learning and 
physical disabilities. 

Page 36



children through our network of children’s 
centres, and continue that seamless support 
after they start school. Our limited resources 
will be carefully targeted on the families 
and children who need it most, identified 
at the earliest moment when they may be 
encountering difficulties. By spending wisely at 
this stage, we can save ourselves much greater 
social and economic costs in later life.

services. These seek to provide early advice, 
information and support that can often prevent 
the loss of independence, choice and control 
otherwise experienced by vulnerable adults. 
These services must be supported and 
expand to meet a growing demand.

Operating effective safeguards to protect 
vulnerable adults whilst also promoting 
individual budgets so that people can 
exercise greater choice and control over 
their lives. We are satisfied that we monitor 
the quality of our in-house and private sector 
services but we are not complacent. We 
will increase our capability to ensure that 
we continue to safeguard the quality of care 
providers to our citizens as the population of 
older people increases. We will also protect 
vulnerable people on the lowest incomes 
from the rising cost of social care charges by 
reducing the recent increases with effect from 
April 2012.

What actions and projects will  
make this happen?

Over the next four years we will enhance the 
life chances of vulnerable people by:

Providing great facilities that support 
dedicated high quality care for people 
with dementia and other specialist 
needs for the next 30 to 40 years. We will 
respond to the views of citizens and develop 
a new generation of buildings that exceed 
current standards and provide care for life 
for their residents.

Investing in services to support people 
in the community; we will invest £250,000 
a year for the next four years in telecare 
equipment to help support more people to 
continue to live in their homes and promote 
their independence, choice and control. We 
will double the capacity of the Re-ablement 
Service to support 660 older people a year 
to regain their independence, preventing 
admission to hospital and improving 
people’s experience of leaving hospital.  
This will reduce the number of older people 
who enter residential care at the wrong time 
and could save £1.3 million in residential 
care fees which can be invested in more 
services in the community. 

York benefits from a rich and 
complementary array of voluntary sector 

Page 37



Key outcomes

More people living for longer in their 
own homes.
A focus on independence and greater 
choice and control over their lives for 
vulnerable people.
A year-on-year increase in the capacity 
of the community-based services to 
support more people in the home of 
their choice and enjoy an improved 
quality of life.
Reduced health inequalities across 
York, especially morbidity and obesity 
rates.
Maximising incomes for residents, with 
year-on-year reductions in deprivation 
rates and the numbers of children living 
in poverty.
More children living with their own 
families throughout their childhood, 
with the majority of those who are 
looked after by the Council also living in 
family settings.

Establishing a Health and Wellbeing 
Board – the health reforms give us a unique 
opportunity to establish new arrangements 
for overseeing the development of health 
and social services in York, in conjunction 
with partners in the NHS and the private 
and voluntary sectors. This new Board will 
review and refresh our ‘Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment’ and a new Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy that flows from it. We will do this 
in close partnership with the healthcare 
professionals that will be responsible for buying 
services, whom we hope to welcome into 
our new West Offices in a unique co-location 
arrangement. Our aim is to be ready to hit the 
ground running when we take on new public 
health duties in 2013, to target differences in 
levels of health between our poorest and most 
affluent people in our city, and to ensure all our 
services work more closely together so that 
people receive the right care in the right place 
at the right time.

Supporting families who may be struggling 
through enhanced integrated support services 
designed to intervene early. We will target our 
programmes on York’s poorest wards. We will 

seek to address financial inclusion, as well as 
introducing and implementing a Child Poverty 
Strategy for the city, which includes advice on 
benefits and debt relief. We will bring forward 
proposals for a ‘People’s Bank’. We will review 
changing national policy and programmes on 
welfare reform and make representations where 
it is felt they do not address local priorities in 
addressing inequality and protecting the most 
vulnerable. Our ambition is for York’s children to 
grow up in happy and stable environments, in 
family settings wherever possible.

Establishing a ‘Fairness Commission’ to 
ensure that the Council’s difficult decisions 
on spending priorities and the way we deliver 
services are properly informed by the views of 
its citizens, especially the most vulnerable.

Page 38



Why is this a priority and what will  
success look like?

York has an outstanding built and natural 
environment, with iconic world class heritage. 
York’s unique environment contributes 
significantly to its prosperity, with a high quality 
of life attracting business and commerce and 
supporting a buoyant tourism market. York must 
balance its reputation for its environment and 
unique heritage with its ability to secure the very 
highest standards of contemporary development. 
Only by maximising the opportunity afforded by 
York’s existing assets can we ensure high levels 
of employment and a strong economy. 

York’s environment is a direct contributor to 
quality of life for its residents and visitors. We 
must ensure that every neighbourhood in York 
cultivates a sense of community ownership of its 
environment and has attractive and safe public 
spaces which promote healthy lifestyles.

York recognises its fundamental responsibility 
to future generations to promote and invest 
in sustainability. York must work at a local 
level to contribute to national and international 

commitments to reduce carbon emissions, 
recycle or minimise the impact of our waste 
and prepare for the impact of a changing 
climate on our communities. York will also look 
to renewable energy which can be generated 
locally to enhance York’s resilience in the global 
market place.

York’s communities are changing fast. We 
will work to protect what is valued and also 
to respond to the changing needs of our 
community by addressing such questions as, 
how can we modify our environment to ensure 
that an older population is able to maintain a 
healthy and participative lifestyle? And how can 
the environment of a historic city adapt to meet 
the expectations of modern creative industry, 
with technology that is accessible anywhere, is 
interactive, and informed by social networks? 

We will continue to involve and empower 
our residents to determine and deliver local 
solutions for a world class environment, worthy 
of a world class city and will combine 21st 
century development, modern architecture and 
sustainable design that complements York’s 
architectural legacy.

Page 39



Royal Institute of British Architects competition 
for new development that has the potential to 
‘put York on the map’. 

York will be one of the best-performing areas in 
the country for waste services; we will produce 
less waste overall. York will continue to promote 
the value of waste as a natural and viable 
resource, by:

maximum practicable amount of  
household waste.

 
unwanted items and waste by working  
closely with community and other groups.

energy from waste that is not re-used, recycled 
or composted so as to further reduce the 
amount of waste sent to landfill.

strategy and will consider the feasibility of a local 
community energy company so that the benefits 
of renewable energy can be delivered locally. 

What actions and projects will  
make this happen?

We will work to meet York’s air quality targets 
which will directly impact on the health of residents 
and visitors. We will also progressively reduce 
our carbon emissions by continuing to deliver 
the Climate Change Action Plan and address the 
implications of procurement decisions. We will 
conduct a green audit, improve flood protection 
and work to embed sustainability in all strategic 
and service planning and corporate decision 
making. 

We will enhance York’s natural environment by 
managing green space to balance public, wildlife, 
habitat benefit and improve public access to 
green space. We will deliver a Green Infrastructure 

is a framework for the delivery of the improved 
stewardship of the natural environment. We will 
also implement a Tree Strategy for planting  
50,000 new trees (over the next five years).

York will be known as a world class centre  
of excellence for conservation practice, 
archeological practice and heritage education. 
We will produce a Heritage Strategy which will 
improve access to information and records 
on York’s heritage and will be available as a 
learning resource for people of all ages; we will 
conduct a city walls management review and 
improve heritage management by implementing 
recommendations to enhance the city’s central 
historic core.

We will enhance York’s built environment 
through a focus on imaginative conservation and 
improving the quality of York’s streets and public 
spaces, with local streets and neighbourhood 
public spaces maintained to a high standard. We 
will develop a Public Realm Strategy that includes 
a list of potential improvement schemes and with 
improved management standards. We will run a 

Page 40



We provide 
stewardship of the 
built, historic and 

natural environment 
of the city including: 
the city walls, 2,000 
listed buildings, 35 
conservation areas 
and 17, 000 trees on 

council land. We shape 
and influence building 

works and new 
development through 

the determination 
of around 4,000 

planning and building 
applications.

York will be better prepared and more resilient in the face of a 
changing climate and will steadily reduce its carbon emissions
York’s natural environment will be enhanced by more green 
space managed to balance public, wildlife, habitat benefit and 
improved public access to green space
York will be known as a world class centre of excellence for 
conservation practice and heritage education
York’s built environment will combine 21st century 
development, modern architecture and sustainable design that 
complements York’s architectural legacy
York will be one of the best performing areas in the country for 
waste services; we will produce less waste overall and re-use, 
recycle and compost more household waste 
York will have a clear energy strategy which prioritises local 
renewable energy generation

Key outcomes

e-use, 

ocal 

Create a world class  
environment for a  
world class city.

Page 41



What core capabilities will drive our work?
In order to deliver the Council Plan we need to 
develop three core capabilities:-
 A confident, collaborative organisation 
 Completely in touch with our communities 
 A relentless focus on our priorities.

A confident, collaborative organisation

requires us to be agile and joined up. 
The Council needs to be able to make 
good decisions swiftly, to operate with a 

minimum of bureaucracy, to enable all staff 
to be responsive to customers and to work 
effectively across team and organisational 
boundaries. Confidence in our sense of 
purpose and our capability to take effective 
action will make us enterprising and 
innovative, ready, willing and able to  
respond to the challenges that face us. 

What actions will help us be confident 
and collaborative?

Workforce 
Strategy to set out how we will develop  

Page 42



and harness the skills of our staff to deliver  
our priorities. We will:

outcomes for customers

improvement

and priorities and that they are supportively 
managed to perform well
 Provide a voice for staff to share their views 
and perceptions, in a forum that leads to 
action
 Strengthen our leadership throughout the 
organisation

 Recruit and retain top quality staff

balances work and home lives

reflects the community we live in
 Celebrate the excellent performance of  
our staff

Use the opportunities presented by the move 

to the West Offices to build collaboration 
across team and organisational boundaries. 
In the run up to 2012 we will:
 Introduce flexible working 

working in West Offices.
 Redesign elements of the organisation  
to integrate support services.

Equalities and inclusion –  
 

 

Inclusion improvement plan which will 
ensure that we:
 Improve the co-ordination and inclusivity 
of staff and customer engagement.
 Improve our knowledge of the profile and 
perceptions of our staff.
 Assess equalities impacts as part of our 
decision making.

 
to promote equality and diversity.

on 

Page 43



creativity of our staff in Team York. We will 
build our joint ambition to excel, stimulate 
teams to perform, to achieve their personal 
best and we will actively celebrate our 
success. 

Completely in touch with our 
communities

The Council exists to serve the needs of our 
communities. In order to do so we need to 
know who our customers are, where they 
are, what they are like and what their needs, 
wants and perceptions are. Our services are 
not one size fits all and we need to be able 
to shape the design and delivery of services 
to meet varying needs. This will also mean 
that we can focus our services on those 
customers who are most vulnerable. This 
requires better customer insight to be central 
to decision making and service design, and 
for all staff to be focussed on meeting the 
needs of customers.

Simplify internal business processes to 
focus on customers, bring consistency and 
remove inefficiency.

Improve communications across the 
organisation through:
 Improved intranet content and innovative 
use of social media.

 Hold Question and Answer sessions for 
managers to access the Council’s top team

topics 

Supplement the Member Support 
programme to ensure it has a focus on 
community leadership.

Launch 2012 A Moment to Shine – In the 
year when the Olympic torch illuminates our 
city and we celebrate the 800th birthday of our 
city charter, we will launch a series of events 
which will harness the innovation energy and 

Page 44



What actions will help us to be in touch 
with our communities?

Launch a Fairness Commission to build a 
new relationship with customers, share with 
them the big issues and questions facing the 
city and understand their views, particularly to 
explore where national spending cuts will fall 
in York and how resources will be distributed 
fairly to services prioritised by the people of 
York.

Implement a new Customer Strategy to 
deliver:-
 One point of customer contact in the  
West Offices.
 Increased self service channels for online 
access to services.

we can design our services around customer 
requirements.
 Use customer feedback and contact to learn 
and improve services.
 Share customer data with our partners to 
improve our customer focus and develop 
integrated services for customers.

We want our staff to 
feel proud to work  

for City of York 
Council

Page 45



Establish a public sector company that 
will enable us to provide services to other 
organisations which will bring reduced cost, 
economies of scale and income generation 
opportunities.

Deliver an ongoing Business Change 
Programme. This will transform our services 
for the future, drive out waste and rationalise 
the organisation. We will explore innovative 
models of service delivery and increase our 
skills to deliver shared service opportunities 
and management buyouts or social-enterprise 
models.

Develop a business planning cycle that 
creates a clear link from the Council Plan 
through to Service Plans and Personal 

Performance Management Framework 
that demonstrates that we are putting our 
resources into the delivery of the things we 
need to deliver and that we are constantly 
monitoring our progress and resolving issues.

A relentless focus on our priorities

We live in straitened times where we  
have less money and resources are stretched. 
We cannot deliver what we delivered 
yesterday in the way we have always delivered 
it. We need to deliver efficiency savings and 
rationalise our organisation to make decisions 
about what services to deliver going forward 
and how they will be delivered. We will assess 
assess whether the assets we hold meet 
our needs and to make sure we deliver the 
outcomes we have prioritised, all our business 
planning and delivery mechanisms focus on 
these areas.

What actions will help us focus on our 
priorities?

Build upon our strong financial 
management.

Develop the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Strategy to inform the preparation 
of a two Year Budget for 2011-2013, giving 
a structured approach to the planning of 
significant transformation activity that allocates 
available resources to our priorities.

Asset Management Review – Undertake 
asset management reviews to ensure our 
property assets are aligned with our priorities 
and meet our service and financial needs.

Capital programme review – to ensure that 
we are spending capital funds on our priorities 
and to identify new sources of capital and 
revenue financing to meet our objectives.

Improve our procurement activity to create 
savings and ensure we focus our spend on 
delivering our priorities.

Page 46



Page 47



Pr
od

uc
ed

 b
y 

   
   

   
  P

ub
lic

at
io

ns
 -

 0
19

04
 4

79
50

0

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S OFFICE

THE GUILDHALL

YORK

YO1 9QN
01904 552027

WWW.YORK.GOV.UK

Page 48



 

  
 

   

 
Cabinet 19 July 2011 
 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Health, Housing & Adult Social 
Services 

 

Petition to Council on Support for Vulnerable People 

 Summary 

1. A petition to Council on the subject of support to vulnerable people 
was submitted to the Budget Council meeting of 24 February and 
read as follows: 

"We believe that vulnerable people should get the support they 
need to be part of our community. 

This includes people with a mental illness, learning, physical or 
sensory disabilities, older people and carers. 

We call on the Council to maintain previously ring-fenced funding, 
such as the Mental Health Grant and Supporting People Grant 
and not to make cuts to services to less visible groups, such as 
people with mental health needs. 

We call on the Council to ask our MPs for York Central and York 
Outer to raise in Parliament the unfair and economically unsound 
way in which cuts to Council funding will disproportionately affect 
support to vulnerable people." 
 

2. Given that the petition attracted in excess of 1000 signatories this 
triggered the constitutional requirement for the issues raised to be 
debated at Full Council.  This debate took place on 7 April 2011 
with it being resolved following the debate that the petition be 
referred back to the Executive to determine any appropriate 
action.   

 
3. Attached at Annex 1 is the report of the Director of Adults, 

Children and Education which was produced to facilitate the April 
debate at Full Council.  A further meeting of Council was held on 
30 June 2011 when amendments to the original budget of the 

Agenda Item 6Page 49



council were made. These amendments included a reversal of the 
rise in adult social services personal support, day care activities 
and transport by 50% and a reversal of the cut to health and 
disability assessment. The changes do not match the call in the 
petition to “maintain previously ring-fenced funding, such as the 
Mental Health Grant and Supporting People Grant”. I understand 
the Leader of the Council has as a result communicated with local 
MPs in line with recommendations contained within the petition. 

 
 Recommendation 

4. Cabinet is asked, in line with Full Council recommendations, to 
review whether any further action in response to the petition is still 
required.   

 

 

Contact Details 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 

Pete Dwyer 
Director of Adults, Children and Education 
 

Pete Dwyer 
Director of Adults, Children and Education 
 

Report 
Approved 

ü 

Date 
5  
July 
2011 

 

 

 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)    
 
Wards Affected:   All ü 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 

 
Annex 
 
Annex 1: Paper to Full Council, dated 7 April 2011 ‘Petition to Council on Support for 
Vulnerable People’ 

Page 50



 

  
Annex 1 

   

 
Council  7 April 2011 
 
Report of the Director of Adults, Children and Education  

 

Petition to Council on Support for Vulnerable People 
 
 Summary 
 
1. This paper is a briefing note from officers in response to the petition to Full 

Council on support for vulnerable people. 
 
2. The petition reads: 

"We believe that vulnerable people should get the support they need to be part 
of our community. 

This includes people with a mental illness, learning, physical or sensory 
disabilities, older people and carers. 

We call on the Council to maintain previously ring-fenced funding, such as the 
Mental Health Grant and Supporting People Grant and not to make cuts to 
services to less visible groups, such as people with mental health needs. 

We call on the Council to ask our MPs for York Central and York Outer to 
raise in Parliament the unfair and economically unsound way in which cuts to 
Council funding will disproportionately affect support to vulnerable people." 

 
 Overall Context 
 
3. The financial context for the 2011/12 budget has been significantly impacted 

by: 

• worldwide recession leading to Central Government deficit reduction plan 

• unprecedented reductions in Public Sector spending 
 
4. At the same time the council faced unavoidable ongoing financial pressures 

arising from: 

• increasing number of older people, living longer and requiring care and 
support services for longer 

• an increase in the number of severely disabled children who require 
intensive support into and throughout adulthood 

• reductions in income from Council services as people have less money to 
spend 

Page 51



• reduction in funding of subsidised bus travel for older people 

• increased cost of waste disposal 

• impact of changes to pensions and NI legislation 
 
5. The council’s 2011/12 budget was developed within the constraints of this 

extremely challenging financial climate, set out in the government’s Spending 
Review and provisional finance settlement information.  In particular: 

• total reductions in government funding of 28% over the next 4 years, 
heavily frontloaded with CYC’s grant being cut by 13.3% in 2011/12 

• 22 grants, worth £14.403k in 2010/11 and with an indicative value of 
£11.478k in 2011/12, have been rolled into the formula grant 

• the increase in formula grant in the provisional settlement, including the 
grants transferred in, was only £5.183k, leaving a shortfall in funding of 
£9,221k between the two years 

• 23 grants, worth £8,200k in 2010/11, were transferred to the new Early 
Intervention Grant, for which the council received £6,350k in 2011/12 a 
further shortfall of £1,850k 

• 21 grants, worth £13,685k in 2010/11, were incorporated within the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  The provisional DSG for 2011/12 is 
£106,564k, an increase of £13,659k from the 2010/11 level (subject to 
pupil number adjustments) 

• there are a further five grants (worth £759k in 2010/11) as yet still under 
review 

• against these pressures the Executive were advised in December that 
directorates would need to find savings of £15m to be able to set a balance 
budget for 2011/12 

• in addition, other grants (worth £5,773k in 2010/11) which formerly were 
direct grants to service areas have been cancelled or reduced, creating 
additional financial pressures in directorates 

• while the council has been penalised over the past few years by the 
workings of the floors and ceilings within the formula grant mechanism, for 
2011/12 this same process will offer the protection of a damping gain of 
£2,541k 

• the council will receive a further reduction in formula grant of £4,639k in 
2012/13 

 
6. As with previous years residents were asked what services they value and 

where they would wish City of York Council to continue providing the levels of 
service they receive now and where they think we should reduce spending. 
The consultation generated a statistically reliable response of 738 for Your 
City and 465 for YouChoose, the online consultation tool. In deciding whether 
budgets for different services should stay the same or be reduced, residents 
were more likely to say that funding for social care services, community safety 
and street based services should remain the same. 

Page 52



 As the Executive member report of the 3 February 2011 described the budget 
was guided by key principles including the commitment to:  

• Protect the most vulnerable members of our community – older people, 
people with disabilities and, children – by ensuring that the services with 
which we provide them are the very best possible 

• Protect all citizens by ensuring that vital Council services that secure their 
well-being continue to be delivered and that all customer groups receive 
equal outcomes 

 
7. It is within the above challenging and indeed unprecedented financial context, 

that the council’s budget for 2011-12 was set at the meeting of 24 February 
2011.  It included provision for gross revenue expenditure on adult social 
care of £76.6m, which is virtually the same amount as the council spent 
in 2010-11, ie 0% change.  This figure included provision for increased 
service pressures arising from demographic changes, and for pay and 
inflationary pressures.  It also takes account of the welcome injection of 
£1.997m from the PCT.  This year’s budget allocation for adult social care 
should be viewed in the following context: 

 Table 1: Adult Social Services Budget Movement 2010/11 to 2011/12 
2009/10 2010/11 2011/12
Actual Current Proposed
Budget Budget Budget
£000 £000 £000 £000 % £000 %

Adult Social Services
Gross Expenditure 74,772 76,588 76,570 (18) (0.0%) 1,798 2.4%

Change in 
Budget 2010/11

Change in 
Budget 2009/10

to 2011/12to 2011/12

  

8. In addition the council’s capital budget included provision for a number of 
measures to help support people living independently in their own homes: 

• investment of £8.34m over the next 5 years in additional facilities and 
grants for older and disabled people 

• investment of £1.25m over 5 years in technology in the homes of 
vulnerable adults to maintain their independence 

 
9. There were no proposals to reduce mainstream services, and where savings 

have been put forward they have been targeted at areas that will have the 
minimum possible impact on vulnerable customers.  The council has been 
able to achieve considerable savings through its overall programme of 
efficiencies.  Within the Directorate of Adults, Children and Education, savings 
proposals were prioritised where they would: 

• improve quality and efficiency 

• reduce Management and administrative costs 

• protect frontline services especially services for the most vulnerable 
members of our community 

• result from ongoing service reviews 

• generate income 

Page 53



• address budgetary underspends 

• improve cash flow and interest earnings 
 
10. Each specific savings proposal has been the subject of an Equality Impact 

Assessment. 
 
11. Although it has not been possible to maintain the Mental Health Grant or the 

Supporting People Programme at the same level as previous years, 
reductions in these areas had been anticipated for some time and have been 
planned so as to minimise their impact.  In both cases the overall expenditure 
reduction (at approximately 10%) is less than the overall reduction in central 
government support to the Council (13.3%), and is at least partially offset by 
increases in other adult social care budgets. 

 
 Contextual Data 
 
12. The most recent National Adult Social Care Intelligence Service report on Use 

of Resources, for 2009/10, showed that York was 13th of 51 comparator 
authorities in respect of the proportion of total local authority spend on adult 
social services.  (31% of the total council budget, excluding schools funds.)  

13. Our activity in supporting people to live independently across all customer 
groups has increased over the last three years, from 3,416 during 2007/8 to 
4027 during 009/10.    

14. The number of new assessments of customers has increased across all 
groups except for mental health.   

Table 2: New assessments per 1,000 population 

Customer group 2007/8 2008/9 2009/10 

Over 65 35.05 44.75 43.33 

Learning Disability 0.10 0.16 0.18 

Physical and sensory impairment 1.76 2.88 2.99 

Mental health  0.75 0.41 0.48 

15. The number of people supported through grant funded services has also 
increased over this time. 

Table 3: Numbers in receipt of grant funded services per 1,000 of population 

Customer group 2007/8 2008/9 2009/10 

Over 65 10.16 13.79 21.77 

Learning Disability 0.23 0.32 0.41 

Physical and sensory impairment 0.23 0.54 0.60 

Page 54



Mental health  0.21 0.21 1.00 

 
 
 Mental Health 
 
16. The Mental Health grant has historically been used alongside core budgets 

within the mental health services to support the delivery of both the care 
management functions in the integrated health and social care teams, and the 
day support and supported accommodation that the Council provides.   

 
17. When the reduction in the Mental Health grant is taken alongside the core 

budgets, the impact of the savings is reduced overall to 9% within the 
approved mental health service, and 7% within our day support service.  
Savings within these budgets will be made by reducing the number of 
Approved Mental Health Practitioners by one, by realigning responsibilities of 
the remaining posts, and by making efficiency savings within the day support 
service. 

 
18. We await final confirmation from the PCT, who manage these services on 

behalf of the council under a partnership agreement, on detailed proposals, 
but we are confident that new ways of working will enable us to ensure that we 
continue to meet the statutory responsibilities to customers, and at the same 
time deliver a more personalised and recovery focussed service. 

 
 Supporting People 
 
19.   The Supporting People programme grant was always anticipated to reduce, 

regardless of the Comprehensive Spending Review, by around 5% a year for 
the next two years, because of the phased introduction of a formula grant by 
the previous government.  In fact the new formula applied this year by 
Communities and Local Government Department gave an indicative allocation 
to York some 48% lower than this year.  The council has however protected 
the programme from the impact of this indicative formula by using the new 
flexibilities available as a result of the ending of the ring fence, and the 
inclusion of the programme within the Area Based Grant. 

 
20. The overall reduction in expenditure on the programme in 2011-12 in York will 

be 10.4%.  This will still present challenges, but the Commissioning Body – a 
partnership between the council, health and probation in York – has taken an 
approach which means that although here will be some impact on customers, 
as some services and some providers will need to change, we can deliver the 
savings with minimum impact on the quality and level of services.  In fact the 
ending of the ring fence means that we are able to use money more flexibly to 
deliver the intervention and support to vulnerable people, address key 
strategic objectives of the council and our partners, and prevent higher 
demands on our statutory services. 

 
21. The savings will be achieved through a combination of: 

• continuing review and reduction of administrative costs 

Page 55



• review of contracts which need to be retendered, to identify where it makes 
sense to combine contracts and enable increased efficiency without 
reducing the quality or level of services 

• implementing benchmarked unit costs for services, working closely with 
providers and agreeing with them ways this can be delivered without 
impacting on service levels or quality 

• continuing to look at services which are less strategically relevant, because 
they are, either, not delivering outcomes for customers, or because they 
are not delivering outcomes in the best possible way 

• where we are decommissioning services, working closely with providers 
and partners to ensure there are alternative arrangements to be offered to 
current customers, and that customers are consulted with before changes 
are made 

 
Contact Details 
 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 

Paul Murphy 
Assistant Director (Integrated 
Commissioning) 
01904 554000 
 
Kathy Clark 
Integrated Commissioning 
01904 554003 
 

Pete Dwyer 
Director of Adults, Children and Education 
 

Report 
Approved  Date  

 

 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)    
Financial 
Richard Hartle  
Finance Manager (ACE) 
554225 
 
Wards Affected:   All ü 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 

 

 

 

Page 56



 

  
 

   

 
Cabinet 19 July 2011 
 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Health, Housing and Adult Social 
Services  
 
A Review of City of York Council’s Elderly Persons Homes 
(EPHs)  
 

Summary 
 
1. This report describes a review that has been conducted of 

residential care homes for older persons provided by the council.  
It is widely recognised that the council’s care homes are well run 
and that both those who live in the homes and their relatives and 
friends recognise the quality of care provided.  The review 
highlights the need for change to the current provision and 
proposes options for how it could be replaced by modern facilities 
offering high quality care and accommodation that are able to meet 
the needs and aspirations of a growing population of older people 
in the city for the foreseeable future. 
  

2. The Cabinet is asked to agree a three month period of consultation 
on the review and its options for the future and to agree to receive 
a further report in November 2011.  The consultation will be with all 
interested parties, including users of the service, relatives, staff, 
trade unions, elected members and members of the public.  

  
Background 

 
3.  The review seeks to progress the Joint Vision for the Health and 

Well Being of Older People in York (Annex A) which was produced 
in conjunction with health commissioning partners and approved in 
July 2010.  The overarching vision for older people in York, to be 
achieved over the next 5 years is one where a higher proportion of 
older people remain within the community, having fewer hospital 
and care home admissions and are able to enjoy: greater 

Agenda Item 7Page 57



independence; a wider choice of accommodation options; and 
greater social engagement.   
 

4. The older population of York is set to grow in line with national 
trends.  There are currently 33,000 people over the age of 65 and 
this is expected to grow to 37,000 by 2015 and 40,100 by 2020.   

 
5. In December 2010 the previous administration’s Executive 

Member approved a three-year Commissioning Plan for Older 
People based on the refresh of the Long Term Commissioning 
Strategy (Annex B) and the Joint Vision.  The Commissioning Plan 
sets out the intentions:  

 • to invest in services that reduce the need for and funding for 
residential and hospital based care and increase independence 

• to increase the capacity for Elderly Mentally Infirm (EMI) 
residential and nursing care and high dependency residential 
care within the city, and reduce the number of ‘standard’ care 
beds provided by the council 

• to ensure best value for money, and best use of resources to 
support a growing number of older people 

• to reinvest some of the savings achieved through these 
programmes in community based care and support 

• to increase the housing based choices for older people such as 
sheltered housing, and develop our care and support models to 
enable more people to be supported at home 

• to offer more support to carers to enable them to continue their 
caring role 

 
6. Clearly the council operates in a challenging time for public sector 

funding.  The council’s 2011/12 budget was developed within the 
constraints of an extremely challenging financial climate, set out in 
the government’s Spending Review and provisional finance 
settlement information.  This saw total reductions in government 
funding of 28% over the next four years heavily frontloaded with 
CYC’s grant being cut by 13.3% in 2011/12.    

 
7. More optimistically 2011 has seen an investment by central 

government in preventative services to support health and health 
gain, to be spent by social care, but with agreement from health.  
Within City of York this investment is £1.997m.  This new funding 

Page 58



will allow a better opportunity to provide more preventative 
services such as Telecare/warden call, which will in turn alleviate 
the budget strain on longer term provision, and help to deliver the 
Joint Vision described above.   

 
8. An Investment Plan has been developed in conjunction with health 

and general practitioner colleagues.   
 
9. The CYC Long Term Commissioning Strategy predicts that the 

demand for the provision of residential beds for people with 
dementia and nursing care will increase and that the demand for 
residential beds for older people with physical needs will decrease. 

 
10. This review is also seeking to respond to the views of older people 

and their representative groups who have been calling for the 
modernisation of provision in York and increased choice and 
availability of accommodation with support.  In 2008, 63% of those 
responding to the survey, Future Challenges Facing Older People, 
wanted to see the council enabling more people to stay in their 
own homes as they become frailer.  48% of the survey 
respondents agreed strongly that residential care in the future 
would need to focus on providing specialist care such as for those 
with dementia, or with high dependency physical care needs;   
33% tended to agree; only 6% disagreed.  In summary the public 
are seeking a redirection of resources towards more prevention 
and home based support. 

 
11. The council owns and operates nine elderly persons homes 

(EPHs) that were built between the 1960s and 1970s.  They are 
coming to the end of their useful life as fit for purpose care homes.  
The majority of beds provided are for frail elderly people but the 
greatest demand now and expected in the future is for specialist 
dementia beds.  The council only has 57 dementia beds and there 
is a shortage of dedicated dementia beds in the wider private 
sector in York.  The CYC homes were not designed for this 
specific purpose and the overall care home design falls some way 
short of care homes being built today to modern standards.  There 
are only 33 out of 276 beds which have en-suite facilities and room 
sizes and day facilities are well below an acceptable modern 
specification.   

 
12. There is a total of 323 staff employed across the nine EPHs which 

equates to a total of 195 full time equivalents. 

Page 59



 
13. Based on demographic predictions for York it is estimated that 

CYC will need 180 beds providing a mixture of dementia, high 
dependency, and nursing care.  In line with the Long Term 
Commissioning Strategy there will be a requirement to increase 
the number of respite care beds from 14 to 20 which will help 
support carers in the City.  This will bring the total number of beds 
required to 200. 

 
14. Some limited daycare activity is provided in six of the EPHs.  

However, this is not undertaken within dedicated facilities; visitors 
join with residents in activities but numbers are restricted in line 
with regulations and the impact on permanent residents.  Whilst 
this model of daycare provides a welcome break for carers and the 
people who use the services it is a poorer model than found in 
daycare facilities designed and operated specifically for that 
purpose.  A number of re-provision options have been considered 
and these will form the basis of consultation with daycare users.   

 
15. Care homes being built today are designed to meet not only 

current needs but, as they are expected to last in excess of 30 
years, they are also built in anticipation of future needs.  In 
summary, in a “future proof” EPH, the specification aimed for 
should be: 

• bigger bedroom sizes, at least 14 sqm 

• all bedrooms to have an en-suite facility  

• rooms to be flexible in operation so that they can switch 
between dementia care, nursing care or even intermediate care 

• a range of smaller areas for day space, rather than one or two 
large spaces 

• wider corridors, wide enough to allow two wheel chairs to pass 
and broken up with features such as small seating areas to 
create interest 

• wider door openings to facilitate wheelchair access 

• gardens that provide a secure environment but offer scope for 
exercise, particularly important to dementia sufferers who enjoy 
walking 

Page 60



• a maximum of two storeys - more than two floors become 
difficult to operate and require increased staff numbers hence 
they are less economical to run  

• sprinkler systems - to significantly reduce the risk to residents of 
death or injury should there be a fire 

 
16. The past 10 years have seen a change in the level of need of 

people admitted to residential care.  As people live longer and stay 
at home longer those admitted to residential care are often more 
physically frail.  Recent years have also seen a significant increase 
in the number of people in residential care suffering from dementia 
which ranges from mild signs of confusion to more acute forms 
where they are very confused and often demonstrate challenging 
behaviour.  The average age of people entering residential care in 
York is now 86 years old and the average stay for an older person 
in CYC homes is 18 months.  This all means that a change in a 
person’s level of need, and a consequent move, can occur in a 
relatively short space of time.   

 
17. The size and design of CYC’s EPHs does not allow for people with 

different categories of need to be cared for in the same home.  
This frequently means that as the needs of residents in council run 
elderly persons homes change there is a need to move to homes 
that can provide EMI or nursing care.   

 
18. The EPHs have an average size of 31 beds which is small 

compared to the size of homes currently being built.  Larger homes 
allow a design that can offer a continuum of care.  Current CYC 
homes are not able to provide this within one home and this can 
lead to unnecessary moves for residents as their needs change. 

  
19. With the exception of Fordlands and Haxby Hall, the sites on which 

the CYC EPHs stand are small and there is little scope to meet a 
modern specification by extending and refurbishing or demolishing 
and rebuilding on the sites (paragraph 25 option B).  In addition to 
the Fordlands and Haxby Hall sites there is a large council owned 
site at the former Lowfield School in Acomb.  At 6 acres this site is 
large enough to provide two good sized care homes as well as a 
range of other older people’s accommodation which would 
combine to provide a continuum of care on the same site.  This 
“Care Village” would meet some of the aspirations for supported 

Page 61



accommodation highlighted in the Long Term Commissioning 
Strategy.   

 
20. A summary of key information on the council’s nine EPHs is at 

Annex C and includes details of beds provided, site sizes and 
values, staff numbers and gross budget.  There are currently 45 
permanent beds vacant in the nine EPHs.   

     
 Consultation 
 
21. The key strategic documents listed in Annexes A and B were 

informed by consultation with York residents in the lead up to and 
early stages of this review.  This report seeks permission to begin 
a widespread consultation on the review and its options for the 
future.  This consultation would be conducted over three months 
before submitting a further report to the Cabinet in November 
2011. 
 

 Options 
 
22. The following options have been considered: 

A - Take no action and retain current operating model and 
provision. 

B -   Extend and refurbish existing homes.   

 C -  Purchase all or an increased proportion of beds from the 
private sector. 

 D -  CYC fund the design and build of new care homes and 
continue to operate them with council staff.  Four homes 
would be required on the 3 available sites in order to provide 
200 beds - 55 beds each on the Fordlands and Haxby sites 
and 90 beds (2 x 45 bed homes) on the Lowfield site.  The 
Lowfield site could be significantly larger if the demand 
increased.   

E - Similar to option D, but enter a partnership with a commercial 
developer to fund and build a new home.  The operator 
partner chosen to run the new home could come from the 
“not for profit” or, independent sector.  The operator could 
also be a social enterprise or local authority trading 
organisation.  council staff could transfer to the operator.   

 

Page 62



23. Additionally a further option could be to combine a number of the 
options above.   

 
 Analysis of the Options 
 
24. Option A - Taking no action and retain current operating 

model and provision.  Based on analysis to date, this option does 
not address the problem of the age of the buildings or the 
continually increasing operating costs.  Energy and maintenance 
costs are higher; CYC Property Services advise of a maintenance 
backlog of £404,059.  Kitchens, lifts and heating systems are 
ageing and there is an inherent risk of failure as time goes on.  The 
buildings have no sprinklers fitted.  The changing need of those 
who live the homes or the need to avoid unnecessary resident 
moves is not addressed in this option.  The option fails to provide a 
suitable future proofed care environment.   
 

25. Option B - Extend and refurbish.  This option has been fully 
analysed by CYC Property Services.  Small site sizes combined 
with 40 year old buildings make this a very difficult solution to 
implement.  It is not simply a case of increasing the number of 
bedrooms; existing bedrooms will require an en-suite bathroom, 
which initially means a reduction in the overall number of beds.  
New bedroom wings and/or storeys will need constructing to add 
the required number of new en-suite bedrooms but these can only 
be constructed in line with the existing building footprint.  This 
therefore restricts the ability to make full advantage of the shape 
and size of the site.  Kitchens, lifts and heating systems will require 
either replacing or refurbishing.  Dayspace will also need to be 
increased and better fire systems installed.  Corridor widths are 
fixed and there is little that can be done to improve them.  CYC 
Property Services consider that there are only two sites, at 
Fordlands and Haxby Hall, on which a two storey extend and 
refurbish option could be feasible.  However, the cost of 
modernising these has been estimated to come close to or exceed 
the cost of demolishing and building a new care home on the same 
site.  Furthermore this option appears not to be able to reach the 
specification requirements outlined for a future proofed modern 
care home.   

 
26. Option C - Purchase all or an increased proportion of beds 

from the Private Sector.  There is a current shortfall of dementia 
care beds in the independent sector beds within York.  

Page 63



Consequently there are not enough beds available to re-provide 
those beds currently supplied by CYC care homes.  There is, 
however, interest from private sector developers who may wish to 
build in York.  One developer has already purchased a site and is 
building a care home in the city which will provide 83 beds when 
completed in Spring 2012.  It is understood that there is another 
site in the Clifton area which is available for sale with planning 
permission for a 71 bed care home.  This option could see the 
council increasing contracts with new and existing providers.  This 
option does not offer a complete solution to the re-provision of 
CYC’s residential care but it could form part of a long term or 
interim solution if used in conjunction with other options. 

 
27. Option D - CYC fund, build and operate three new care homes.  

In this option the council would need to find £13.4m of capital in 
order to build on the three available sites.  As part of a three or 
four year re-provision the council would undergo a phased 
rebuilding programme.  Given the potential availability of the 
Lowfield site and the number of bed vacancies in the current 
operation an early start to the programme could be made, subject 
of course to planning approval.  Annex D shows concept drawings 
of what could be possible on each of the three sites.  The Lowfield 
site could suit a range of developments with increased numbers of 
care beds if required.   

 
28. This option (and Option E below) presents an opportunity to re-

provide the City of York with fit for purpose, “state of the art” 
residential care homes which can provide a range of care solutions 
that will sit alongside other strategies designed to keep older 
people at home for longer.  Options D and E also present the 
opportunity of working with health colleagues to implement 
residential intermediate care facilities in line with the investment 
plan described earlier.   

 
29. This option is likely to result in an ongoing increase in running 

costs associated with the extra cost arising from council staff terms 
and conditions.   

 
30. Option E - CYC enters a partnership with a developer/operator 

to fund, build and operate three new care homes.  Similar to 
Option D but here a partner developer takes responsibility for 
financing and building on the sites.  The specific finance costs will 
depend on the way any deal is constructed with factors such as 

Page 64



ownership of the site and ownership of the completed home being 
of significance.  Subject to the regulations relating to procurement 
a partner chosen to operate the home could be a social enterprise, 
local authority trading company, commercial organisation or a “not 
for profit” organisation.  Existing staff would transfer under TUPE 
(transfer of undertakings (protected employment)) arrangements.   

  
31. All of these options - with the exception of Option A, in the short 

term - will impact on current EPH residents in that they will involve 
a move from their current home at some point in the future.  It is  
recognised that, until the consultation process has been 
completed and the Cabinet has decided how it wants the council 
to proceed, there will inevitably be a period of uncertainty for 
residents.  The council is keen to reassure residents and their 
relatives that, whatever the conclusions, they will not receive any 
reduction in care.  Indeed, the council fully expects the review to 
result in improved facilities for residents and provide a continuum 
of care that addresses the current situation where some residents 
have to move to have their care needs met.   
 

32. The council recognises that moving very elderly people can be 
detrimental to their health and well being but there is much that 
can be done to reduce the impact of a move.  The council has a 
‘Moving Homes Safely’ protocol - developed with input from Age 
UK York and Older Citizens Advocacy York - that builds on best 
practice identified in NHS Guidance and recently published 
national research.  The protocol explains how the council would 
ensure that any move is well planned and carefully managed and 
how residents and their relatives would be involved in all aspects 
of the decision as to where they move.   

 
 Corporate Priorities 
  
33. The protection of vulnerable people lies at the heart of the 

council’s priorities.  Over 7,000 vulnerable adults receive social 
care services in York.  The council’s overarching objective is to 
safeguard such adults, to promote their independence, enable 
them to make real life choices and give them control over their 
daily lives.   

 

Page 65



 Implications 
 

Financial 
 

34. There are no immediate financial implications arising from this 
report at this stage in the review.  The total revenue spend on our 
EPHs in 2011-12 is expected to be £7m.  We anticipate that the 
provision of 200 specialist residential care beds in improved 
facilities could cost up to £5.75m in revenue costs.  More detailed 
financial information will be provided on the evaluated options in 
the November report to Cabinet following the consultation.   
 
Human Resources (HR)  
 

35. Staff will have a full opportunity to comment on the proposals and 
put forward any suggestions during the three month consultation 
period.    

 
36. Full and formal consultation will commence with affected staff 

groups, following the decision of the Cabinet in November 2011.  
We anticipate that all options can be delivered without the need to 
make compulsory redundancies.  Should options C or E be taken 
forward, staff would be eligible to transfer to any new provider 
under the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 
Regulations 2006. 

 
37. We will also explore further requests for early voluntary severance, 

and movement between homes in order to minimise any impact on 
staff during the programme of change.   

 
Equalities  
 

38. Work on the Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) began at an early 
stage with the Equality Advisory Group (EAG) considering the 
scope and content of the review to help shape it.  During the 
proposed three month consultation period we will consult with all 
interested parties to inform the full and final EIA that will be 
included in and inform the report to Cabinet in November.   

 

Page 66



Legal  
 

39. Legal Services have been advising the Project Board throughout 
the review, and particularly on the approach to consultation.  The 
essentials of any such consultation are as follows: 

(i)  Consultation must be at a time when proposals are still at a 
formative stage. 

(ii)  The proposer must give sufficient reasons for any proposal 
to permit intelligent consideration and response. 

(iii) Adequate time must be given for consideration and 
response. 

(iv)  The product of consultation must be conscientiously taken 
into account in finalising any statutory proposals. 

 
Legal Services will continue to be involved throughout the review 
process. 
 
Crime and Disorder 
 

40. There are no crime and disorder implications. 
 
Information Technology (IT) 

 
41. There are no IT implications. 

 
Property  
 

42. Due to the lack of comparable evidence in the market, the values 
given in Appendix C are based on pre-downturn levels.  A recent 
report by a firm of independent valuers has indicated that the 
council will not achieve these values, in current market conditions. 

  
43. The valuations are subject to obtaining planning permission for 

change of use.  The title deeds have not been inspected, therefore 
a clean title has been assumed. 

 
44. It should be noted that the Lowfield School site is currently 

declared surplus.  A capital receipt is required from its disposal to 
fund the council’s capital programme.  If the site is to be used as 
part of any of the options outlined in this report, there will be the 

Page 67



need to find an alternative source of funding for the capital 
programme. 

 
Other 
 

45. There are no other implications at this stage. 
 

Risk Management 
 
46. There are no risks at this stage arising from this report which 

seeks permission to begin a period of consultation on the review 
and its options. 

             
 Recommendations 

 
47. It is recommended that full and meaningful consultation begins on 

the review and its options for the future re-provision of the council’s 
nine elderly persons residential care homes.  The consultation 
should last for a period of three months and involve residents, day 
care and respite care service users, relatives, staff, trade unions, 
elected members, health colleagues, older people’s groups and 
any other interested parties (see Annex E, Consultation Plan).  A 
further report to members outlining the result of the consultation 
and recommendations for action will follow in November 2011.   

 
Contact Details 
 
Author: Chief Officer responsible for the report: 
Pete Dwyer 
Director of Adults, Children and Education 
01904 554200 
 

Pete Dwyer 
Director of Adults, Children and Education 
 
Report 
Approved 

� Date 8 July 2011 

 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)   
HR – Hannah Morley (Ext 4505) 
Finance – Steve Tait (Ext 4065) 
Legal – Melanie Perara (Ext 1087)  
Property – Tim Bradley (Ext 3355) 
Equalities – Evie Chandler (Ext 1704) 
Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all All � 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 

Page 68



Background Papers: 
 
Annexes 

Annex A - Long Term Commissioning Strategy Refresh 2010 

Annex B - Joint Vision for Health and Social Care in York July 2010 

Annex C - Summary of Information on City of York Council’s Nine EPHs 

Annex D - Concept Drawings for each of the Three Sites 

Annex E - Consultation Plan 
 

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

1 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

DRAFT 

 

City of York Commissioning 
Strategy for Older People 2006 – 
2021 

 

2010 Refresh 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
                                                              November 2010 

 

Page 71



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

2 

 

 

CONTENTS               Page 

 

 

 

1  Executive Summary      3 

 

 

2  Introduction          5  

 

 

3  Progress made since 2006     8 

 

 

4  National and Local Policy Changes   11 
  

 

5  Review of Need and Demand    15 
   

 

6  Review of Services      18 

 

 

7  Funding       22 

 

 

8  Our Priorities and what we will do next   23 

      

 

   

 

 

 

Page 72



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

3 

 

 

1. Executive Summary 
 
 

The Older People’s Commissioning Strategy was developed in 2006 to 
take a long term view of the services that older people will need in York. It 
looked at the next 10-15 years and identified priorities to deliver the vision 
of services that older people will want. 

 

Changing services takes time; time to plan; to identify investment 
opportunities and funding; and time to develop new models and pathways.  
Setting out our plans for the longer term helps with this, but it is important 
we regularly review and refresh the strategy to make sure it is still relevant 
and takes account of changes in policy, information about needs and 
service provision. 

 

A review of the information on population projections, on known need, and 
the aspirations of older people has shown that the messages within our 
original strategy remain sound four years on.  Policy developments 
nationally and locally have reflected and supported the messages from our 
original strategy. 

 

We know that the numbers of people over 85 in York are growing fast, and 
we know that some conditions, such as dementia are much more likely to 
affect people over the age of 85 and so more of those over 85 are likely to 
need help and support. 

 

Older people, nationally and locally, say they want to live in their own 
homes for as long as possible, and would prefer not to have to use 
residential care if they could be supported to stay at home. 

 

 Since 2007 we have made some significant changes to services.  In 
response to consultation with older people we have added to the menu of 
early intervention and prevention services, including delivering the top 
three priorities from the consultation.  We have moved to outcome based 
domiciliary care contracts.  We have developed additional housing with 
care schemes and have worked with housing and planning colleagues to 

Page 73



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

4 

begin to expand the choices for those who are homeowners.   We have 
increased the number of beds in our council homes offering specialist 
care, as the demand for ‘standard’ care has been reducing.  We have 
increased the number of people using telecare as a way to keep them 
safe and independent at home.  We have agreed a Joint Vision for the 
health and well being of older people in York, with our health 
commissioning partners.  And we have worked with our council colleagues 
to ensure they are thinking about the impact of an ageing population in the 
city on all council services. 

 

There are still some big challenges ahead.  Public funding is reducing, and 
although there is recognition of the demographic pressures in the most 
recent spending review, we still need to continue the transformation of our 
services.  We know there are still some gaps in some of our services, in 
their ability to meet demand, in the way they are not yet joined up with 
health services, and in the way we are still heavily investing in residential 
care rather than community based care and early intervention services. 

 

Our commissioning plans for the next three years will see us completing a 
review of our accommodation for older people, to deliver increased 
capacity to provide quality care for those with dementia and high 
dependency needs, and to invest in services that can help people stay at 
home rather than move to a care home.    We will need to continue to 
increase our capacity in reablement services, and make sure we provide 
integrated services with our health partners.  And we need to support the 
range and capacity of our voluntary sector services to be maintained. 

 

Alongside this we need to ensure that our commissioning arrangements 
adapt to both the personalisation and stronger communities agendas, and 
the changing landscape for health commissioners.  We want to maximise 
the opportunities for joint commissioning and make sure we deliver the 
joint vision agreed with health commissioners this year, which we believe 
will support the health and wellbieng of our older citizens. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 74



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

5 

 

 

2.  Introduction 

 

We know that nationally and locally the proportion of the population aged 
over 65 will increase dramatically over the next 15 years.  Older People 
are living longer, staying active for longer and making the most of the 
opportunities of age.  But with even higher increases in the numbers of 
older people over 85, we can expect a greater number of people will need 
care and support as they do become more frail.  We also know that 
funding for care services is not likely to grow at the same rate as the 
population growth.   

    

This refresh will look specifically at the changes that have occurred within 
the last four years.  It will review what progress has been made since the 
strategy was first produced, update the strategic and policy drivers, and 
the information on needs analysis.   It will outline our commissioning plans 
for the next three years. 

   

Although there have been changes during this time, the key messages 
and objectives within the strategy remain unchanged.  Aspirations of 
people about the way they want to be helped remain the same.  There are 
clear and strong messages that in future services need to be flexible and 
responsive to individual choice.  Older people will expect to take more 
control and will expect services to support them to remain independent 
and healthy and active in their community.  This combined with the 
pressure that the growing population will put on the public purse, means 
that we must find the most efficient and effective ways to deliver the care 
and support that will be needed.   

 

Key outcomes that this strategy seeks to deliver remain as before: 

• Improved health and emotional well being enabling older 
people to stay healthy  

• Improved quality of life  

• Older people able to make a positive contribution 

• Increased choice and control 

• Freedom from discrimination 

Page 75



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

6 

• Economic well being 

• Maintaining personal dignity and respect 

 

In 2006 we concluded the following: 

 

Ø Our population of older people was set to increase by over 30% 
during the lifetime of the strategy, with the highest growth in the Over 
85’s.  This is the group who are most likely to need support from 
health and social care agencies. 

 

Ø Best Value will be achieved by knowing what conditions can be 
managed by early intervention, and targeting services to people to 
provide that intervention.   

 

Ø We need to improve our identification and support to carers and work 
with primary and secondary care practitioners to do so. 

 

Ø Day time support services need to provide more effective respite care, 
and to allow those with health and personal care needs access and 
choice in day time activities. 

 

Ø As the number of older people with dementia increases we need to 
ensure our services are as comprehensive and effective as possible.  
The focus will be on the development of more community based 
health and social care, including more intensive and crisis response 
services, and more support for carers.  Development of more 
integrated working, and improved support at GP practice level. 

 

Ø The way we collect and analyse information will need to change to 
allow us to understand more about care pathways and effective 
interventions, and thus deliver services that will provide best value. 

 

Ø We need to have a range of services which are outcome focussed in 
respect of personal care, domestic support, practical help, advice and 
information and social activities and inclusion.  Continued investment 
in services that will support people to remain in their own homes will 
be needed, and we will need to ensure that preventive services can 

Page 76



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

7 

support those in need who do not meet the Council’s Eligibility Criteria 
for services.  

 

Ø A growing number of older people will be interested in using 
technology within their homes to help maintain their independence.  
The next generation of older people are already likely to be used to 
using the internet, digital communication and technical innovations.   

 

Ø We will need to shape and manage the development of specialist 
housing options for owner occupiers. 

 

Ø We need to influence a range of other council services to ensure that 
the growing needs of older people are addressed  

 

Ø Older people may need some help to make best use of individualised 
budgets and direct payments, but if they are encouraged to take more 
control over the services they use, we will need to change the way we 
commission and manage the market. 

 

Ø As the proportion of the population of older people increases, the 
available workforce within York will decrease.  The development of 
strategies for the recruitment and retention of staff will be a key 
priority, if care and support is to be offered to this growing population, 
both in their own homes and in any residential settings.  All services 
will need to use staff in the most effective ways possible and 
duplication will have to be avoided if the best use is to be made of 
staff available. Ways of attracting people to support vulnerable adults 
who would not normally see themselves as social care workers are 
required.  

 

Ø We think there will still be a role for residential and nursing home care, 
but we would expect to see it primarily provided for those with 
complex, ‘high dependency’ or EMI needs.  We would aim to ensure 
that the majority of the increased demand for services due to the 
demographic pressures, can be met by community based options. 

  

 

Page 77



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

8 

 

 

3.  What we agreed to do and progress made since 2006 

 

Shared commissioning framework with health.   

1. We now have an Adult Commissioning Group, with senior 
management representation from the Primary Care Trust, York 
Health Group (the GP commissioning consortium) and the Council.  
The group also has representation from York Hospital Foundation 
Trust, the PCT Provider, and CVS representing the voluntary 
sector.   

2. A Whole System Partnership Board has been working together to 
understand and respond to the pressures within the health and 
social care system, particularly around hospital care.   

3. Both these groups are supporting the development of a shared 
Levels of Care Model. This is led by the PCT, and will guide service 
change to ensure people are cared for in the most appropriate 
setting and with the required mix of skills.   

4. Our Performance teams have begun to meet and develop shared 
used of information. 

5. We are working to join our commissioning capacity together to work 
as a single team 

 

Prevention strategy.   

1. We consulted with older people during 2008 and identified their 
three top priorities for prevention and early intervention support.  

2. We have delivered all three of these priorities, with a new 
information and signposting service, a new handyperson service 
and a footcare service.  The handypersons service has been 
commissioned in partnership with health and probation through the 
Supporting People programme.  The footcare service was given 
‘pump priming’ funding jointly by the Council and York Health 
Group. All three services are producing evidence of good outcomes 
which are supporting improved health and well being and 
prolonging independence.   

3. We have supported the establishment of a new user led 
organisation.  York Independent Living Network held its official 
launch at the end of October 2010, and has already undertaken 

Page 78



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

9 

work within the city on behalf of the Department of Work and 
Pensions. 

4. We have supported the voluntary sector to develop more 
collaborative working, and three groups are exploring options 
around more joint working in mental health, advocacy and the 
provision of support and advice for customers. 

5. We have increased the use of telecare, with both safety packages 
and bespoke risk management packages.  We now have over 600 
people benefiting from telecare, and have worked successfully with 
care managers to consider telecare as a standard option within 
care packages.   Currently around 30 referrals a month are 
received by the service.  Alongside this we have supported North 
Yorkshire and York Primary Care Trust in their pilot of telehealth 
monitors, for COPD, heart failure and diabetes patients. 

6. We have an independent new Carers Centre offering support and 
advice to over 1600 carers.  We have introduced an Emergency 
Card scheme, have developed two discount schemes for carers, 
and have a new and vibrant carers forum. 

7. We have led a council wide review of services to identify what is 
already in place to respond to a growing older population and what 
still needs to be done. 

 

Care at home   

1. We have entered into a Knowledge Transfer Partnership with 
University of York St John, to improve our reablement team’s skills. 
The team is beginning to deliver better outcomes for customers, 
who are using less care at the end of the 6-week service, but the 
team is still not operating at the level we would wish. 

2. We have retendered our locality home care contracts, and from mid 
November 2010 will have two main providers, with an additional 5 
providers with whom we will work on a framework agreement.  The 
new specifications are outcome based, and the contracts offer 
choice and control for customers.  Customers will be able to agree 
with providers how and when they will use the care hours they have 
available to them. 

3. We have introduced an online self-assessment for basic equipment 
and aids to daily living, and are in the process of setting up a clinic 
which will enable people to access advice, be assessed and try out 
equipment.  

Page 79



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

10 

 

 

Older People’s Housing Strategy   

1. A refresh is now ready for approval by the Executive Member.  We 
worked with housing and planning colleagues to commission an 
analysis of older people’s housing needs, and this has informed 
both the new housing strategy and the Local Development Plan. 

2. A Housing Options Team has been developed to provide better 
information and advice to anyone looking for accommodation.   

 

Development of Extra Care   

1. We supported a local social housing provider in the remodelling of 
a sheltered housing scheme to provide Extra Care in Huntington, 
one of the wards with high older population and no Council housing 
properties.   

2. We have worked with housing colleagues and another social 
housing provider to develop a purpose built scheme which will open 
in the new year, and which will pilot a hub and spoke approach to 
support provision. 

3. We are linked in to a project initiated by Joseph Rowntree 
Foundation to explore ways to combat social isolation for older 
people, to explore how a ‘virtual’ extra care community might be 
established within a neighbourhood. The project will work in two 
wards in York and two wards in Bradford and we expect it will 
connect in to the Council’s work on piloting neighbourhood 
management. 

 

Review of Council residential care homes   

1. We agreed with Members in December 2009 to develop options for 
the future use of the resources invested in our nine care homes by 
June 2011.   

2. As an interim measure we have been consolidating our respite care 
provision within one home.  This will provide an additional 4 long-
term beds for people with confusion in our two specialist homes. 

3. We have also increased our capacity to provide high dependency 
care by 4 beds, and will be offering more short-term beds to meet 
winter pressures.  We are still in discussion with the Primary Care 
Trust about potential use of further beds for transitional care.  

Page 80



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

11 

 

 

4.  Changes to National and Local Policy 

 

National policies  

The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
introduced Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNA).  Directors of Adult 
Social Care, Children’s Services and Director of Public Health are now 
required to undertake a needs assessment to inform the planning, 
commissioning and development of services to improve health and 
wellbeing across the City of York area.   York’s first JSNA was published 
in 2008, and the second in September 2010.  The JSNA brings together 
what we know about health needs and presents findings from the data that 
is collected locally and nationally and from the key themes gathered from 
engagement with our community.   The refresh of the needs analysis for 
this Long Term Commissioning Strategy therefore now reflects the 
messages within the JSNA. 

 

The National Carers Strategy June 2008 outlines the improvements 
expected to support Carers.  Our strategy in 2007  had identified carers as  
key partners in ensuring older people can be supported to live in their own 
homes.  The national strategy confirmed this with strong messages about 
the support carers need including:  planned short breaks for carers; 
support to obtain or remain in employment;  piloting of annual health 
checks for carers, and easily accessible information.   The Government 
published Recognised, valued and supported: next steps for the 
Carers Strategy in November 2010. Messages within this document 
confirmed the importance of:  enabling those with caring responsibilities to 
fulfil their educational and employment potential;  providing  personalised 
support both for carers and those they support, enabling them to have a 
family and community life; and enabling carers to remain healthy and well.   
It emphasied  the need to support those with caring responsibilities to 
identify themselves as carers at an early stage, recognised the value of 
their contribution and of involving them from the outset both in designing 
local care provision and in planning individual care packages.   

 

Transforming Social Care (LAC(DH)(2008)1) described the vision for 
development of a personalised approach to the delivery of adult social 
care.  Supported by the concordat   Putting People First, the circular builds 

Page 81



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

12 

on the messages in Our Health Our Care Our Say to deliver outcomes 
that allow people to live independently, stay healty and recover more 
quickly from illness, participate in family and community life  with a quality 
of life and with dignity and respect.  It requires delivery of more choice and 
control for service users, more focus on prevention and early intervention,  
greater use of telecare and assistive technology, a  reablement approach 
to service delivery, and joined up working with health and other council 
services.  

 

In November 2010 the Government produced a New Vision for Adult 
Social Services: Capable Communities and Active Citizens.  It builds 
on the personalisation agenda and seeks to offer people real choice and 
control.  It puts outcomes centre stage and looks at the opportunties in 
strong and resilient communities for people to support themselves and 
each other.  Local authorities are to help shape the local care and support 
markets, foster ‘co-production’ or the full invovlement of customers and 
cares in the design and delivery of servcies, and use a personlised 
approach to balance risk and choice to help people stay safe 

 

Living Well with Dementia  - National Dementia Strategy February  
2009 was produced by the previous government but has been updated by 
the new coalition government with Quality outcomes for people with 
dementia  September 2010.    This gives with a clear focus on the 
outcomes for patients and their carers.   We need to  deliver better 
awareness, more early diagnosis internvention and support, more 
appropriate  treatment, support for carers, dignity, choice and control for 
those living with dementia and improved end of life care. 

 

Liberating the NHS  is a White Paper, produced in July 2010.  It aims to 
deliver choice and control for patients.   It seeks to enhance the role of 
Local Involvement Networks (LINks) which will develop into HealthWatch 
with additional responsibilities to provide advocacy and support to help 
people access and make service choices, and to make a complaint.  Local 
authorities will become responsible for delivering national objectives for 
improving population health outcomes.  Councils will become responsible 
for a ring fenced public health budget.  Local Directors of Public Health will 
be appointed jointly by the local authority and a new national Public Health 
service.  Health and Well-being Boards will be established by local 
authorities or within existing strategic partnerships, to take a strategic 
approach and promote integration across health, adult social care and 

Page 82



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

13 

children's services, including safeguarding, as well as the wider local 
authority agenda.  Most of the commissioning currently undertaken by 
Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) will transfer to local consortia of GPs, who will 
be approved by an autonomous statutory NHS Commissioning Board.   

 

Local  Policy  

A corporate review of the impact of an ageing population was 
undertaken in 2009/10 to understand the implications for all Council 
Departments, identify what was already being addressed and what more 
could be done.   The review identified areas where we could do more:  

Ø Understanding our customers’ needs and aspirations;  

Ø Promoting positive messages and images about ageing;  

Ø Improved co-ordination between initiatives in different directorates;  

Ø A shift to more Community Level Planning; 

Ø Tackling social isolation and increased access to leisure, learning and 
activities; 

Ø Harness the role and contribution of the voluntary sector more in 
helping deliver this agenda. 

 

A Joint Vision for the health and wellbeing of older people was 
developped and agreed during 2010 between the Council, North Yorkshire 
and York Primary Care Trust, and York Health Group, the York GP 
commissioning consortium.  The overarching vision for older people in 
York, to be achieved over the next five years, is one where a higher 
proportion of older people remain within the community, having fewer 
hospital and care home admissions and are able to enjoy: greater 
independence; a wider choice of accommodation options; and greater 
social engagement.  The vision sets out to define overarching outcomes 
which can be applied across health and social care provision and where 
those outcomes can only be achieved by health and social care working 
together, and with voluntary organisations and other third sector bodies.  
Five strategic outcomes have been developed through which the vision 
can be achieved. These are that more older people will: 

Ø Be demonstrably treated with dignity and respect. 

Ø Have greater involvement in family and community life. 

Ø Be able to achieve greater independence. 

Ø Report that they are able to maintain good health. 

Ø Remain within a home of their own. 

Page 83



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

14 

 

A renewed Older People’s Housing Strategy is currently out to 
consultation.  The draft findings within the strategy are: 

Ø There is need for more accessible and clear information about 
housing for older people and services available to support 
independent living. 

Ø Three in four older households own their own home and a large 
number have significant equity. There is scope for some of this equity 
to fund housing and support in later life. 

Ø One in every two older households is under occupying their home.  
The reasons for this are complex, but in part due to a lack appropriate 
housing options. 

Ø There is significant need for more help maintaining homes, 
adaptations to keep homes safe and accessible, and assistive 
technology to enable older people to remain in their homes for longer.  

Ø There is a need for further home support options. 

Ø There is a need for better designed homes offering longevity and 
flexibility for the changing needs of ageing.  

Ø Within homes offering greater levels of support, such as sheltered 
housing, sheltered housing with extra care and residential care or 
nursing homes, there is under provision of affordable two bedroom 
accommodation and an over supply of one bedroom.  There is also 
demand for a greater range of tenure options, particularly ownership, 
shared ownership and leasehold schemes. 

 

The following strategic aims and objectives, are expected to form the 
basis of our older people’s housing action plan for 2010-2013: 

 

1. Ensure older people can make informed housing choices and plan 
ahead by providing accessible and clear information on their housing 
options. 

2. Ensure older households can remain independent in their own homes 
for longer. 

3. Where there is need for housing with greater levels of support ensure it 
promotes and enables maximum independence and choice. 

 

 

Page 84



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

15 

 
 
5.  Review of Need and Demand 
 
Population needs assessment/Population Profiling 

Census data within the original report remains unchanged with the new 
census due to be undertaken in 2011.  This means the maps and 
information based at ward level remain unchanged from the original 
strategy document. 

 

Since the original Long Term Commissioning Strategy was written the 
Institute of Public Care, who supported our work in 2007, have developed 
a web based national population projection tool, (POPPI  
http://www.poppi.org.uk/index.php?pageNo=314&areaID=8301) which 
provides local, regional and national data for many of the areas we looked 
at in our original needs analysis.  POPPI data offers us projection up to 
2030. 

 

We have decided to use the information available through POPPI, 
together with the information from the York Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment to refresh the needs analysis within the strategy.  The POPPI 
information has the advantage of being consistent across the region and 
country and so has greater validation than the local data that was used in 
2007 before this resource was available.  However this means that our 
information sources are different from those used within the original 
strategy document and so minor changes in figures should be regarded 
with caution.  

 

The broad messages from this population analysis remain unchanged.  
Our population of older people is increasing, and particularly in the over 85 
age group.  This population growth drives the increasing projections of 
older people experiencing a range of health issues, with dementia one of 
the conditions most likely to impact on more people’s lives and require 
more from care and support services.  

  

Appendix 1 provides the refreshed tables, including additional information 
not available in 2006, concerning: 

• The numbers of older people living alone 
• Admissions to hospital as result of a fall 

Page 85



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

16 

• Continence 

• Hearing impairment 

 

New information from surveys and consultation 

In 2008 the Council undertook consultation, on the key messages and 
challenges identified in the Long Term Commissioning Strategy, with local 
older people.  This was conducted through dialogue with local 
stakeholders and voluntary sector organisations, through an online and 
postal questionnaire (which was distributed with the help and support of 
voluntary sector partners, including York Older People’s Assembly) and 
through small facilitated focus groups. 

What we found out: 

Ø There was a clear view that we should be lobbying for an increase in 
the funding available for older people’s social care services, given the 
increasing numbers of older people over the next 15 years. 

 

Ø 63% of the survey respondents wanted to see us working with 
housing providers to enable people to stay in their own homes as their 
care needs increase. 

 

Ø Home adaptations (73%), receiving help with the practicalities of 
running a home (70%) and help with personal care (70%) are 
considered the three most important aspects for helping people live in 
their own homes for longer.   

 

Ø 58% would possibly consider moving to supported housing or housing 
with care, and a quarter of these would be interested in buying a 
property, 

 

Ø 50% of survey respondents felt we should develop the use of telecare 
sensors linked to the community alarm service to help people manage 
risk and receive support when they need it. 

 

Ø Over 80% agreed residential care should focus on the needs of those 
with dementia and high dependency care. 

 

Page 86



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

17 

Ø 46% thought we should look to see if we can provide residential care 
in the independent sector at a lower price, but the same quality as 
council run care.  However 61% want to see both the council and the 
independent sector providing residential care in the city, and the focus 
groups told us that people were concerned to ensure that the Council 
takes a central role in assuring the quality of care. 

 

Ø 35% wanted us to develop more low level services, to reduce the 
need for more intensive care services.  However there was concern 
that we should not change our eligibility criteria or reduce our funding 
for the more intensive services to pay for this, because it is 
recognised that at some point people will still need the more intensive 
services. 

 

Ø To help older people live more independently respondents would like 
to see handyperson services (72%), one point of contact for advice 
and information (68%), and the footcare and toenail cutting service 
(67%) more widely available. There is also a need for better support 
for those diagnosed with dementia, assistance with gardening and 
help with shopping. (60%) 

 

 
Service user and carer profiling 

The 2009/10 data available through the NHS Information Centre shows 
we have lower than average numbers placed in residential and nursing 
care, compared to both our comparator group of authorities and the 
national average; and higher than average number of people receiving 
community based support packages. 

 

We have high numbers of people discharged from hospital into residential 
care and are the fourth highest in our comparator group (4/47) 

 

We also have high number of hospital bed days  (2072 in the year) for 
over 75’s with 2 or more emergency admissions to hospital (13/47 in our 
comparator group).  This relates to 65 individuals (20/47). 

 

As a result of the analysis within the original strategy we predicted that 
demand for services was likely to grow at around 7.4% a year on average.  
Our referral rate has grown in line with this prediction.  

Page 87



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

18 

 

 

 

 

6.  What has changed in our services 
 
Quality 

Although we have many good quality services in the city we need to 
continue to promote and encourage improvement in quality in some of our 
care services. The CRILL data provided by the Care Quality Commission 
has some limitations, with data being historic, but it shows we were below 
the regional and national benchmark on our purchasing of quality care in 
2009/10.  This is within a national context of increasing quality across all 
sectors.  These issues apply to a small number of both in house and 
independent sector providers, but where we have had a significant 
number of customers served by the provider, and to some historic out of 
area placements.  

 

We continue to work robustly with any providers who are identified as 
having issues with quality, supporting them with improvement plans, and 
using contract monitoring and management to underpin this work.   

 
Prevention and early intervention services 

We have already listed the new services now in place as a result of our 
action plan from the original strategy.   

 
We know that the new signposting and information service, provided by 
Age Concern is offering a valued service, and that in the first year it 
helped nearly 500 older people to access services and support to enable 
them to stay warm, stay safe, reduce their social isolation, access health 
services and practical help to maintain their independence. 

 
The new handyperson scheme has proved extremely popular, and this 
has caused some issues with waiting times for a service.  The service is 
funded through our Supporting Team, and is provided by one of the local 
social landlords.  We continue to work with the provider to find ways to 
improve access to the service within the funds we have available. 

 

Page 88



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

19 

The new footcare service, provided by Age Concern has had a slow start 
but has helped to identify significant numbers of people who need a health 
care service.   Age Concern has worked very positively with the local 
podiatry service and now has an agreement for direct referrals to the 
health service.  

 
The new independent carers service has delivered improved information 
to carers. It has managed a new emergency card scheme, which works 
with our community alarm service, to allow carers to record the 
arrangements they have put in place in case of an emergency and they 
are unable to care as planned.  The centre has also facilitated two 
discount schemes for carers, one with the Council’s Leisure Services and 
one with local businesses. 

 
 
Housing and housing related support 

We have increased the number of extra care schemes within the city over 
the last four years by two, six of the eight schemes within the city are 
provided by registered social landlords.  The other two are provided by a 
voluntary organisation. 

 

There are still limited housing choices for owner occupiers in the city, but 
the new Older People’s Housing Strategy and the Local Development 
Plan will address this.  Information on housing choices has been 
improved, through the Housing Options Team, but we know it can be 
further enhanced. 

 

We have a fairly traditional model of housing related support within the 
city, based primarily within designated sheltered housing schemes.  These 
continue to be very popular with tenants, but there are indications that this 
may not be the best way to target the resources we have on those who 
most need them.  A number of the residents in sheltered schemes tell us 
they do not need the support provided, and would prefer not to have to 
pay for it. We have remodelled some services to offer ‘floating support’, 
particularly in those schemes which do not have a community room. 
Alongside this we are looking to increase the ‘floating’ support available to 
older people who are not living in designated schemes, to offer more 
flexibility, and move the concept of ‘extra care’ out of buildings and into the 
community. 

 

Page 89



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

20 

The demand for housing adaptations support still outruns the resources 
available.  We have moved to a new loan based offer, but funding 
reductions will add additional challenge in this area. 

 
 
Home care services 

Our reablement team has made progress in the development of skills 
within the team and a knowledge transfer partnership has been 
established with University of York St John to support our workforce 
development.  This is beginning to lead to customers needing reduced 
levels of support by the end of the six weeks of reablement service.    
However this has not been achieved as quickly as anticipated, and is still 
not at the levels we would hope for.  Issues remain about value for money.   
Based on evidence from CSED and other authorities who have and 
effective reablement services we will need to deliver double the number of 
hours currently delivered.   

 
 

Our other in house home care services continue to be costly to provide, 
and although they remain popular there is no evidence from quality ratings 
and customer feedback to show that this additional cost delivers any 
higher quality than independent sector providers can offer. 

 

We have just agreed new contracts with the independent sector, which are 
outcome focussed and designed to offer more choice and control to 
customers.  Providers will work with customers, direct, to plan how the 
outcomes, agreed between the customer and our care managers, are to 
be achieved within the resources allocated through our new support 
assessment processes.  We have two locality based preferred providers 
and alongside this a framework agreement with a further five providers, 
which offers choice, and brings flexibility into the market. 

 

Intermediate Tier services 

Hospital discharge delays have increased over the last three years.  Some 
of this has been seen as a lack of capacity within home care services, but 
even with additional capacity added, the problems have not resolved.    

 

The Use of Resources information shows we have higher numbers of 
older people with repeat emergency hospital admissions.   It has become 

Page 90



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

21 

clear that there are no discrete community based heath intermediate care 
services within the city. Instead the ‘virtual wards’ pick up referrals from 
both hospital discharge and from the PCT’s rapid response team, who 
offer up to 6 days ’step up’ emergency care.  

 

In spite of our transitional care beds we still have too many people being 
discharged from hospital into residential care, and an MCAP analysis of 
hospital bed usage in 2009, undertaken by Tribal Consulting for the PCT, 
shows that our hospitals have excessive numbers of people who are being 
cared for in the wrong place.  The Use of Resources Information shows 
that we have relatively high numbers of over 75’s with 2 or more 
emergency admissions to hospital.   

  

Work is currently underway with the Primary Care Trust to model what a 
good community based intermediate service should look like.  This work 
will link to the developments of our own reablement service, and to our 
review of residential care resources 

 

Residential care 

We still do not have sufficient capacity to meet the demand for residential 
and nursing care for those living with severe dementia. 

 

New independent sector providers are still interested in developing new 
homes within the city, and we have encouraged them to provide capacity 
for dementia care and those with high dependency needs.  One home has 
opened within the city and no homes have closed during the last four 
years 

 

We still directly provide residential care in nine council homes, and have 
significant resources tied up in this provision.  These homes are unlikely to 
meet the aspirations of older people in the future, with very small numbers 
of the rooms having ensuite facilities.   We are in the process of reviewing 
these homes, with a view to increasing the capacity within the city for 
residential care for those with dementia and high dependency needs and 
moving more of our resources to support people in the community. 

 

Page 91



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

22 

Carers Support 

Carers still tell us that they find it difficult to get the breaks they need.  Our 
Flexible Carers Grant scheme continues to be very popular, but is under 
significant pressure and does not yet work on an outcome based model.  
Respite care services within the home are still under pressure, with 
waiting lists, and one of the respite services, for those with Multiple 
Sclerosis is planned to close at the end of March 2011. 

  

7. Funding 
 

In 2007, based on the projected increases in demand for service, we 
predicted that we could be facing an additional £10m budget pressure by 
2020.  We are already seeing this pressure in our budgets. 

 

We await the details of the Comprehensive Spending review but anticipate 
that we will need to make savings as well as move investment from some 
services, to develop new services.  Government has committed additional 
funding for adult social care nationally, and expects that additional money 
will be transferred from the NHS for investment in social care services.  
This will help us in our commitment to move to Place Based budgets, but 
we expect the challenges of reducing funding for all public services to be a 
real challenge. 

 

The Supporting People programme is anticipating a minimum of 5% 
annual reductions due to the allocation formula introduced by government 
three years ago, with an additional 3% potentially as a result of the 
Comprehensive Spending Review 

. 

The voluntary sector continues to feel very vulnerable to funding 
reductions. 

 

The most recent benchmarked data on activity and use of resources 
2009/10 available through the NHS Information Centre shows that York 
spends 53% of the older people’s budget on residential and nursing 
placements and is almost exactly midway in the comparator group of local 
authorities (23/47).   We spend 33.5% of the budget on day and 
domiciliary care and are ranked 22/47 in this respect.  12.7% of the budget 
is spent on care management (22/47). 

Page 92



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8.  Our priorities - What we will do next 
 

Taking account of the continued relevance of the messages from our 
original strategy; the messages from our consultation with our older 
population, and the changes we have achieved together with the 
challenges we still have within our services, the following sets out our 
commissioning intentions for the next three years. 

 

We will: 

Ø Develop proposals to allow us to increase the reablement capacity 
and deliver better outcomes for customers.  This should help us 
manage the increasing demand for long term home care services 

Ø Embed telecare and carers’ support in our reablement model 

Ø Work with the PCT to integrate our remodelled reablement service 
with the health intermediate care services, improve the links between 
telecare and telehealth services, and develop alternatives for people 
coming out of hospital into permanent residential care  

Ø Review our in house care services and produce recommendations to 
improve cost effectiveness 

Ø Develop more flexible housing based support services which will allow 
older people to access the support available to those in sheltered and 
extra care schemes without having to move 

Ø Bring forward proposals for the best use of the resources invested in 
our nine council homes to provide increased capacity for residential 
and nursing care for those with dementia and high dependency care 
needs, and increase housing choice and community support for older 
people in the city 

Ø Secure suitable partners to help us deliver the extra housing and care 
facilities which will be high quality, fit for the future and cost effective 

Page 93



Annex A 
City of York Commissioning Strategy for Older People 2006-2021 

2010 Refresh 

24 

Ø Invest some of the savings produced through our efficiency 
programmes to ensure that community based support (domiciliary and 
overnight care, respite care, practical support at home, housing 
related support, befriending and social interaction) is expanded to 
meet the growing numbers who remain independent at home. 

Ø Continue to support carers and develop services that enable them to 
continue in their caring role and maintain a life of their own 

Ø Work with the voluntary sector to retain sustainability of their services 
by ensuring those we commission are delivering outcomes that 
support our strategic aims. 

Page 94



Annex B 
City of York, York Health Group and North Yorkshire and York PCT – The Vision for Older 
People’s Health and Well-being. 
 

 JULY 2010 
 

 

The vision for older people’s health and well being in York 2010-
2015 

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 The overarching vision for older people in York, to be achieved 
over the next five years, is one where a higher proportion of 
older people remain within the community, having fewer 
hospital and care home admissions and are able to enjoy: 
greater independence; a wider choice of accommodation 
options; and greater social engagement.  

1.2 During the same time period, the deteriorating financial climate 
combined with the growth in the numbers of older people, will 
inevitably mean meeting greater demand with fewer resources.  

1.3 This makes it essential to transform the services that health and 
social care fund, to reduce demand through successful and 
targeted health and social care interventions and to avoid 
duplication and waste. 

1.4 If the vision is to be achieved then health commissioners and 
the local authority need to work ever more closely with each 
other and with voluntary organisations and other third sector 
bodies, in order to agree common targets for improving the 
health and well-being of local people and communities.  This 
will require an improved understanding of need, and  the ability 
to better define service requirements and use  of resources.   

1.5 Five strategic outcomes have been developed through 
which the vision can be achieved. These are; that more 
older people will: 

• Be demonstrably treated with dignity and respect. 
• Have greater involvement in family and community life. 
• Be able to achieve greater independence. 
• Report that they are able to maintain good health. 
• Remain within a home of their own. 

1.6 It is not intended that this statement covers every aspect of 
health and social care, neither should it replicate the range of 

Page 95



Annex B 
City of York, York Health Group and North Yorkshire and York PCT – The Vision for Older 
People’s Health and Well-being. 
 

 JULY 2010 
 

statements and strategies that already exist. Instead, the 
intention is to define overarching outcomes which can be 
applied across health and social care provision and where 
those outcomes can only be achieved by health and social care 
working together.  

1.7 For each of the outcomes there are a range of evidence based 
‘outputs’ and processes described, by which the outcomes 
should be achieved. The outcomes are also accompanied by a 
set of principles which can be applied not only to the outputs 
but to any health and social care activity.  

1.8 Each of the outcomes are based either on existing policy goals 
within the local authority or the health community or on 
research / audit evidence of need, and where their achievement 
can be measured by a set of local indicators. The final section 
on implementation begins to explore some of these issues.  

 

Page 96



Annex B 
City of York, York Health Group and North Yorkshire and York PCT – The Vision for Older 
People’s Health and Well-being. 
 

 JULY 2010 
 

2 Principles 

Below are outlined a set of principles designed to underpin the vision for 
older people in York. They are intended to be used by staff and 
managers in order to guide them in a range of situation regarding older 
people not just in delivering the specific outcomes linked to the vision 
statement. In this light all professionals are responsible for delivering all 
the outcomes, not just those that might be seen as belonging to one 
particular professional group. 

2.1 Together we will ensure that our services are available to all 
irrespective of gender, race, disability, age, religion or sexual 
orientation and to pay particular attention to groups or sections 
of society where improvements in health and life expectancy 
and quality of life and sense of wellbeing are not keeping pace 
with the rest of the population. 

2.2 Our services will reflect the needs and preferences of the 
people who use our services, of their families and their carers. 

2.3 We are jointly committed to providing best value for taxpayers’ 
money and the most effective and fair use of finite resources.  
We should always ask ourselves ‘why shouldn’t we work 
together’ rather than ‘should we do this together’.   

2.4 We will give the people who use our services, their carers and 
the public the opportunity to influence and scrutinise our 
performance and priorities; and people, public and staff will be 
involved in relevant decisions.  

2.5 We will expect all our staff, and staff in the services we 
commission, to deliver quality care and support.  Wherever it 
makes sense we will deliver services through integrated teams, 
and support staff to work together to create simple access to 
the care and support our customers need. 

2.6 We will work together to ensure that skill development and 
workforce planning promote quality and encourage integrated 
working between health and care services.  

 

 

Page 97



Annex B 
City of York, York Health Group and North Yorkshire and York PCT – The Vision for Older 
People’s Health and Well-being. 
 

 JULY 2010 
 

Outcomes and outputs that flow from the vision 
 

3 Outcome 1 – All older people are demonstrably treated with 
dignity and respect 

3.1 Services should only be purchased from agencies and 
organisations that have a written and verifiable policy with 
regard to dignity1.  

3.2 People with dementia should receive help and support from 
staff knowledgeable about their condition whether in a social 
care or a health care setting2.  

3.3 Carers of older people, particularly where they are caring for 
someone with dementia, should be offered an agreed package 
of support. This should be flexible enough to cope with 
unexpected changes in circumstances, from the point of 
diagnosis onwards,3 as well as information about the relevant 
condition.  

3.4 There should be an improved inter-agency response to first 
contact. For example; whoever responds to the first contact with 
an older person, should be skilled enough to find out the whole 
story. Sufficient time should also be allowed for that person to 
tell their story in their way and at their pace, and appropriate 
arrangements should be in place to allow information to be 
shared between agencies. 

3.5 In care settings where there is a key worker the older person 
should always be offered a choice of who that key worker is. 
The same should be true when any member of care staff is 
asked to carry out intimate personal care. 

3.6 Where older people have a terminal condition it is important that 
they die in a place of their choosing and that services work 
together to help achieve this4.  Where people indicate they wish 

                                       
1 Need to make sure this is included in the new home care contract and should be raised 
at the provider’s forum.  
2 Development of the Dementia psychiatric liaison service. Shared pathway of care. 
Carers passport about that person. 
3 See York Strategy for Carers 2009-2011 and Dementia Review, Nov 2008. 
4 See End of Life Strategy (under development) and  Recommendation 5, End of Life, 
Delivering Healthy Ambitions  

Page 98



Annex B 
City of York, York Health Group and North Yorkshire and York PCT – The Vision for Older 
People’s Health and Well-being. 
 

 JULY 2010 
 

to make ‘living wills’ staff should support and encourage this. 
Peoples wishes with regard to faith and beliefs should also be 
recorded and respected. 

 
 

 

                                                                                                                        
 

Page 99



Annex B 
City of York, York Health Group and North Yorkshire and York PCT – The Vision for Older 
People’s Health and Well-being. 
 

 JULY 2010 
 

4 Outcome 2 – More older people have greater involvement 
in family and community life 

4.1 All older people should have the opportunity, regardless of 
capacity, to engage in activities that they enjoy, whether living 
in their own homes in health care setting or in a care home5. 
Older peoples own contribution to the community through 
employment and work as volunteers should be recognised and 
encouraged. 

4.2 Good up to date information about the range of services and 
opportunities should be available to all older people. There 
should be an offer of  support available to those who need it, so 
that they can take up community provision rather than people 
simply being signposted to alternative services. 

4.3 The local authority and health agencies need to work together 
to understand where there are risks and barriers to older people 
participating in community life, eg, snow clearance, access to 
transport,  presence of banks and post offices, etc. Leisure 
services should ensure that there is proportionality in the 
activities they offer to ensure they are relevant to and 
accessible by older people. 

4.4 Funding partners need to explore investing in a programme of 
community leadership. Local existing leaders of voluntary effort 
should be encouraged and resourced to identify and deliver 
greater community support for older people6.  

4.5 The impact of living alone in older life, whether as a result of 
divorce, death, separation , or never having been in a 
partnership will need to be a consideration in reaching and 
finding people and in offering support. 

4.6 All policies of the local authority and health commissioners 
should recognise that by 2030 25% of the population of the City 
will be aged over 65. This should be reflected in the type of 
services and facilities that are available.   

 

                                       
5 See Priorities and Gaps Older Peoples Services to Promote Health and Well- Being Feb 
2009 
6 See The Westfield Project led by economic development  

Page 100



Annex B 
City of York, York Health Group and North Yorkshire and York PCT – The Vision for Older 
People’s Health and Well-being. 
 

 JULY 2010 
 

5 Outcome 3 – More older people are able to maximise their 
independence 

5.1 Older people should always be consulted about any service to 
be provided and their wishes and views ascertained. Where 
desired, the option of a personal social care budget should be 
offered that is sufficient to meet peoples assessed needs. 
There should be encouragement for older people to self 
manage health conditions, rather than allowing a potential crisis 
to occur7.  

5.2 There should be a greater emphasis on collecting the views of 
service users, carers and those who do not use health or care 
services but could benefit for doing so. For example, there 
should be a range of ways to collect feedback, including 
internet based forums for service users and carers to express 
consumer views about the care and health services that they 
receive. Such collections should avoid duplication across 
agencies and wherever possible should be combined. 

5.3 There should be an increased use of technology focussed on 
alleviating specific risks to service users. The range of 
technological services available should be explained to service 
users and carers. Use of technology should be planned and of 
demonstrable benefit, and should include opportunities for short 
term usage designed to improve independence and self care8. 

5.4 Older people should be encouraged and enabled to self 
manage their health conditions. 

5.5 Health and care assessments should have an emphasis on 
what people can do as well as what they cannot and should 
record activities that people used to participate in and why they 
no longer do so9. There should be a statement about the 
degree of independence and choice the older person would like 
to achieve.  

                                       
7 Recommendation 1 & 9, Long term conditions, Delivering Healthy Ambitions 
8 Electronic Home Care Monitoring, Blue Print for Adult Social Care Sept 2009 
9 See Priorities and Gaps Older Peoples Services to Promote Health and Well- Being Feb 
2009 

Page 101



Annex B 
City of York, York Health Group and North Yorkshire and York PCT – The Vision for Older 
People’s Health and Well-being. 
 

 JULY 2010 
 

5.6 Longer term and intensive care and support should be planned 
and provided only after looking at  rehabilitation and 
‘reablement’ opportunities, which are intended to help people 
regain skills and confidence to care for themselves.  This will 
include technology based supports.  All of which could increase 
independence and reduce reliance on care services. 

 

Page 102



Annex B 
City of York, York Health Group and North Yorkshire and York PCT – The Vision for Older 
People’s Health and Well-being. 
 

 JULY 2010 
 

6 Outcome 4 - More older people report that they are able to 
maintain good health  

6.1 Health and care services should proactively identify those at 
risk of hospital admissions and then act to reduce the risks.  
Alternatives to hospital admission should be available for those 
who can be cared for outside an acute hospital setting.  This will 
include good care at home as well as care in community based 
units.  These options should be available to avoid admission 
and to speed up discharge 

6.2 Planning for discharges form hospital needs to improve.  An 
older person should only be discharged from hospital when it is 
both timely and safe for this to occur. Greater attention should 
be paid to older people’s confidence to manage on their own as 
well as their physical capabilities.   

6.3 Where an older person has suffered a stroke then there should 
be improved restoration of functionality and a diminution in the 
number of older people who have further strokes or TIAs. The 
levels of permanent impairment to individuals should be 
reduced10.  

6.4 Where older people have had a fall that has required a health 
service intervention, then they should receive a targeted falls 
prevention service. This is particularly appropriate for older 
people who have had a fall in a care homes11.  

6.5 There should be a targeted increase in the detection of 
continence problem in older people with an equivalent 

                                       
10 York hospital under achieved in terms of its 2008/09 meeting of the stroke standard 
with only 28% of stroke patients in 2008-09 spending time on a specialist stroke unit. 
Nationally a third of all patients admitted to hospital for a stroke have previously had an 
earlier stroke or a TIA. 11% go on to a care home 2% within two weeks. 
 
11 See Priorities and Gaps Older Peoples Services to Promote Health and Well- Being Feb 
2009 and York Health Group Commissioning Intentions 2009/2010 – 2010/2011. 
Nationally. 80% of hip fractures are to women. Average age is 83. The 2007 RCP Audit 
showed that 22% of all hip fractures occur in care homes.  27% of older people who have 
had a hip fracture go on to have a continence problem brought about from their hospital 
admission although in 60% of those cases no referral is made to a continence service. 
11%of patients have an unplanned re-admission to hospital within 12 weeks of their fall. 
There is a strong connection between the falls and depression, with a 30% increased risk 
of hip fracture for older women if they are suffering from depression. 
 

Page 103



Annex B 
City of York, York Health Group and North Yorkshire and York PCT – The Vision for Older 
People’s Health and Well-being. 
 

 JULY 2010 
 

diminution in the proportion of older people with a continence 
problem who are catheterised or use pads to ‘manage’ the 
problem12. 

6.6 There is a need for improved services focusing on depression 
in older people particularly where the person has experienced 
the bereavement of a long term life partner13.    

6.7 All older people should have access to regular dental care 
regardless of where they live and their ability to access a dental 
surgery unaided14.  

6.8 Where older people have difficulty in cutting, or are unable to 
cut, their toenails, access to an appropriate service that can 
help with this should be made.15 

                                       
12 People with continence problems often suffer for years before they reveal their 
problem. Just over half of hospital sites and only a third of mental health sites offer 
structured training in continence care. Documentation of continence assessment and 
management has been described nationally as “wholly inadequate”. 90% of PCTs have a 
written policy saying continence products (pads) are supplied on the basis of clinical need 
yet 73% limit the number of pads to four a day. The average age of those known to the 
PCT with a continence problem was 80. 
13 The majority of older persons who commit suicide are widowed although only a small 
proportion of the oldest old have experienced the recent loss of a partner. However in 
absolute terms the oldest old men experience the highest increase in suicide risk 
immediately after the loss of a spouse.  
A comprehensive Dutch study in 2008 showed there was a link between a history of 
depression and Alzheimer’s. Amongst those who have experienced the death of a spouse 
in old age 30-60% meet major depression criteria at one month, 24-30% at two months 
and 25% at three months.  The most effective interventions at alleviating social isolation 
are group activities at a social and educational level. Individual interventions are less 
effective but work best where the giver of support is matched in terms of age and 
interests with those of the recipient. 
 
14 Older people suffer a wide number of likely additional dental problems yet conversely 
are less likely to receive treatment. For example; The Adult Dental Health Survey 2008 
for Portsmouth reviewed dental care of older people in care homes. Found that 465 had 
no teeth 73% had dentures, 24% suffered oral pain, 29% not seen a dentists in ten 
years, 25% felt they needed dental treatment tomorrow.The additional problems include 
those that stem from the type of medication being taken impacting on the capacity to 
swallow and the likelihood of introducing dental decay, through a diminution in effective 
soft tissue holding teeth in place  and  softer diets, which require minimal chewing and 
thereby reduces stimulation of muscle tone and the condition of the oral tissues. As a 
consequence, sugar is retained in the mouth for a longer period of time which promotes 
dental caries. 
 
15 Help the Aged reported in 2005 that over two thirds of older people have foot problems 
and there is some evidence that the proportion may be higher as many people are too 
embarrassed to seek help. The longer term impact of denying treatment to those 
considered to have a low risk is yet to be established although Malkin et al suggested 
that 25% of people needing foot care are not receiving it.  

Page 104



Annex B 
City of York, York Health Group and North Yorkshire and York PCT – The Vision for Older 
People’s Health and Well-being. 
 

 JULY 2010 
 

 

                                                                                                                        
 

Page 105



Annex B 
City of York, York Health Group and North Yorkshire and York PCT – The Vision for Older 
People’s Health and Well-being. 
 

 JULY 2010 
 

7 Outcome 5– More older people remain within a home of 
their own.  

7.1 There should be a continued development of a programme of 
extra care housing particularly providing a stimulus to the 
independent sector to develop provision for older owner 
occupiers. There is a need to develop ECH on a community 
basis rather than a just a housing basis, ie that people can 
receive the range of extra care services within particular given 
neighbourhoods16. 

7.2 There needs to be much greater clarity about who the Local 
Authority would fund in residential care and why17.  

7.3 Older people need to be assured that when it comes to hospital 
discharge they will have the opportunity to fully explore the 
choices and the implications of those choices that are available 
to them.  

7.4 Where aids and adaptations do not exacerbate people’s 
dependency then there should be a greater funding emphasis 
on providing property adaptations. Funding partners should also 
be aware of the costs and benefits of the adaptation 
programme and the impact of delays in delivering adaptations18. 

7.5 Over and above access to health and care provision older 
people’s confidence to remain in the community is based on 
their ability to maintain their property, play a part in their 
neighbourhoods and to feel safe. The local authority will work 
with a range of agencies across the City to ensure that these 
ambitions can be achieved and that older peoples feelings of 
safety and security are regularly monitored.   

 

                                       
16 This is similar to the Dutch model of integrated neighbourhoods called 
‘Woonzorgzones’. These are now being planned in about 30 neighbourhoods and villages 
all over the Netherlands. The woonzorgzones are geographical areas that offer round-
the-clock care and a certain percentage of adapted housing within 200 m walking 
distance of integrated service. 
17 The EPH review should respond to this (likely that care home provision will be seen as 
for those needing high physical care needs and dementia where people are at risk). 
18 See Priorities and Gaps Older Peoples Services to Promote Health and Well- Being Feb 
2009 

Page 106



Annex B 
City of York, York Health Group and North Yorkshire and York PCT – The Vision for Older 
People’s Health and Well-being. 
 

 JULY 2010 
 

8  Aspects of implementation 

8.1 There should be improved measurement of service success by 
outcomes rather than outputs. In achieving this the test should 
be who can provide the best outcome at the best possible price 
rather than professional groups being allowed to ‘colonise’ 
areas of service provision, ie, we are the only group who can 
deal with dementia, continence stroke etc19. 

8.2 There should be a greater capacity to monitor and measure 
why hospital admissions and care home admissions occur and 
those results fed back into the commissioning process. From 
this there will be an increased capacity to target key populations 
most at risk.  

8.3 In order to consolidate skills and knowledge, reduce costs and 
give service users a more consistent experience, consideration 
should be given to the balance of services necessary to achieve 
the outcomes required within the funding available.20 

8.4 There should be less repeat assessments by different 
professional groups and organisations and greater service user 
satisfaction with the assessment process. Where assessments 
are completed by ‘front door’ services they should be 
accompanied by good risk analysis. 

8.5 There should be a greater transferability of skills across health 
and social care. 

8.6 Health and care should look to provide greater support to 
family, friends and communities to support older people. 
Consequently, there should be a shift in expenditure away from 
funding whole services to one of investment, wherever possible 
in supporting and extending an existing activity. A greater test 
of investment should be applied, ie, if this amount of money is 
spent what is the desired return from that expenditure and is 
this cost effective.  

                                       
19 Recommendation 2, Planned Care Delivering Healthy Ambitions.  
20 Improving Clarity and Efficiency of the End to End Customer Process, Blue Print for 
Adult Social Care Sept 2009. 

Page 107



Annex B 
City of York, York Health Group and North Yorkshire and York PCT – The Vision for Older 
People’s Health and Well-being. 
 

 JULY 2010 
 

8.7 Where consultation exercises are undertaken the norm should 
be that they are jointly undertaken between health services and 
the local authority unless there is a good reason for not doing 
so. 

 

Page 108



 
 

City of York Council’s Elderly Persons Homes - Summary of Key Information 
 
 

EPH 

 
Location 

     
Beds 

    
Day Care Buildings Staffing Costs 

        Permanent Temporary                 

  
CYC Ward 

CQC 
Registered 

Beds 

Frail              
Elderly 

Elderly 
Mentally 
Infirm 

High 
Dependency   Service 

Users  
Site Size 
(Acres) 

En-suite 
rooms 

CYC Property 
Services 
Valuation 

Full Time 
Equivalents Staff 

Gross Budget 
(Excl Capital) 

2011/12 

Gross Budget 
(Incl Capital) 
2011/12 

Fordlands Fulford 31 21     10 11 0.98 1 £850-900k 16 28 £766,110 £899,710 
Grove House Guildhall 33 23   6 4 14 0.6 1 £700-750k 21 37 £718,650 £783,430 
Haxby Hall Haxby 42 16   23 3   1.08 7 £950k-£1M 30 47 £1,040,450 £1,150,740 
Morrell House Clifton 29   27   2   0.62 8 £400-450k 29 45 £899,640 £995,330 
Oakhaven Holgate 27 24     3 10 0.8 14 £750-800k 17 30 £657,780 £717,570 
Oliver Micklegate 19 17     2 12 0.33 1 £700-750k 20 35 £586,090 £632,920 
Willow Guildhall 33 32     1 3 0.57 0 £500-£550k 18 28 £698,320 £786,400 
Windsor Westfield 28   26   2   0.37 1 £350-400k 26 44 £823,280 £869,210 

Woolnough Hull Road 34 25     9 1 0.71 0 £500-550k 18 29 £768,080 £829,400 
                              

TOTAL   276 158 53 29 36 51 0.67 33 £5.7-6.1M 195 323 £6,958,400 £7,664,710 

Annex C 

P
age 109



P
age 110

T
his page is intentionally left blank



A
pp

en
di

x 
B

 

F
O

R
D

L
A

N
D

S
 S

IT
E

A
 c

on
ce

pt
 d

ra
w

in
g 

of
 w

ha
t a

 5
5 

be
d 

ca
re

 h
om

e 
co

ul
d 

lo
ok

 li
ke

 o
n 

th
e 

cu
rr

en
t F

or
dl

an
ds

 

si
te

 in
 F

ul
fo

rd
 

A
N

N
E

X
 D

Page 111



H
A

X
B

Y
 S

IT
E

A
 c

on
ce

pt
 d

ra
w

in
g 

of
 w

ha
t a

 5
5 

be
d 

ca
re

 h
om

e 
co

ul
d 

lo
ok

 li
ke

 o
n 

th
e 

cu
rr

en
t H

ax
by

 H
al

l s
ite

.

A
N

N
E

X
 D

Page 112



L
O

W
F

IE
L

D
 S

IT
E

A
 c

on
ce

pt
 d

ra
w

in
g 

of
 w

ha
t a

 'C
ar

e 
V

ill
ag

e'
 c

ou
ld

 lo
ok

 li
ke

 o
n 

th
e 

fo
rm

er
 L

ow
fie

ld
 S

ch
oo

l s
ite

 in
 A

co
m

b,
 in

cl
ud

in
g:

 

!"
2 

x 
45

 b
ed

 c
ar

e 
ho

m
es

 
!"

21
 x

 b
un

gl
al

ow
s 

fo
r 

in
de

pe
nd

en
t l

iv
in

g 
- 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
fo

r 
pu

rc
ha

se
 o

r 
re

nt
 

!"
A

 'S
oc

ia
l C

en
tr

e'
 fo

r 
th

e 
ca

re
 v

ill
ag

e 
an

d 
w

id
er

 c
om

m
un

ity
 

A
N

N
E

X
 D

Page 113



Page 114

This page is intentionally left blank



  

Annex E 
 
 

A Review of City of York Council’s Elderly Persons Homes 
 

Consultation Plan 
 
There are three elements to the Consultation Plan included within this Annex, as 
follows: 
 

1. Consultation Background  
 
This is a Plain English version of the Cabinet 
Report.  This is the ‘public document’ that will 
be used to explain the background to the 
review and the issues and options that the 
council is consulting on. 
 

 
 

Draft at 
pages             

2-6 

2. Consultation Questionnaire 
 
These are the proposed questions that will be 
asked in the postal survey questionnaire and 
the on-line questionnaire.   
 
The same questions will form the basis of the 
consultation meetings with all stakeholders 
including residents, relatives, staff, and 
partner organisations like Health and the 
Voluntary Sector. 
 

Draft at 
pages               
7-17 

3. Consultation Plan 
 
The consultation plan sets out:  
• who the Council will be consulting with, 

and 
• how – the different mechanisms that will 

be used to capture feedback 
 

Draft at 
pages           
18-20             

 
 

Page 115



  

Have your say on the future of City of York 
Council’s Elderly Persons Homes  

 

   CONSULTATION BACKGROUND 

DRAFT 
 
City of York Council wants to hear your views on the findings of a recent review 
of the residential care homes that it provides for older people in the city, which 
are known as Elderly Persons Homes (EPHs). 

It is widely recognised that the council’s Elderly Persons Homes are well run, 
and that the people who live in them, as well as their friends and family, 
recognise the quality of the care provided to them. 

However, the review has concluded that there is a need to update the range of 
care and accommodation available to older people to make sure that the council 
can continue to meet their needs in the future.  

There are currently 33,000 people over the age of 65 in York, but this figure is 
expected to rise to 37,000 by 2015 and 40,100 by 2020. It is also expected that 
the demand for places in residential care homes from people with dementia and 
specialist nursing care needs will also increase. 

This increasing pressure on services for older people comes at a time when the 
council, like public sector organisations across the country, is facing a major 
reduction in the amount of funding that it receives from the government. In York, 
the council’s funding is being cut by 28 per cent over the next four years, and 
13.3 per cent of this has been cut from the grant that the council received for the 
current financial year. 

On a more positive note, this year York has received £1.997 million from central 
government to invest in preventative measures such as Telecare/warden call 
that will help to reduce some of the pressure on health and social care services 
in the future. The council has worked with local NHS organisations to decide 
how best to spend this money on preventative services which will, in turn, ease 
the budget strain on longer term provision. 

 

 

Page 116



  

The long-term aims of the council and local NHS organisations are to allow as 
many older people as possible to enjoy their independence for longer, reducing 
the need for care home and hospital admissions, and to give older people a 
wider choice of accommodation and more opportunities to socialise. 

This reflects the findings of a survey carried out by the council in 2008 in which 
63 per cent of those who responded said that they would like the council to help 
older people to remain in their own homes for longer. An overwhelming majority 
recognised that, in the future, the council must focus on providing specialist care 
for people with dementia and those who need nursing care needs. 

The council’s current care homes 

The table at Appendix A provides a summary of information on the council’s nine 
Elderly Persons Homes including location, site size, staff numbers, and the 
number and type of beds provided. 

Built in the 1960s and 1970s, these homes are now dated and do not provide 
the same standard of accommodation as modern care homes being built today. 
Only 33 of the 276 beds available have en-suite facilities, and the bedroom sizes 
and daytime facilities do not meet modern standards. In these homes, the 
council only has 57 beds for people with dementia, even though demand for 
them is rising rapidly and will continue to do so. Although private sector care 
providers also provide some beds for people with dementia in York, there is a 
shortage across the city as a whole. 

A limited day care service is provided in six of the nine care homes, with day 
care service users joining with permanent residents for activities and meals. 
Whilst this model of day care service provides a welcome break for the people 
who use the service, and their carers, it is a poorer model than that found in day 
care facilities that are designed and operated specifically for day care.   

Another important issue is that the size and design of the council’s existing care 
homes for elderly people does not allow people with different needs to be cared 
for in the same home. This means that, all too often, people have to be moved 
from one home to another as their needs change. The council’s existing homes 
are small, with just 31 beds each on average. Modern residential care homes 
tend to be much larger so that they can accommodate people with a much wider 
range of needs. That way, there is less chance of people having to be moved. 

 

Page 117



  

With the exception of the Fordlands and Haxby Hall sites, most of the sites on 
which the council-run Elderly Persons Homes stand are small and offer little or 
no scope for the buildings to be extended. However, the council owns a six-acre 
site at Acomb (formerly the site of Lowfield School) that is large enough for two 
good sized care homes and a range of other accommodation for older people. 
The development of this land could create a ‘Care Village’, making it possible for 
older people to continue receiving care on the same site, even as their needs 
change. 

Based on demographic predictions for York it is estimated that the council will 
need to provide 180 care beds, providing a mixture of dementia, high 
dependency, and nursing care.  There is also a requirement to increase the 
number of respite care beds from 14 to 20 which help increase support available 
to carers in the city.  This will bring the total number of beds required to 200. 

Options for the future 

In order to meet the many challenges facing the council in the future, a number 
of different options have been put forward for consideration, comment and 
discussion. These are as follows: 

Option A – Take no action: If the council fails to act, the energy and 
maintenance costs of the existing buildings will only increase. The kitchens, lifts 
and heating systems are getting older and the buildings do not have sprinkler 
systems fitted. The existing homes already require a backlog of maintenance 
work totalling £404,059. 

Also, this option would do nothing to address the changing needs of older 
people and the growing pressures on these existing care homes as the 
percentage of York’s population over the age of 65 increases each year. 

Option B – Extend and refurbish the existing homes: The small sites and 
dated buildings would make it very difficult to extend and refurbish the existing 
care homes. It is not simply a case of adding more bedrooms, as en-suite 
facilities would also need to be added to the existing bedrooms. Daytime space 
would need to be extended and improved, and better fire systems, kitchens, lifts 
and heating systems installed.  

The council’s property services team believes that there are only two sites  - 
Fordlands and Haxby Hall - where it would be possible to extend and refurbish 
the existing buildings, although it is feared that the cost of doing so could be 
more than the cost of demolishing them and building a new care home on the 

Page 118



  

same site. There are also concerns that it may not be possible to refurbish them 
in a way that would meet modern day residential care home standards. 

Option C – Buy more beds from private sector care providers: Because 
there is a shortage of beds for people with dementia across York as a whole (not 
just in the council-run homes), private sector care providers would not currently 
be able to provide the extra beds that the council needs. 

However, there is some interest from private sector developers in building new 
care homes in York. One developer has already bought a site and is building a 
care home that is due to be completed next spring (2012). Although the council 
could buy more beds from new and existing private sector care providers in the 
future, it is thought that this option would only provide part of the overall solution. 

Option D – City of York Council funds, builds and operates three new care 
homes: The council would need to find £13.4 million to build new homes on the 
three available sites – Fordlands, Haxby Hall, and Lowfield  - over a three or 
four-year, phased rebuilding programme. 

This is an opportunity to create new council-owned and run residential care 
homes that provide a much wider range of care. This approach would be 
supported by preventative work to help older people remain in their own homes 
for longer, providing an opportunity for the council and local NHS organisations 
to work together using the funding given to York by the government for that 
purpose. 

Option E – City of York Council enters a partnership with a 
developer/operator to fund, build and operate three new care homes: This 
approach is similar to option D, but the council would enter a partnership with a 
developer or care home operator that would be willing to fund the project and 
build the homes. The cost to the council would depend on the way the 
partnership deal is drawn up, and discussions about the ownership of the site 
and the completed home would be part of any negotiations. The council’s 
chosen partner could be a social enterprise, local authority trading company, 
commercial organisation or a ‘not for profit’ organisation. Staff working in the 
council’s existing care homes could transfer to the new provider. 

Concept drawings of what new care homes could look like on the Fordlands, 
Haxby and Lowfield sites (in Options D and E) are attached at Appendix B. 

 

Page 119



  

All of these options - with the exception of Option A, in the short term - will 
impact on current EPH residents in that they will involve a move from their 
current home at some point in the future.  It is recognised that, until the 
consultation process has been completed and the Cabinet has decided how it 
wants the council to proceed, there will inevitably be a period of uncertainty for 
residents.  The council is keen to reassure residents and their relatives that, 
whatever the conclusions, they will not receive any reduction in care.  Indeed, 
the council fully expects the review to result in improved facilities for residents 
and provide a continuum of care that addresses the current situation where 
some residents have to move to have their care needs met.   

The council recognises that moving very elderly people can be detrimental to 
their health and well being but there is much that can be done to reduce the 
impact of a move. The council has a ‘Moving Homes Safely’ protocol - 
developed with input from Age UK York and Older Citizens Advocacy York - 
that builds on best practice identified in NHS Guidance and recently published 
national research.  The protocol explains how the council would ensure that any 
move is well planned and carefully managed, and how residents and their 
relatives would be involved in all aspects of the decision as to where they move.  

The consultation process and next steps 

The council plans to consult with a wide range of people who are interested in 
the future of older people’s accommodation in York.  The consultation period will 
last for three months, from mid-July to mid-October.  During this time the council 
will aim to talk to, and hear from, current residents and service users in the 
council’s nine care homes; their family and friends; care home staff; trade 
unions; health colleagues; older people’s groups; and many other interested 
parties.  Opportunities for people to give feedback on the issues and options will 
be available through: 

• A ‘Have Your Say’ questionnaire 

• Meetings with council managers 

The feedback from this three month consultation period will be collated and form 
part of a report to the council’s Cabinet on 1 November.  It is at that meeting that 
the Cabinet, having considered the consultation feedback, will decide how it 
wants the council to proceed. 

 

Page 120



  

Have your say on the future of City of York 
Council’s Elderly Persons Homes  

 

   QUESTIONNAIRE 

DRAFT 
Your feedback in this consultation is important to us. 

Please read the Consultation Background document before completing this 
questionnaire as it provides background information on the review and explains 
the issues and options that the City of York Council is consulting on. 

Please return it using the FREEPOST envelope provided by CLOSING 
DATE???   

Alternatively you can complete the questionnaire online at www.???? 

The results of all questionnaire responses and feedback from all our 
consultation meetings will be collated and form part of a report to the Council’s 
Cabinet in November 2011. 

If you need further explanation or help in order to be able to complete this 
questionnaire please leave a message on the voicemail at Tel: (01904) 554359  
or e-mail carehomes.consultation@york.gov.uk and someone will come back to 
you. 

If you wish to make additional comments on any of the questions please use the 
extra space provided at Question 13. 

 

 

   

 

If you would like this questionnaire in 
large print or in another accessible 
format, for example, braille, on CD or 
by email, then please contact (01904) 
554359. 

 

Page 121



  

Q1 Have you read the Consultation Background which explains the review of 
the council’s elderly persons homes and the consultation process? 

 

 

 

Q2 Do you agree or disagree that the Council should redirect more of its 
money from residential care into helping people stay at home with 
appropriate support for longer? 

 

Q3 Do you agree or disagree that the Council should be focussing its 
residential care on specialist needs for people with dementia, high 
dependency and nursing care requirements? 

 

Q4 Do you agree or disagree with the Council’s ambition to ensure that 
people do not have to move between different types of care home as their 
needs change? 

 

Q5 Do you agree or disagree that the Council should modernise its residential 
care homes to better meet the needs and aspirations of York residents 
over the next 40 years?  

Yes q No q 

Strongly agree Agree Neither / nor Disagree Strongly disagree 

q q q q q 

Strongly agree Agree Neither / nor Disagree Strongly disagree 

q q q q q 

Strongly agree Agree Neither / nor Disagree Strongly disagree 

q q q q q 

Strongly agree Agree Neither / nor Disagree Strongly disagree 

q q q q q 

Page 122



  

Q6 Currently six of the Council’s care homes provide day care activity. Do you 
agree or disagree that it is better to provide day care in dedicated facilities 
in the community rather than in a residential care home? 

 

Please note that the Council’s current day care users will be contacted 
separately in order to consult on specific proposals on this issue. 

Strongly agree Agree Neither / nor Disagree Strongly disagree 

q q q q q 

Page 123



  

If, after consultation, the council does decide it needs to build new care 
homes:  

Q7 Do you agree or disagree that the following are requirements you would 
expect to see in the specification for a modern care home? 

 

 Strongly 
agree 

Agree Neither / 
nor 

Disagree Strongly 
disagree 

Bigger bed room sizes   
(at least 14 sqm) 

q q q q q 

All bed rooms to have an 
en-suite facility 

q q q q q 

Rooms to be flexible in 
operation so that they can 
switch between dementia 
care, nursing care or even 
intermediate care 

q q q q q 

A range of smaller areas 
for day space, rather than 
one or two large spaces 

q q q q q 

Wider corridors for 
wheelchair access 

q q q q q 

Wider door openings for 
wheelchair access 

q q q q q 

Gardens that provide a 
secure environment but 
offer scope for exercise 

q q q q q 

Maximum of two storeys 
high 

q q q q q 

Sprinkler systems to 
reduce risk to residents 
should there be a fire 

q q q q q 

Page 124



  

Q8 Is there anything else not listed above that is important to you? 

 

 

 

 

 

The council predicts that it needs to provide 200 residential care beds. The care 
homes need to be of a certain size to be economical and to provide a continuum 
of care. The council thinks that 200 beds could be provided across three sites – 
a 55 bed home at Fordlands in Fulford, a 55 bed home at Haxby Hall in Haxby, 
and two 45 bed homes on the Lowfield ‘Care Village’ site in Acomb.  

Please look at the concept drawings for these three sites at Appendix B in the 
Consultation Background document. 

 

9a Do you agree or disagree that these buildings can be designed in such a 
way that they do not become too big and impersonal? 

 

9b Do you agree or disagree that these three sites would offer a reasonable 
geographical spread of residential care across the City? 

 

Strongly agree Agree Neither / nor Disagree Strongly disagree 

q q q q q 

Strongly agree Agree Neither / nor Disagree Strongly disagree 

q q q q q 

Page 125



  

Q10 If new care homes were to be built, who would you want to actually 
provide the care within these new buildings? Please rate all of the 
options. 

 

 Strongly 
agree 

Agree Neither / 
nor 

Disagree Strongly 
disagree 

The council q q q q q 

A private care provider q q q q q 

A not for profit care 
provider 

q q q q q 

No preference 
providing the solution 
provides best value for 
money 

q q q q q 

Page 126



  

Q11 To what extent would you support each of the options presented in the 
Consultation Background?  Please rate all of the options. 

 

Q12 Are there any other feasible options which you feel the Council has not  
considered in the paper? If so, please provide details.   

 

 

 

 

 Strongly 
agree 

Agree Neither / 
nor 

Disagree Strongly 
disagree 

Option A                       
Take no action 

q q q q q 

Option B                 
Extend and refurbish 

q q q q q 

Option C                 
Purchase all or an 
increased proportion of 
beds from the private 
sector 

q q q q q 

Option D                      
The Council funds, 
builds & operates three 
new care homes 

q q q q q 

Option E                      
The Council enters a 
partnership with a 
developer/operator to 
fund, build and operate 
three new care homes 

q q q q q 

Page 127



  

Q13 Have you any other comments that you would like to add as part of your 
consultation response? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

About You  

We want to make sure that the council is a fair and inclusive service provider. 
Your answers to the following questions will help us make sure that everyone’s 
needs are considered in council policy and practice.  

The information you provide is anonymous and will be kept confidential. Only 
council employees will process this information. Thank you for helping us 
continue to improve our policies and practices. 

 

Q14 Please tick the most appropriate box from the options below: 

I live in one of the council’s nine care homes q 

I have a relative/friend who lives in one of the council’s care homes q 

I receive day care or respite care at one of the council’s care homes q 

I have a relative/friend who receives day care or respite care at one of the 
council’s care homes 

q 

I work in one of the council’s care homes q 

I am an interested member of the wider York public q 

Page 128



  

Q15 We may wish to follow up on some of your comments and suggestions.  If 
you would be happy to talk to us about your responses, please could you 
provide your name and contact details so that we can come back to you? 

Name 
 

 

Contact details 
 

 

 

Gender   Do you identify yourself as trans? 

Male q Female q Prefer not to 
say q 

Yes q No q Prefer not to 
say q 

      

Age range      

16-24 years 
q  

25-34 years 
q  

35-44 years 
q   

45-54 years 
q    

55-64 years 
q 

65-74 years 
q 

75 years 
and over q 

Prefer not to 
say q 

    

    

1st Part of your Postcode( e.g. YO31 2)    

Prefer not to 
say q 

     

Page 129



  

Ethnic Origin 

Please choose one section from A-E and then tick the appropriate box to indicate 
your ethnic background or please tick this box: 

Prefer not to say q Do you consider yourself to be 
disabled? 

A. White: 

q British 

q Irish 

q Any other white background, please 
specify ______________ 

Yes q No q Prefer not to 
say q 

B. Mixed Race: 

q White and Black Caribbean 

q White and Black African 

q White and Asian 

q Any other Mixed background, please 
specify_____________ 

If you tick “Yes”, please tick as many 
boxes below as apply: 

q Physical impairment 

(such as using a wheelchair to get 
around and / or difficulty using arms, 
legs etc) 

C. Asian or Asian British: 

q Indian 

q Pakistani 

q Bangladeshi 

q Any other Asian background, please 
specify _________________________ 

q Sensory impairment 

(such as being blind / having a serious 
visual impairment or being deaf / 
having a serious hearing impairment) 

D. Black or Black British: 

q Caribbean 

q African 

q Any other Black background, please 
specify _________________________ 

 

q Mental health condition 

(such as depression or bipolar) 

q Learning disability 

(such as Downs syndrome or dyslexia 
or cognitive impairment (such as 
autism or one resulting from head-
injury) 

E. Other Ethnic Groups: q Long-standing illness or health 
condition 

Page 130



  

Sexual Orientation: 

q Heterosexual / Straight 

q Lesbian / Gay woman 

q Homosexual/ Gay man 

q Bisexual 

q Prefer not to say 

Relationship Status: 

q Married 

q Co-habiting 

q Civil Partnership 

q Single 

q Other 

q Prefer not to say 

Please tick the appropriate box to 
describe your religion or belief: 

q Prefer not to say 

q Buddhist 

q Christian 

q Hindu 

q Jewish 

q Muslim 

q Sikh 

q No Religion 

q Other please specify ______________ 

 

 

Thank you for completing this questionnaire.  Please return it using the 
FREEPOST envelope provided by ???  

The results of all questionnaire responses and feedback from all our 
consultation meetings will be collated and form part of a report to the Council’s 
Cabinet in November 2011. 

 

Page 131



  

A Review of City of York Council’s Elderly Persons Homes 

 

Consultation Plan  

 
This review has a huge significance for the city and how we care for our most 
vulnerable older people, and we want to ensure that everyone who wants to, has 
the opportunity to comment on the issues and options presented within the 19 
July Cabinet report.   
 
During a three month consultation period (19 July – 19 October) the council will 
be writing to and, where requested or appropriate, meeting with the following 
interested parties to invite and hear their views on the issues and options 
contained with the report. 
 
 
Current  EPH 
residents  

Permanent residents  

Day care service users  

Respite care service users  

Family & friends of residents and day care/respite 
care service users 

Other Local Authorities with residents placed in 
CYC EPHs 

EPH staff EPH staff – including relief staff and volunteers 

Trade Unions – Unison and GMB 

Older People  
Representatives 
& Voluntary 
Sector 
Providers 
 

Age UK York 

Alzheimer’s Society 

Churches Together  

Equalities Advisory Group 

Older Citizens Advocacy York (OCAY) 

Older People’s Network (OPeN) 

Older People’s Partnership Board 

Older People Providers’ Forum - Supporting People 

York Blind & Partially Sighted Society 

Page 132



  

York Carers Centre 

York Carers Forum 

York CVS 

York Older People’s Assembly (YOPA) 

York Racial Equality Network (YREN) 

Health Joint Commissioning Group 

Leeds Hospital Partnership Foundation Trust/Mental 
Health Board  

Levels of Care Group 

North Yorkshire and York Primary Care Trust 

Vale of York GP Commissioning Consortium 

York Hospital Foundation Trust 

Other key 
stakeholders 

Care Quality Commission 

CYC Care Managers 

Elected Members 

Independent Care Group – private residential care 
providers 

Local MPs 

Wider York public 
 
All interested parties will have the opportunity to give feedback on the issues 
and options contained within the Consultation Background document via a range 
of mechanisms including: 
 
• Face-to-face meetings 

- Residents  
- Day care users 
- Respite care users 
- Relatives of all residents and service users 
- Staff  
- Other interested parties 
- 4 x Public Consultation meetings to be held in Acomb, Fulford, Haxby, 

and central York – venues and dates to be confirmed. 
 

Page 133



  

• A postal questionnaire – sent to: 
- Residents 
- Day care users 
- Respite care users 
- Relatives of all residents and service users 
- Staff  
- A sample of 3,000 older people from across York 

 
• An on-line questionnaire 

- Available on Council website for any member of the public to complete 
 
• Ringing a dedicated voicemail account - Tel: (01904) 554359 
 
• E-mailing a dedicated e-mail account - carehomes.consultation@york.gov.uk 
 
• Writing to:  Care Homes Consultation Feedback, City of York Council,           

10/12 George Hudson Street, York, YO1 6LP. 
 
 

Final report to Cabinet – Tuesday 1 November 

The feedback from this three month consultation period will be collated and 
reported in another report which will be considered by the Council’s Cabinet on 
1 November.  The Council will write to all stakeholders after the meeting to 
communicate any decisions taken by the Cabinet and to outline the next steps. 

Page 134



 1

 

  

   

 
Cabinet  July 19th 2011 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Health, Housing and Adult Social 
Services 
 
Homeless Review 2010/11 

Summary 

1. This report looks at the activity governed by the Housing Act 1996, the 
Homelessness Act 2002 and the City of York Council’s Homelessness 
Strategy 2008-13 in respect of the financial year 2010/11.  The primary 
focus is to report on prevention work, the trends of statutory 
homelessness and the work of the Resettlement Services and Youth 
Homeless Services to outline service developments throughout the year 
and future targets. 

 

Background 
 

2. There is a duty on all Local Authorities to provide an advice service to 
homeless people and those at risk of homelessness in addition to the 
provision of accommodation for certain households in accordance with 
Housing Act 1996.  The remit of the work is set out in legislation and in 
the Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 and the Resettlement and Youth 
Homeless Action Plans.  The management of the official travellers sites 
is also part of this services brief. 

3. The Homeless Strategy 2008-13 sets out 4 strategic aims which have 
been amended in the Housing Options and Homeless Strategy Action 
Plan 2011-13 to: 

a. Strategic aim 1. Ensure people who are at risk of homelessness 
are aware of and have access to the services they may need to 
prevent it. 

 
b. Strategic aim 2. Ensure the provision of, and fair access to, 

accommodation sufficient to meet the identified housing needs 
 

c. Strategic aim 3. Ensure that people with housing related support 
needs have these fully assessed and have access to service 
required to sustain successful independent living and prevent 
homelessness 

Agenda Item 8Page 135



 2

d. Strategic aim 4. Ensure the effective co-ordination of all service 
providers, across all sectors whose activities contribute to 
preventing homelessness and meeting the accommodation and 
support needs of people who are homeless or at risk of 
homelessness.  Following the consultation this strategic aim has 
been changed to ‘Ensure the effective multi-agency and 
partnership working occurs across all services to prevent 
homelessness and provide appropriate accommodation and 
support to meet the needs of people who are homeless or at risk of 
homelessness.’ 

 
Current and Ongoing Targets 

4. The Communities and Local Government (CLG)  and City of York 
Council targets for 2010/11 were to: 

 
• Reduce use of temporary accommodation by 5% by 2011 – from 
79 to 75; 

• Ensure the use of Bed and Breakfast for families and young 
people (16 and 17) is only for emergencies and then for no longer 
than 6 weeks;  

• Increase homeless prevention by 5% from 1076 to 1130; 

• Following publication of ‘No One Left Out: Communities Ending 
Rough Sleeping’ by CLG target to eradicate rough sleeping by 
2012; 

• Achieve housing performance targets;  

• Deliver actions points set out within Homelessness Strategy 
2008-13, Resettlement and Youth Homeless Action plans within 
identified time scales; 

• Contribute to achieving the Local Area Agreement targets;  

Key Points 
 

5. The details of the activity and performance of the service are contained 
in appendix 1.  In light the current economic situation and changes to 
services the key points of this report are: 

 
• The number of homeless preventions (i.e. existing 
accommodation sustained or alternative accommodation secured) 
has reduced, figures for 2010 /11 have reduced from 1076 cases 

Page 136



 3

to 631. Significant increases in homeless preventions were 
achieved in 2009/10  and very challenging targets were set to 
increase the number of homeless preventions in 2010/11 which 
were always going to be difficult to achieve in the current 
economic climate.  In addition to this the reluctance of private 
landlords and lettings agencies to work with our customer groups 
has also impact on our performance, although it should be noted 
that there are a small but valuable number who continue to work 
with us; 

 
• There has been an increase in number of homeless acceptances 
to 183 (from 130).  This trend is constant throughout England and 
Wales; 

 
• The number of rough sleepers has remained low throughout the 
year.  The quarter 3 submission to government (based on new 
assessment criteria) was 2.  Those that remain street homeless 
are encouraged to work with Salvation Army Early Intervention 
and Prevention team to resolve their situation;  

 
• The number of households in temporary accommodation has 
increased due to a very difficult and demanding year.  The target 
originally set in 2009/10 was 110 and following tremendous 
success in it was reduced to 75.  The final number in temporary 
accommodation as of 31/3/11 was 94 which, when considered 
against in the context of the economic climate, is still a significant 
achievement. 

 
Service improvement  -  2010-11 
 

6. A number of service improvements were achieved in 2010/11:  
 

• Relocation of Housing Options service  to Library Square; 

• Confirmation of the continuation of Family Intervention 
Programme (Catalyst Project); 

• Transfer of Bond Guarantee Scheme to CYC;  

• Continuation of YorHome (social lettings agency) with 50 
properties managed as at 31/3/11; 

• Expansion of Single Access Point (supported housing gateway 
scheme) into resettlement services and retention of services in 
2011/12; 

Page 137



 4

• Continuation of multi-agency ‘Accredited training’ – now 59 
‘qualified’ staff providing housing advice across partner agencies;  

• Project 92 (Teenage Parent Housing Support Project) met the 
DCFS targets of working intensively with 30 teenage parents each 
year, plus a further 70 vulnerable young people at risk of 
becoming a teenage parent in the hostels.  Project 92 has 
intensively engaged 67 teenage parents and their babies/ children 
and 143 vulnerable young people and plus 25 parents who have 
occasional contact (attending activities); 

• Joint working with Housing Benefit to tackle Housing Benefit and 
Welfare benefit changes introduced in April 2011. 

• Agreement to upgrade electricity on Gypsy and Traveller sites; 

• Launch of Gypsy and Traveller newsletter; 

• Review of Homeless Strategy Action Plan 2011-13; 

• Review young peoples joint protocol in light of recent court ruling 
G v LB Southwark and Department for Children, Schools and 
Families (DCSF) & CLG Guidance on “Provision of 
Accommodation for 16 and 17 year old young people who maybe 
homeless and/or require accommodation”; 

• Successful provision of emergency accommodation during severe 
weather on December / January – providing emergency 
accommodation for 17 people during this period;   

• Provision of an pro-active responsive service alongside Adult 
Social Care and Housing Estate Management / Repairs Team to 
tackle the flooding in December 2010 (resulting from burst water 
pipes) 

• Improved inter-departmental working with Social Services in light 
of complex eligibility (immigration) cases and referrals under 
National Assistance Act 1948; 

• In principle agreement to develop a young persons ‘Places of 
Change’ hostel – temporarily at Howe Hill and to continue funding 
2 Youth Education Workers in 2011/12; 

• Establishment of resettlement panel 

 

Page 138



 5

Forthcoming projects - 2011/12 

7. The following work is identified in the Housing Options and 
Homelessness Action plan 2011-13 and will be given priority within the 
team in 2011/12: 

• Develop Howe Hill hostel as a young people Places of Change 
Project on a temporary basis, proposed introduction late 2011; 

• Streamlining the Housing Options Team to a generic service; 

• Work to tackle the issues that are associated with homelessness 
such as Worklessness, incorporating advice around employment 
and training into the advice and assistance;  

• Developing the Housing Options model to widen the information 
and advice available to specific groups such as those with 
disability and the elderly; 

• Re-provision of Ordnance Lane – target date 2013 

• Completion of electricity upgrade to travellers sites 

• Work with City Strategy colleagues to ensure the Local 
Development framework (LDF) takes account of housing need of 
travellers & show people; 

• Introduction of sub-regional ‘North Yorkshire Home Choice’ 
choice based lettings scheme; 

• Lead Local Authority for sub regional work around rough sleeping 
(Communities and Local Government funded) 

• The need to prepare for the potential impact as a result of the 
changes to the benefit system.  

• Provision of mental health accommodation 

• Continued expansion of YorHome and development of an arms 
length delivery model 

Consultation  

8.  During 2010/11 there has been significant consultation as part of the 
Homeless Strategy Review and concluded in the publication of the 
Housing Options and Homeless Strategy Action Plan 2011-13.  This 
involved both stakeholders and customers. 

Page 139



 6

Council Objectives 

8. The Homeless strategy is closely link to a number of strategies and 
priorities with the new Council Plan.  

Implications 

Financial Implications 
 

9. There are no direct financial implications to this report, although there is 
evidence that by not investing in preventative measures there is a 
greater cost to the City in the long-term trough failure to met targets and 
pro-actively address homelessness.   

Equalities Implications 
 

10. An equalities impact assessment has been completed for the housing 
options and homeless strategy to ensure that equalities and diversity are 
at the forefront of the service. 

Legal Implications 
 

11. The provision of a homeless service is a statutory requirement under 
Housing Act 1996 and Homelessness Act 2002.  That services adhere to 
national Guidance on “Provision of Accommodation for 16 and 17 year 
old young people who maybe homeless and/or require accommodation”.   

Risk Management 
 

12. The risk is that due to current economic climate that homelessness 
continues to increase, putting significant stains on the homeless and HB 
services. 

13. That short term funded projects are not refunded (YorHome, Single 
Access Point) or that services provided by external agencies are reduced 
due to funding cuts 

14. The risk/s associated with the recommendation of this report are 
assessed at a net level below 16.  The risks have been assessed as 
moderate at 14, the strategy will be regularly monitored at the Homeless 
Strategy Steering Group  

Recommendations 
 

15. The Cabinet is asked to: 

a. note the contents of the report 

Page 140



 7

b. Agree the priorities for 2011/12 as set out in paragraph 50, the targets 
and the forthcoming plan.  

Reason – To ensure the council continues to meet its statutory 
responsibilities and supports the most vulnerable in 
society.  

Contact Details 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 

 
Becky Ward 
Service Manager, 
Homelessness 
Dept Name CAN 
Tel No. 01904 554040 
 
 

 
Steve Waddington  
Assistant Director Housing and Public 
Protection 
 
Report 
Approved ü Date 26/5/11 

 
 

    
Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all All ü 

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers:(provided upon request): 
2008-13 Homelessness Strategy 
2011-13 Housing Options and Homeless Strategy Action Plan (Review)  
 
Glossary: 
B&B  - Bed and Breakfast  
BGS  - Bond Guarantee Scheme  
CAB  - Citizens Advice Bureau  
CBL  - Choice Based Lettings  
CLG  - Communities and Local Government (now Department Communities 

and Local Government) 
CYC  - City of York Council   
RSL  - Registered Social Landlord 
SP  - Supporting People 
YOT  - Youth Offending Team  

Page 141



Page 142

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

 

Homelessness Performance -  2010/11 
 

Resettlement Services 
 

1. During 2010/11 all agencies have worked hard to ensure that the 
numbers of rough sleepers in York was remained low – official figures 
submitted in November 2010 were 2. 

 
2. That due to another extremely harsh winter the severe weather 

procedure was operated for total of 27 nights between November 2010 – 
March 2011, providing emergency accommodation for 17 people.  Arc 
Light accommodated male customers while Peasholme Centre 
accommodated female customers   

 
3. Salvation Army used CYC travel warrant scheme to assisted 109 to 

return home / access accommodation in their local area or out of area 
placements as part of a planned re-housing process 

 
4. During 2010/11, 45 people were rehoused by CYC / Registered Social 

Landlord (RSL) from resettlement and / or young persons projects under 
the planned housing resettlement criteria (resettlement, young people, 
women’s project). 

 
 TOTAL Resettlement Young 

People 
Women’s 
Project 

2008/9 28 20 6 2 
2009/10 28 25 2 1 
2010/11 45 35 9 1 

 
5. Street count (number of rough sleepers as defined by CLG definition) 

March 08 June 08 Sept 08 Dec 08 
5 1 2 0 
March 09 Sept 09 March 10 Nov 10 
2 (V)1 3 0 2 (new)2 

 
Housing Options and Prevention 
 

6. Housing Options is now a well established service offering customers 
comprehensive, individual interviews to discuss their housing issues. 

 

                                                           
1 (V)   = verified street count – with CLG present 
2 (New)  = new CLG submission criteria 

Page 143



Appendix 1 

7. The re-location to Library Square has resulted in less contact regarding 
general housing registrations enquiries enabling staff to concentrate on 
more complex cases.  

 
8. It is still the intention to combine Housing Options and Housing 

Caseworker responsibilities in 2011/12 
 
9. Housing Options Statistics 2010/11 show a marked increase in contacts 

– especially since moving to Library Square.  One day alone there were 
36 interviews! 

 
 TOTAL 
2008/9 640 
2009/10 1556 
20010/11 1900  

 
10. Reduction in preventions may, in part be due to loss of Keyhouse as 

Legal Services Commission housing advice contract in November 2010 
– new contract holder is not required to submit prevention stats.  It may 
also be that the good work of many agencies, in particular estate 
managers is going unrecorded.  Need to increase awareness of this.  

 
Year TOTAL preventions  
2008-9 645 
2009-10 1076 
2010-11 631 

 
11. The CAB Bond Guarantee Scheme and later the CYC Bond Guarantee 

Scheme (BGS) provided 58 new bonds during 2010/11.  There are a 
total of 188 bonds now administered through this scheme.  There were 
27 claims against BGS in 2010/11, total cost £10575.55 which is re-
charged to customers. 

 
12. As of 31/3/10 YorHome managed 50 properties, exceeding the target by 

10.  Target for 31/3/12 is 75. 
 

13. The Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) Housing and Debt Project assisted 
621 households with housing related debt problems. This is above target 
of 600.  The majority of customers continue to be Local Authority tenants 
(59%) this is a reduction from previous year (70%), the others being 
housed with Registered Social Landlords (4.9%) or in private rented 
properties (increase to 12.6% from 6%) or owner occupiers (another 
slight increase from 20% to 23.2%).  Statistics show that there is a 
continuing high level of debt amongst customers 

Page 144



Appendix 1 

 
Level of 
housing 
debt 

Below 
£500 

£501-
£1000 

£1001-
2000 

£2001+ Total 
Customers 

2008/9 47.5% 43.5% 7% 2% 347 
2009/10 19% 55% 12% 14% 595 
2010/11 15.9% 59.6% 13.4% 11.1% 621 
 

14. Young Persons Homeless Workers (Joint Foundation Housing / Pathway 
post) provided advice and support to 136 young people 16 and 17 years 
old ( Supporting People and prevention stats), an increase from 119 in 
2009/10. 

 
15. Nightstop provided emergency bed spaces for 47 referrals (226 nights) 

 
16. Delivery of mortgage prevention service.  During 2010/11 there were 8 (2 

Golden Triangle Scheme which ended in August 2010 and 6 CLG 
scheme) households helped to remain in their homes though detailed 
negotiation, debt advice and use of mortgage rescue schemes.  

 
 

 Golden triangle 
Scheme  

CLG Scheme 

2008/9 8 0 
2009/10 8 3 
2010/11 2 6 

 
Statutory homeless 

 
17. Presentations and acceptances in 2010-11.  The following table shows 

trends over the last 6 years: 
 

 2005/6 2006/7 2007/8 2008/9 2009/10 2010/11 
Presentations 619 505 406 326 207 247 
Total Accepted 
Homeless 

433 213 258 208 130 183 

% 
acceptances 
to 
presentations 

38% 42% 63% 63% 63% 74% 

 
18. Average time to make a decision decreased in 2010/11 to 17.68 days.  

This target of below 33 days has been re-introduced in 2009/10 

Page 145



Appendix 1 

 
 2009/10 2010/11 
Decision time (target) days 33  33 
Decision time (actual) 21.3 17.68 

 
19. The statutory homeless figures show us that homeless acceptances in 

2010-11 were 183 which did not meet the target of exceeding the difficult 
target of 124 for the year, but shows a downward trend apart form 
exceptional year 2009/10. 
 
Trends of accepted homeless households 

 
Priority Need acceptances 2008/9 2009/10 2010/11 
Households with children or pregnant 127 73 89 
Households with physical illness or 
disabilities 

17 9 19 

Violence / Domestic violence 5 5 4 
16 and 17 year olds / vulnerable young 
people 

38 29 40 

Formerly in care (18-20)  1 3 9 
Vulnerable as result of being ‘in care’, 
served in HM Forces, in custody or 
remand  

2 0 0 

Households with mental health issues 16 9 18 
Old age 1 1 0 
Emergency / other 1 1 4 
Asylum Seekers 0 0 0 
TOTAL 208 130 183 
Target   188 124 

 
20. 2009/10 was an exceptional year – in both reducing and preventing 

homelessness.  The general trend (below) in relation to accepted 
homeless remains constant albeit rising after the exceptional year in 
2009/10.  The numbers accepted as a result of mental health / physical 
disabilities has increased.  This may in part be due to complexity of their 
circumstances or changes in housing market (private sector) 

 
21. The reasons why people were accepted in priority remain fairly constant, 

but York still accepts a greater number of young people (increasing to 
27% in 2010/11 from 25% in previous year) than the national average 
(2009/10 7%).  It is hoped that in future, due to G v Southwark ruling and 
new young peoples hostel this will decrease.  
 

Page 146



Appendix 1 

Trends over the last few years  
 

22. Overall number of homeless acceptances has increased to 183 (40%).  
This is replicated across England and Wales which has seen a rise in 
number of homeless acceptances3 (2009 = 31340, 2010 = 42400 which 
is a proportional rise of 34%), after 7 consecutive years of a reduction in 
homeless acceptances.  
 

23. Ethnic monitoring of customers occurs when they present as homeless 
and 96% were completed.  For the period 2010/11 we monitored 247 
people, the majority of whom described themselves as white (93.1%).  
Awaiting analysis of 2011 census for comparison of current ethnic make 
up of York. 

 
24. Housing was recently involved in outreach surgery for Turkish 

community to give general housing options, housing register and rent 
advice. 

 
 White Afro / 

Caribbean 
Indian, 
Pakistani, 
Bangladeshi 

Other Not Known 

2008/9 313 2 1 4 6 
2009/10 201 3 0 3 0 
2010/11 230 3 3 1 10 

 
Reasons for homelessness 
 
Reason for homelessness 
 

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 

Family Licence Termination 
(parental exclusions) 

86 66 70 

Family Licence Termination 
(other) 

30 10 20 

Relationship breakdown (violent) 18 20 29 
Relationship breakdown (other) 14 9 16 
Mortgage arrears repossessions 4 2 1 
Rent arrears 10 2 2 
Loss of Assured Shorthold 
Tenancy 

24 10 19 

Loss of other rented 
accommodation inc NASS 

5 2 6 

                                                           
3 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/housing/housingresearch/housingstatistics/housingstatisticsby/homelessnessstatistics/li
vetables/ table 770 

Page 147



Appendix 1 

Other inc left institution or care, 
emergency, return from abroad, 
sleeping rough, hostel Violence / 
harassment 

17 9 20 

TOTAL 208 130 183 
 
25. In terms of reasons for homelessness, the main features is that: 
 

• parental exclusion / family licence terminations continue to be the 
main reason for homelessness in York – more than 50% of all 
accepted cases, despite continued effort on part of all agencies to 
look for alternative, planned housing solutions to this problem.  

• The number of mortgage repossessions remains low, although 
several households have been assisted through mortgage rescue 
schemes (previous details).  

• The number households losing their homes due to rent arrears 
remains low which ties in with reduction of evictions from Local 
Authority tenancies 

• Number of people loosing their accommodation through loss of 
Assured Shorthold tenancy (AST) has increased which is a 
worrying trend and a possible reflection of state of private rented 
sector 

 
Use of temporary accommodation 

 
26. This table shows the numbers resident in Temporary Accommodation as 

of a specific date (last day of each quarter) and the total number of 
placements per annum.  

 
Accommodation type 31.03.09 31.3.10 31.03.11 
Bed & Breakfast (B&B)  10 0 2 
Total annual placements into 
B&B 

176 60 45 

B&B use as % of all temp 
accommodation  

6% 0% 2% 

Of which – families with 
children/pregnant  

4 0 1 

TOTALS in all temp accom 167 79 94 
Temp targets 160 121 75 
Associated subsidy loss  2008/09  

£167,954 
loss 

2009/10 
£39,485 loss 

2010/11 
£39,366 loss 

 
 

Page 148



Appendix 1 

27. The use of Bed and Breakfast remains low and is now only used in 
exceptional circumstances. The contribution of Housing Benefit since 
2009 to the spend to save budget has had a direct impact on this as 
well as reducing the subsidy loss by circa £120,000. 

 
28. The overall numbers of households in temporary accommodation has 

increased despite significant effort of agencies across York.  The original 
target was to reduce the number in temporary accommodation to 121 by 
31/3/2010 which was achieved but it has risen again to 95 this year 
(previous target for 2010/11 was 110 prior to exceptional outturn in 
2009/10) 

 
29. That levels of rent current arrears continues to decrease from 26K(2009) 

to 17K (2010) to £8183 (2011) exceeding the target to reduce arrears by 
£5k 

 
Review of Homeless decisions 
 
 No of 

reviews 
Upheld Dismisse

d 
Withdraw
n 

Ongoing Court 
cases  

% of 
cases 

2008/9 22 5 10 5 2 0 6.7% 
2009/10 15 5 5 4 1 0 7.2% 
2010/11 17 5 10 1 1 0 6.8% 

 

30. The number of reviews remains low, as have the number of legal 
challenges, we believe due to the consistency of decisions by review 
officer and good practice adopted by caseworkers.  We believe this may 
change in future due to new Legal Services Commission contract holder 

31. The Review Officer now carries out reviews on behalf of Scarborough 
Borough Council, Ryedale Borough Council, Hambleton Borough Council 
and Craven District Council – with income supplementing the spend to 
save budget.  Carried out 20 reviews bringing in £4000. 

Permanent Re-housing. 

32. There has been increased emphasis on preparing people for 
independent living through Project 92 and targeted support provision 
through Single Access Point.  Project 92’s remit was to work with young 
parents (16-19) and potential young fathers (up to 25) to reduce child 
poverty through improving the life chances of the young people and in 
turn their (future) children.  The project tackled budgeting, self esteem, 
sexual health, personal development and during 2 year pilot has worked 
with 143 112 this year) and 67(31 young parents and 55 vulnerable 

Page 149



Appendix 1 

young people in hostels since setting up in July 2009.  This pilot project 
has now ended and some elements of the work incorporated into the 
proposed young peoples Place of Change and is being continued 
through Youth Education workers.  

33. Single Access Point processed 477 referrals for support during year 
2010/11 

34. As of 31/3/11 there were 3750 on the Housing Needs Register an 
increase from 3060 last year.  The current re-review taking place in 
preparation for the introduction of North Yorkshire Home Choice - Choice 
Based Lettings scheme (CBL) in June 2011 is expected to reduce the 
number of live applicants to 2500.  

35. During 2010/11 there were increased offers of accommodation via 
waiting list to potentially homeless which has risen from 23 in 2008/9, to 
89 in 2009/10 and 148 in 2010/11 which is completely in line with the 
prevention agenda. 

36. 16% of all council homes available to let went to homeless households.  

Year Total lets 
(excluding 
transfers) 

Let to homeless Percentage 

2008/9 554 138 25% 

2009/10 478 136 28% 

2010/11 372 59 (inc  CBL) 16% 

 
37. During 2010/11 9% of all Registered Social Landlords (RLS) homes 

available to lets went to statutory homeless households.   

 Total RSL lets to 
CYC (excluding 
affordable homes) 

RSL lets to 
homeless 
households 

Percentage  

2008/9 304 24 8% 

2009/10 278 28 10% 

2010/11 205 19 9% 

 
38. NB. Lets to homeless does not include those housed under  

resettlement category or potentially homeless households (prevention 

Page 150



Appendix 1 

work) but we have recorded on national P1E4 statistics that 148 lets went 
to potentially homeless and as previously mentioned 45 to resettlement 
(although some will be via Registered Social Landlords).  If these 
planned housing and prevention lets were included the number of lets to 
homeless would be considerably higher.  

Future Targets 

39. The forthcoming year has many unknown factors that will affect the 
Housing Options Service and consequently the homeless statistics.  The 
primary concerns are the impact of the new Local Housing Allowance on 
the private rented sector to existing tenants may no longer be able to 
afford rented properties and regarding the availability of properties as 
some landlords may choose not to rent to anyone on Housing Benefit.  In 
addition, the introduction of the new sub-regional choice based lettings 
scheme – Home Choice, while a welcome development to give 
customers more choice and flexibility we are unaware at present how 
this may affect preventative / planned housing and if it will result in 
increased delays in moving people out of hostels.  These issues will be 
closely monitored by the Choice based Lettings Board.   

40. In addition to preparing for these changes the targets for the forthcoming 
year 2010/11 remain constant to: 

• Continue to reduce use of temporary accommodation – new 
targets of 5% year on year.  

• To continue to refrain from using Bed and Breakfast 
accommodation  

• Following publication of No One Left Out: Communities Ending 
Rough Sleeping by Communities and Local Government (CLG) 
target to eradicate rough sleeping by 2012 

• To achieve other Housing Performance Targets as set out in the 
service plan. namely (see table): 

• To deliver actions points set out within Homelessness Strategy 
2008-13, Resettlement action plan, Youth Homeless Action plans 
and Gypsy and Traveller action plan within identified time scales 

 

                                                           
4 P1E is the recognised name of the national homeless recording system.  

Page 151



Page 152

This page is intentionally left blank



 

  
 

   

 
Cabinet July 19th 2011 
 
Report of the Cabinet Member, Health, Housing and Adult Social 
Services 
 
Approval of the Homeless Strategy (Review) 2011 to 2013  

Summary 

1. The purpose of the report is to inform Cabinet of the work undertaken as 
part of the mid term review of the homeless strategy and to approve the 
contents of the Homeless Strategy Action Plan that will cover the period 
between 2011 and 2013.   

2. To agree renaming the document Housing Options and Homeless 
Strategy Action Plan 

Background 

3. The City of York Council has a duty under s.1 (4) of the Homelessness 
Act (2002) to publish a homeless strategy every five years the first 
strategy was published in 2003 and again in 2008.  

4. Key targets in the 2008/13 strategy are to: 

a. Keep rough sleeping as close to zero as possible 

b. Reduce the number of households in temporary accommodation 
by 2010  to half the figure it was in 2004 

c. End the use of Bed and Breakfast accommodation for homeless 
families with children, except in short term emergencies.  

d. End the use of Bed and Breakfast for 16-17 year olds, except in 
an emergency by 2010. 

5. As a result of the 2008-13 strategy and action plan there have been 
some significant achievements in the last three years since the strategy 
was published.  

• Advice and prevention – Establishment of Housing Options 
Service, development of accredited training programme for 

Agenda Item 9Page 153



advice agencies, achieving temporary accommodation targets 
(March 2010) 

• Accommodation – Re-provision of Arc Light and Peaholme 
hostels as ‘Places of Change’, establishment of YorHome (Social 
lettings agency)  

• Support - Development of Single Access Point, expansion of 
MOPP into young peoples services. 

• Partnerships – Successful bid and implementation of Teenage 
Parent Housing Support Project (Project 92), successful bid and 
provision of Family Intervention Project (Catalyst), achieving 
rough sleeper champion status, development of Gypsy and 
Traveller action plan 

6. Whilst significant achievements have been made it is important that  
good work introduced by previous editions of the strategy remain in situ 
namely:   

a. Multi-agency work and training continues; 
 
b. Retain Housing and Debt Project (currently provided by CAB); 

 
c. Retain emergency bed spaces for young people (currently 

provided by n Nightstop); 
 

d. Continue to provide assistance to rough sleepers to return to 
their local area where appropriate (currently operated as  
Salvation Army travel warrant scheme; 

 
e. Continued additional support via CLG grant to provide supported 

accommodation and advice services within resettlement model - 
Salvation Army (Early Intervention and Prevention) and 
Peasholme Charity; 

 
f. Retain a bond guarantee scheme in the city; 

 
g. Continue to provide a severe weather procedure for rough 

sleepers November – March 
 

h. Delivery of Gypsy and Traveller action plan. 
 
 
 

Page 154



Consultation 
 

7. The review of the strategy and ultimately the monitoring of the action 
plan have been overseen by a Homeless Strategy Steering group.  
Membership includes the Primary Care Trust (PCT), NY Probation 
Service, Resettlement Services, Supporting People, Adults, Children and 
Education (ACE) Department of Works and Pensions (DWP) City 
Strategy, Registered Social Landlords, the Voluntary Sector (Keyhouse) 
and Housing Services.  The Homeless Strategy Steering Group agreed 
the draft action plan on 19/1/11 and it was signed off by Housing 
Services Management Team  on 16/3/11. 

 
8. In order to review and update the action plan a series of consultation 

events took place between October  - December 2010 with staff, 
stakeholder and user groups to discuss what further actions were 
required to achieve targets and improve services.  

 
9. Following the completion of the review of the strategy the draft 

documents have been shared with staff and stakeholders for comment. 
 

Options  

10. Option one - To endorse the review of the homeless strategy action plan. 
 

11. Option two To reject / amend the draft strategy action plan 
 

Analysis 
 

12.  The overarching aspiration of the 2008-13 strategy is to eradicate the use 
of emergency accommodation and move towards prevention and 
planned housing options.  In recognition of this the action plan has been 
renamed ‘The Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy Action Plan 
2011-13’ 

 
13. Within the 2008-13 strategy there are four key strands: 
 

a. Strategic aim 1. Ensure people who are at risk of homelessness 
are aware of and have access to the services they may need to 
prevent it 

b. Strategic aim 2. Ensure the provision of, and fair access to, 
accommodation sufficient to meet the identified housing needs 

c. Strategic aim 3. Ensure that people with housing related support 
needs have these fully assessed and have access to service 

Page 155



required to sustain successful independent living and prevent 
homelessness 

d. Strategic aim 4. Ensure the effective co-ordination of all service 
providers, across all sectors whose activities contribute to 
preventing homelessness and meeting the accommodation and 
support needs of people who are homeless or at risk of 
homelessness.  Following the consultation this strategic aim has 
been changed to ‘Ensure the effective multi-agency and partnership 
working occurs across all services to prevent homelessness and 
provide appropriate accommodation and support to meet the needs 
of people who are homeless or at risk of homelessness.’ 

 
14. A brief overview of the strategy and details of what is required over the 

next three years are contained within the action plan see appendix 1 and 
2.  There are some significant themes within the action plan which 
should be noted. 

 
a) The need to prepare for the potential impact as a result of the 

changes to the benefit system. 
b) The need to maximize the access to accommodation both through 

the Private Rented Sector and freeing up accommodation in the 
social sector through initiatives such as tackling subletting, 
encouraging downsizing thereby making family housing available.  

c) Developing the Housing options model to widen the information and 
advice available to specific groups such as those with disability and 
the elderly.  

d) Work to tackle the issues that are associated with homelessness 
such as Worklessness, incorporating advice around employment 
and training into the advice and assistance that is given  

 
15. To achieve the aims set out in the action plan there is a need for both 

members and stakeholder agencies to continue to adapt their working 
practices maintain forward thinking and dynamic policies and pro-actively 
address the future challenges including those which have resulted from 
Comprehensive Spending Review.  

 
Council Priorities 

16. The Homeless strategy is closely link to various strategies. The action 
plan supports the priorities of the council plan . 

Page 156



Implications  

17. Financial Implications - There are no specific financial requests as a 
result of the action plan at present but in committing to the action points 
there may be future request for funding to achieve certain goals 

 
18. Equalities Implications - As part of the process of reviewing the 

homeless strategy an equalities impact assessment was completed.  

19. Legal Implications - The Review and Strategy are legal requirements 
under the Homelessness Act 2002. City of York agreed to review the 
action plan in the 2008-13 strategy 

Risk Management 
 
20. There are no significant risks associated with the recommendations of 

this report.  

Recommendation 

21. The Cabinet is asked to:  

• Approve the contents of the Homeless Strategy Action Plan that will 
cover the period between 2011 and 2013; & 

• Agree renaming the document, ‘Housing Options and Homeless 
Strategy Action Plan’.  

 

Reason: It is a legal requirement that the council has a Homeless 
Strategy, it was agreed within the 2008-13 strategy action plan to update 
and republish in 2011.   

Contact Details 
 
Author: 

 
 
Chief Officer Responsible for the 
report: 

Page 157



Tom Brittain 
Housing Operations 
Manager 
Housing & Public 
Protection 
01904 551262 
 
Becky Ward 
Service Manager, 
Homelessness 
Housing & Public 
Protection 
01904 554040 

Steve Waddington 
Assistant Director  -  Housing and 
Public Protection 
 
Report 
Approved √ 

Date 6th July 2011 
 

 

    
 

 
Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all All √ 

 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers: 
2003/08 homeless strategy 
http://www.york.gov.uk/housing/Homelessness/strategy/ 
 
Annexes 
Appendix 1 - Overview Housing Options and  Homeless Strategy Action Plan 
Appendix 2 – Housing Options and Homeless Strategy Action Plan 2011-13  
 

Page 158



 

 
 
 

York Housing Options and 
Homelessness Strategy 2011-13 

 
A review of York Homelessness 

Strategy 2008-13 
 
 
 

Updated 2011 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 159



Background 
The current Homeless Strategy covers 2008 – 13 and no 
alterations will be made to the main document. The Key targets 
in the 2008/13 strategy were to; 

• Keep rough sleeping as close to zero as possible 

• Reduce the number of households in temporary 
accommodation by 2010  to half the figure it was in 
2004 

• End the use of Bed and Breakfast accommodation 
for homeless families with children, except in short 
term emergencies.  

• End the use of Bed and Breakfast for 16-17 year 
olds, except in an emergency  by 2010. 

and remain fundamentally the same. 
 
Review of action plan 
In line with the strategy, the action plan though was reviewed in 
2010/11, resulting in the removal of completed actions and those 
that are no longer viable or priority. The new action plan has 
been developed following consultation with staff, stakeholders 
and customers and takes into account the changing political and 
financial environment and local needs and demographics. 
 
Main achievements 
The main achievements in 2008-11 have been 

Ø Reprovision of Arc Light and Peasholme hostels 
Ø Successful bid and provision of  Teenage Parent 

Homeless Support Project (Project 92) 

Ø Successful bid and provision of  Family Intervention  
Project (Catalyst) 

Ø Development of accredited training and multi-agency 
working 

Ø Refurbishment of travellers sites 
Ø Development of Gypsy and Travellers action plan 
Ø Achieving Rough Sleeper Regional Champion status 
Ø Introduction of Housing Options Service 
Ø Achieving temporary accommodation target (March 2010) 
Ø Expansion of MOPP into young people services 
Ø Development of Single Access Point 
Ø Development of YorHome (Social letting agency) 
Ø Multi-agency contribution to quarterly statistics (P1E) 
Ø Joined up approach to homeless and Supporting People 

strategies and service contracts 
Ø Creation of Housing Options Service with emphasis on 

prevention and early intervention 
 

Ongoing work 
While not specifically mentioned in the Homeless Strategy Action 
Plan 2011-13 there remains a need for existing services to 
contribute to ever important prevention agenda through advice 
work and the provision of support and accommodation across 
the city. Agencies need to continue to work together, further 
developing  and adapting services to meet the changing needs of 
customers and policy makers. In particular it is important that 
agencies such as Nightstop, Castelgate for Young People, 
Salvation Army (Early Intervention and Prevention team) , CYC 
Housing Options Team  and CAB Housing and Debt Project are 
able to contribute to early prevention work  
 
While not specifically mentioned in the action plan 2011-13 as 
this is  ongoing and established work there is a commitment from 
the Homeless Strategy Executive Group and CYC to retain 

P
age 160



existing services – in particular those funded through the DCLG 
homelessness grant: 

Ø Multi-agency work and training continues 
Ø Retain Housing and Debt Project (currently provided by 

CAB) 
Ø Retain emergency bed spaces for young people (currently 

provided by n Nightstop) 
Ø Continue to provide assistance to rough sleepers to return 

to local area where appropriate (currently operated as  
Salvation Army travel warrant scheme 

Ø Additional support via CLG grant to provide supported 
accommodation and advice services within resettlement 
model - Salvation Army (Early Intervention and 
Prevention) and Peasholme Charity 

Ø Retain a bond guarantee scheme in the city  
Ø Continue to provide a severe weather procedure for rough 

sleepers November - March 
Ø Delivery of Gypsy and Traveller action plan 

 
Main changes 
A significant change has been the renaming of the document as 
‘The Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy Action Plan 
2011-13’ in recognition that homelessness will be reduced 
primarily through prevention work and planned housing. Within 
the action plan itself, the main change is the redefining the 
partnership working in strategic aim 4. The aim is now to ‘Ensure 
the effective multi-agency and partnership working occurs across 
all services to prevent homelessness and provide appropriate 
accommodation and support to meet the needs of people who 
are homeless or at risk of homelessness’ 
 
There are some significant themes and goals within the action 
plan as a response to the current situation of rapidly changing 
policies, financial constraints and legislative changes including: 

Ø The need to prepare for the potential impact as a result of 
the changes to the benefit system. 

Ø  The need to maximize the access to accommodation both 
through the Private Rented Sector and  freeing up 
accommodation in the social sector through initiatives 
such as tackling subletting, encouraging downsizing 
thereby making family housing available.  

Ø  Developing the Housing options model to widen the 
information and advice available to specific groups such 
as those with disability and the elderly.  

Ø  Work to tackle the issues that are associated with 
homelessness such as Worklessness, incorporating 
advice around employment and training into the advice 
and assistance that is given  

Ø Development of specialist young persons accommodation 
in order to eradicate use of B&B for young people 

Ø Re-provision of Ordnance Lane hostel 
Ø Introduction of sub regional choice based lettings 
Ø Improve customer involvement 
Ø Determine how to deliver the need for additional 

accommodation for travelling community 
Ø Provision of mental health accommodation  

 
In order to achieve these goals it is vital that the agencies across 
the city continue to work together, forging new links and 
embracing new ideas and initiatives to help reduce 
homelessness and prepare people for independent living 

P
age 161



P
age 162

T
his page is intentionally left blank



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

Objectives: Why Target/date Lead
1.1 Prevent homelessness, particularly amongst 

households that most frequently present as 

homeless or are most vulnerable.   

Early advice, information and support can 

prevent homelessness occuring.

Reduce acceptances by 20% by 2008/9 

(actual 208 ) and a minimum of 10% 

year on year.

Housing Options and 

Homelessness Manager

Have trained and re-engineered service 

by April 2012

Duncan Watson / Anne 

Marie Douglas

Go live August 2011 Ian Taylor

Update and refresh by June 2011 Alison Davies

Confirm 2011-12 service by April 2011 Tom Brittain

City of York Council Housing Options / casework team to ensure they are able to provide a 

comprehensive advice service in light of Comprehensive Spending Review constraints and 

potential increase in demand due to welfare benefit changes.

Successfully establish the York Choice Based Lettings (CBL) - North Yorkshire Home Choice 
social housing allocations framework.

Improve the council's Housing Options and Homelessness website pages and make them more 

informative, interactive and customer friendly. 

Proposal to maintain advice service and financial support for people with mortgage arrears and 

Strategic aim 1.  Ensure that people who are at risk of homelessness are aware of and have access to the services they 
may need to prevent it. 

Actions:

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

Confirm 2011-12 service by April 2011 Tom Brittain

Service operational and staff trainined 

by Dec 11. Process of early 

identification of siblings by April 2012

Judy Kent

Proposal to maintain advice service and financial support for people with mortgage arrears and 

address government changes to Income Support for Mortgage Interest (ISMI) .

Relevant training around 'New Front Door' service and developing a system to identify young 

people that are at risk of homelessness

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 163



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

1.2 Ensure changes to Housing Benefit / Local 

Housing Allowance rules and move towards a 

'universal benefit' do not translate into homeless 

presentations, through pro-active and timeley 

information, advice and support to affected 

tenants.

Complete publicity campaign for 2011 

chages by April 2011

Duncan Watson /Anne 

Marie Douglas / John 

Madden

Training / presentaion to staff 

completed by April 2011

Mandy Oliver

Training completed April 2011 Duncan Watson / Anne 

Marie Douglas / John 

Madden

1.3 Improve services addressing the needs of all The population of York is becoming more Enhanced Housing Options service  Housing Options and 

Ensure appropriate advice, information and support is available to mitigate the impacts of 

changes to Housing Benefit / Local Housing Allowance rules starting 1 April 2011.  Work 

closely with landlords to minimise the negative impact on tenants.

Improve housing staff knowledge on DWP work and benefits - in light of upcoming changes to 

benefits and addressing worklessness and DWP staff on housing issues (Jobcentre Plus).

Actions:

Ensure HB and HO work together to ensure access to private rented sector for customers in 

light of welfare benefit changes.

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

1.3 Improve services addressing the needs of all 

customers, including the non priority homeless, 

through provision of a wider 'housing options' 

approach.

The population of York is becoming more 

diverse and services need to remain 

accessible to all. Our assessment of services 

found that non-priority homeless customers 

need more help to identify their housing 

options.

Enhanced Housing Options service  

fully operational by Sept 2012.

Housing Options and 

Homelessness Manager

Develop improved customer profiling 

and monitoring systems April 2012

Jo Harrision
Actions:

Enhance our understanding of who our customers are, increasing and diversifying customer 

involvement and access to housing advice and information services. 

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 164



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

Analysis and report completed by April 

2013

Paul McCabe

To review service and introduce 

relevant reccommendations by April 

2013

Anne-Marie Douglas

To ocnfirm services for 2011-12 by 

April 2011

Adam Gray and George 

Vickers CAB
Published by April 2011 Peter Hart

Protocol completed by April 2012 Angie Crossland

Draft information produced and 

discussed at DA forum by April 2012

Jo Beilby

Information and contacts established 

by 01/04/2012

Judi Dove

Re-structure agreed and in place  by 

December 2011

Tom BrittainAdequate planning and preparation for internal CYC re-structures within Housing that affect

Housing Options service, including re-branding.

Ensure victims of domestic violence are aware of  and can access appropriate services, in 

particular G&T. 

Improve advice for young offenders - develop YOT protocol. 

Review York Offender Protocol and publish results.

Develop appropriate information and contacts for customer groups that may not use the

Housing Options service, such as the elderly, learning difficulties. 

Ensure adequate debt advice in York to meet needs

Ensure all services meet the cultural needs of customers. 

Understand the growth of ethnic minorities and ensure development of appropriate provision 

and services. 

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

Joint agreement and training in place 

April 2012

Mandy Oliver

Joint agreement and training in place 

April 2012

Mandy Oliver

1.4 Reduce the number of young people, including 

teenage parents, accepted as homeless.

The number of young people presenting / 

accepted as homeless in York is relatively 

high.

Maximum of 27 acceptances by 

20012/13 (representing a 10% 

reduction year on year).

Service Manager - 

Pathway Team

Widen out the remit of Housing and Housng Options to provide a more comprehensive service

looking to incorporate advice on employment. 

Widen out the remit of DWP and Job Centres to provide a more comprehensive service looking

to incorporate advice on housing. 

Actions:

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 165



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

New service, protocols, joint working in 

place April 2012

Jenny Bullock

Decsion by March 2011 Sandra Hirst / Amanda 

Gaines

Comprehensive programme of 

education and servies in resettlement 

services by December 2011.

Amanda Gaines/Yvonne 

Morrisey

Redesign service by April 2013 more4york

1.5 Improve levels of customer satisfaction with 

homelessness advice and information services 

(Housing Options services).

Use as a monitoring tool to ensure a quality 

service informed by customers.

Minimum 90% satisfaction by 2013. Housing Options and 

Homelessness Manager

Provison of relevant training, change in 

working practice by March 2012

Anne Marie Douglas

Further improve communications options (eg e-mail enquires, confidential helpline, touch 

information points, texting).

Review the advice service to young people in light of the HH/Foyer project. 

Increase the skills and confidence of staff to make customer involvement central to their 

daily work. 

Sex education and empowerment work to be intergrated within the resettlement programme .

Transfer of peer education, early intervention and outreach work in targeted schools/areas to 

voluntary sector.

Actions:

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

Recommendations by March 2012 Tim Carroll

Review of leaflets completed by 

December 2011

Alice Walker

Relevant traning / dicvsussions and 

changes to be completed by March 

2012

Den Southall

CBL interactive August 2011 Den Southall

Embed principles of Housing Options in Housing Registrations and ensure effectiveness of 

service in light of new CBL

Review of leaflets across the city for accurate up to date information and give accurate 

information about rights and respsonibilites. 

Improve communications with customers to keep informed of situation (can be linked to CBL)

Increase customer involvement and influence at the operational and strategic level (eg 

introduce tenant inspectors in Temporary Accommodaiton) 

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 166



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

1.6 Improve knowledege of and access to housing 

information and advice services for 

BME/Migrant worker households.

A study in 2008 found that BME/Migrant 

worker households did not always know 

about the services available or how to 

access them.

Increased knowledege of services for 

this customer group by March 2013

Housing Options and 

Homelessness Manager

Becky Ward.

Objectives: Why Target/date Lead officer

2.1 Increase the supply of affordable housing 

and maximise the use of existing housing 

stock.

There is a shortage of affordable 

homes in the city to meet identified 

needs .

151 affordable homes in 2008/9, 

146 in 2009/10,  252 in 2010/11, 

150 in 2011/12 and 125 in 2012/13. 

Housing Strategy 

Manager

Work with Supporting People services to increase awareness of housing advice and information 

services to BME migrant worker households.

Strategic Aim 2. Ensure the provision of and fair access to accommodation sufficient to meet identified housing needs.

Actions:

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

stock. needs . 150 in 2011/12 and 125 in 2012/13. 

60% for rent and 40% discount for 

sale

Paul Landais Stamp

Analysis and report by April 2012 Paul Landais Stamp

HSMT decsion by 2012 Den Southall

HSMT decsion by April 2012 Mel Cant

HSMT report by April 2012 Paul Morrision

Retain appropriate split between housing for rent and housing for discount sale. Link to 

Housing strategy to ensure that appropriate balance is achieved.

Explore ways to reduce under occupation in the private and social rented sectors 

If legislated, ensure customers can access RSL 'affordable rent' properties

If legislated, introduce process to enable customers can access PRS as a qualifying offer

Increase level of fraudulent investigation into non occupation / sublietting of social housing

Actions:

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 167



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

2.2 Increase access to the private rented sector for 

homeless or potentially homeless households, 

including ensuring good quality  property 

standards and management.

Homeless and potentially homeless 

households can face barriers to accessing 

the private rented sector.

44 qualifying offers in general private 

rented accommodation 2008/9, 

increasing by 10% year on year.

Housing Operations 

Manager

75 properties by March 2012 Duncan Watson / Anne 

Marie Douglas / Dave 

Knowles
HSMT report Jan 2012 Duncan Watson / Anne 

Marie Douglas / Dave 

Knowles
To be confirmed.

Agreement by HSMT to retain in house 

of transfer to Credit Union by June 

2012

Becky Ward

Trusatees in place by August 2011 Becky Ward / Paul 

Work closely with private sector lanldords in light of planned freedoms for local authorities to 

discharge homeless duty into the private rented sector.

Expand YorHome and make self sufficient. Also to develop for single people/resettlement 

customers. 

Re-assess the conditions and incentives for YorHome, and consider developing YorHome into a 

social enterprise.

Maintain and develop an effective bond gaurantee / rent deposit schemes

Actions:

Establish systems to access Trustees for YP (16 and 17) for all social hosuing tenancies 

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

Trusatees in place by August 2011 

(CBL)

Becky Ward / Paul 

Morrsion

2.3 Reduce the use of temporary accommodation 

whilst improving the standard of temporary / 

hostel provision where it exists.

Putting households in temporary 

accommodation is expensive and does not 

always result in good outcomes.  Some 

hostel accommodation  is not best suited to 

the needs of those that stay in it.

Continue to reduce the number of 

households in temporary 

accommodation by a minimum of 5% 

year on year (from a baseline of 79 in 

2009/10).  

Housing Operations 

Manager

March-13 Tom Brittain

Establish systems to access Trustees for YP (16 and 17) for all social hosuing tenancies 

(requirement for CBL). Ammende tenacy agreements accordingly

Re-provsion of Ordnance Lane scheme with Yorkshire Housing. 

Actions:

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 168



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

71 by April 2012 Becky Ward

Standard in place September 2011 Anne Marie Douglas / 

Andy Wilcox
New rent levels in place April 2011 Debbie Mitchell

2.4 End the use of bed and breakfast accommodation 

for all homeless applicants except in short term 

emergencies. 

There are national targets to end use of 

bed and breakfast accommodation.

No 16/17 year olds in B&B by 2009/10 

and no other households by 20012/13.

Housing Options and 

Homelessness Manager

0 16/17 year olds in temp 

accommodation by March 2010

PaulLandais- Stamp

0 16/17 year olds in temporary 

accommodation by March 2010

PaulLandais- Stamp

Report completed February 2012 Angie Crossland / Jenny 

Bullock
2.5 Increase the use of housing association (RSL) 

lets for homeless and potentially homeless 

households.

There is scope to make better use of 

opportunities within the RSL sector.

Minimum 25% RSL lets by 2008/9. Housing Options and 

Homelessness Manager

Establish a decent standard for hostel accommodation

Restucture CYC hostel rents to incoprorate housing management fee

Reduce use of B&B for 16/17 year olds through provision of specialist foyer scheme

Actions:

Retain low numbers of households in temporary accommodaiton

Provsion of suitable supported accommodation for young parents

Develop remand foster care / supported accommodation for complex / high risk offenders

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

households.

All RSL adhere to nomination 

agreements and accept reasonable 

proprtion of homeless households 

01/04/2011

Kate Spence

Confirm services by January 2012 Carl Wain

Report to CBL board by June 2012 Denis Southall / Tim 

Carroll

Ensure that accommodation based services are retained in light of CRS budget cuts

Monitor impact of CBL  - in particular around resettlment category and care leavers

Monitor and enforce nomination rights RLS

Actions:

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 169



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

2.6 Increase the provision of specialist 

accommodation for young people, such as a 

Foyer, and improve pathways through services.

We need to provide planned pathway 

through services and to ensure young people 

are prepared to sustain tenancies when 

offered them.  Current emergency 

accommodation is is not a suitable pathway.

100% young people accessinig specialist 

accommodation with support by 2013.

Housing Operations 

Manager

Conmfirm services by September 2012 Carl Wain

December-12 Carl Wain

See above Becky Ward

2.7 Reduce the number of people with mental illness 

and complex needs coming through the homeless 

route through the provision of more specialist 

Information from the Primary Care Trust 

indicates there are a small but significant 

number of chronic psychosis, substance 

None by  March 2013. PCT

Ensure that Supporting People reviews of YP and homeless (accommodation based) services 

continue to provide necessary bedpaces and develop additional resources when identified as a 

priority. 

Actions:

Embed referral process through Single Access Point and maintain quality of service.

Develop specialist tier 1 provision for 16/17 years olds , such as YP 'Places for Change' 

project. Seek approval to use Howe Hill on a temporary basis for YP 'Places for Change' 

project. and secure revenue funding for the scheme. 

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

route through the provision of more specialist 

accommodation.

number of chronic psychosis, substance 

misuse and chaotic lifestyle customers who 

have difficulties sustaining a tenancy .

Formal propsal by April 2012 Andrew StephensonDevelop specialist MH provision

Actions:

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 170



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

2.8 Ensure the accommodation needs of Gypsies and 

Travellers are addressed, based on findings of 

the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 

Assessment (July 2008).

To ensure service meets needs of customer 

groups and LA meets its statutory 

responsibility (re planning).

Develop a Gypsy and Traveller service 

plan  by March 2010. Consider 

recommendations from the  needs 

assessment  showing need for 36 

additional pitches by 2013.

Housing Strategy and 

Enabling Manager

2.8 36 G&T pitches and 19 showpeople 

plots 

Gail Goodhall

2.8 LDF completed by 2013 Kate Grandfield

2.8 Comprehensive reprt about G&T 

servies to HSMT Jan 2012

Anne Marie Douglas

2.9 End rough sleeping by 2012. Government target. No people sleeping rough by 2012. Resettlement Manager

July-05 Tim Carroll

Actions:

Work with planning to identify potential travellers sites (public and private) in Local 

Actions:

Review the future management of sites, using findings from the G&T accommodation assessment, 
best practice and best value

Widen safety net approach to working with service users to include secondary supported 

Identifying traveller sites thorugh Planning - Allocations DPD and Area Action Plan for private 

/ public development

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

July-05 Tim Carroll

Formal report and discssion at R/S 

strategy by December 2012

Dave Knolwles

## Review the provision and need for specialist 

services for women (include womens centre).

Supporting People recommendations to 

Homelessness strategy group by Jan 

2011.  

Supporting People 

Manager

Actions:

Widen safety net approach to working with service users to include secondary supported 

housing providers and explore if possible with CYC and RSL accommodation

Look at good practice to develop inovative ideas to 'eradicate' rough sleepers

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 171



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

Research compelted April 2012 Peter Hart and Dave 

Knowles

Objectives: Why Target/date Lead

3.1 Improve joint assessment and joint care planning 

for vulnerable customers.

To ensure that customer receive all services 

necessary to enable them to live sucessfully 

in the community.

100% of vulnerable customers that 

require a multi-agency approach  

receiving joint assessment and/or care 

planning by March 2011.

Resettlement Manager

To carry out research to establish need for additional services/ assessmewnt of service 

delivery for women

Strategic Aim 3. Ensure that people with housing related support needs have these needs fully assessed and have access to 
services required to sustain successful independent living and prevent homelessness.

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

Report by Augsut 2011 Tim Carroll

Agreement by April 2012 Becky Ward

Confirmation by April 2011 Tom Brittain

In principle agreement sand report to 

HSMT by December 2011

Tim Carroll

Report and discssion at Youth HL 

strategy by April 2012

Jenny Bullock

SAP: look at expanding into all services, not just SP funded.

Look to develop a protocol agreeing that when a customer is accepted as homeless with a 

vulnerability the appropriate health / social care services are provided 

Commitment to mainstream essential projects, eg Project 92, FIP

Develop an agreement to ensure that customers who are vulnerable / complex needs (including 

those accepted as homelessdue to vulnerability) to provide an intensive multi- disciplinary 

package of support.

Actions:

Re-evaluation of YP services and multi-agency working to ensure any change in services 

continue to tackle HL  

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 172



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

Explore options and report to Youth 

HL strategy by December 2011

Chris Plowman

Report to Youth HL strategy by 

December 2011

Alison Wheately

3.2 Increase tenancy sustainment through the 

provision of appropriate support.

Research has shown a high level of failed 

tenancies.  We need to address isolation and 

provide ongoing informal support.

90% of 16/17 year olds in temporary 

accommodation successfully retaining 

their tenancies by 2013.

Tenancy Services 

Manager

Decsion by December 2011 Tom Brittain

Report to Youth HL strategy by April 

2011

Maggie Allen

Inclusion in tender contracts by April 

2012

Carl Wain

Report to Youth HL strategy group by Rachel BassettEstablish a formal system to monitor / analyse failed tenancies and abandonments

Retain vital support services in light Comprehensive Spending Review and Supporting People  

review.

Formally review role and value of mediation and organise relevant training if agreed by Youth 

HL strategy. 

Develop drop-in support for people on SP waiting list or where support has ended (inc YP 

services)

Worklessness--work with external providers to ensure there is relevant training/ 

apprenticeships/volunteering/job placements for YP.

Improve the programme of support and development for YP (passport to housing) to reduce 

failed tenancies

Actions:

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

Report to Youth HL strategy group by 

September 2011

Rachel Bassett

3.3 Increase the number of people with mental 

illness and complex needs achieving independent 

living through the provision of more specialist 

support.

Not all customers with these needs are  

successfully progressing to independent 

living due to limited support.  Current 

procedures prevent a reactive approach to 

crisis if customer is not know to mental 

health services.

To be confirmed. PCT

In popst by March 2011 Dawn Moores

Establish a formal system to monitor / analyse failed tenancies and abandonments

Provide specialsit mental health support for young people (joint with Castelgate)

Actions:

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 173



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

Initial contact and discussion talke 

place by December 2012. Report to 

R/S strategy

Tim Carroll

3.4 Ensure support services meet the needs of all 

groups including those from the black and 

minority ethnic communities.

York has an increasing diverse population. Subject to report recommendations in 

March 2011.

Housing Options and  

Homelessness Manager

Re-establish a formal consultaiton / 

customer invlvement process by April 

2012

Anne-Marie Douglas

Confirm service gaps and funding 

following review of DAT by September 

2011

Amanda Gaines / Leigh 

Bell

Report to HL Exec by December 2012 Dave Knowles

Involve G&T communities in development and improvement to services.

Formalise service user involvement across the city.

Consider provision of specialsit drug support across hostels

Develop closer working links with mental health assertive outreach team so that crisis is 

managed in a cooprdinated way between services.

Actions:

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

Objectives: Why Target/date Lead

Strategic Aim 4. Ensure the effective multi-agency and partnership working occurs accross all services to provide 
appropriate information, accommodaiton and support to meet the needs of people who are homeless or at risk of 
homlelessness.

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 174



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

4.1 Strong local authority leadership on the 

homelessness agenda.

Tackling homelessness and its causes 

requires the involvement of a wide range of 

service providers.  The local authority can 

play a key role in articulating local needs and 

coordinating appropriate responses .

Support and enable delivery of the 

agreed strategic aims and objectives 

by March 2013.

Housing Operations 

Manager

Agreed strategy by December 2011 Tom Brittain

Agreed protocol by December 2011 Tom Brittain

To attend by June 2011 Carl Wain / Steve 

Waddington

Completed April 2013 John Madden

Local authority should increase the involvement of key stakeholders, such as private sector 

landlords, developers and housing associations in the direction and delivery of strategic 

housing services in the city. 

Housing to be represented on SP Board

Pro-actively tackle forthcoming proposed changes around HB/ Welfare benefits - including 

Actions:

Raise the profile of homeless services across the city and publicise the successes. Need to 

develop marketing strategy.

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

Completed April 2013 John Madden

Agree chages to website by June 2011 Alsion Davies

4.2 A greater role for a wider set of agencies in 

tackling homelessness and a greater use of 

shared protocols and agreed principles for joint 

working.

Government is wanting RSLs to play a 

greater role in tackling homelessness.

All relevent RSLs to agree a 

homelessness action plan by March 

2009.

York RSL Liaison Group 

led by York Housing 

Association 

Actions:

Pro-actively tackle forthcoming proposed changes around HB/ Welfare benefits - including 

liason with landlords, training, establsihing new solutions

Publicise aschievments via CYC website (quarterly statitics)

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 175



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

4.2 Update by June 2011 Becky Ward

Process agreed by may 2011 Jo Beilby DVC

Protocol agreed by December 2011 Becky Ward

Review HL strategy group September 

2011

Tom Brittain

Formalise refaral informaiton by 

September 2011

Alice Walker

To resetablish meetings by June 2011 Becky Ward

Protocol in place by Apr 12 Becky Ward

Re-establish  liaison meetings between PCT (Mental Health Services) and the local authority 

to ensure  that moves into and out of these service are planned, including young peoples 

services.
Develop and establish relevent protocols between PCT (general hospital services), 

accommodation and support providers and the local authority to ensure  that moves in and out 

of these service are planned.

Review information sharing protocol and streamline (combine). To include RSL's 

Develop and Coordinate a process for HL to access MARAC information. Improved Info 

Sharing for Victim and Perpetrator

Formalise and develop role of accredited staff through ongoing training, IT, partnership 

working 

Ensure the right people are on the right groups/strategy/exec, etc. 

Ensure advice links into other pathway referral routes, not just HL. 

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

4.3 Increased sharing of information between 

agencies and more joint training to promote 

wider understanding of homelessness and its 

prevention.

To strengthen local partnerships and 

increase organisational capacity to tackle 

homelessness.

Increased awareness and 

understanding by those involved in 

delivering homelessness services 

(measured through annual staff 

consultation commencing 2008/9).

Resettlement Manager

Incorporate into Child Poverty 

Strategy 01/04/2011

Bernie Flannagan

of these service are planned.

Actions:
Ensure Homeless Strategy links to child poverty strategy. 

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 176



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

Report to HL strategy exec by April 

2012

Jeremy Jones

Undertake research and present to 

youth HL strategy by April 2012

Bernie Flannagan

Joint prototocol in place by September 

2011

Jenny Bullock / Tim 

Carroll

Agree traiing programme and 

information distribution by December 

2011

Becky Ward

Agreements in place June 2011 Den Southall

Operational by March 2011 Jenny Bullock

Improve process June 2011 Anne-Marie Douglas / Tim 

Carroll

Establish joint working processes, shared culture, interagency respsonibilities for new Howe 

Hill project (inc DWP, YOT). if progressed 

Improve links with local councillors to ensure members understand impact/cross 

benefits/value for money when agreeing area-based grants. 

Partnership external agencies on SX3 and Abitas. CBL-preparation of staff, support for 

customers if necessary. 

Ammend YP joint protocol in light of G v Southwark 

Risk assessments- better joint working/sharing of information to improve support. 

Imporve links between alcohol related health issues and housing. 

Use ward profiles to determine potential homeless 'hotspots'. 

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

4.4 Increased and ongoing customer consultation to 

inform the development of future services and 

increased awareness within BME households of 

the housing and support servioes available.  

To ensure the needs of customers are fully 

understood and test if services are 

responsive to these needs.  We know a key 

problem BME and migrant worker 

households have is knowing about and 

accessing services.

Establish an agreed framework for 

customer consultation / customer 

insight by 2008/9.   Greater knowledge 

within BME households of the housing 

services available and how to access 

them by March 2013.

Supporting People 

Manager

4.4 Consolidate existing systems and 

establish meaningful alternitive March 

2012

Alison Davies

Actions:

Introduce regular ethnic minority profiling and monitoring and ensure data is analysed and 

used to inform service improvement and development

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 177



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

4.4 SLA agreed by Apr 11 Adam Gray

4.5 Ensure the services provided are relevant and 

staff are adequately trained.

Review services and budgets in light of 

CSR 2010 and government funding 

settlements by March 2011.

Housing Options and 

Homelessness Manager

Report to HL forum by September 

2011

Alex Hunt / Abi Burton

Training programme agreed and 

completed by December 2012

Paul Morrision / Abi 

Burton 

Training completed by October 2011 Jo Beilby DVC / Abi 

Burton 

Training completed by March 2012 Jo Beilby DVC / Abi 

Review multi-agency training including support workers group, accredited training across 

homeless sector in conjunction with other services

All housing staff trained about education/benefits/Housing Options. 

Housing Staff trained on local provision for DV Victims, Perps and Children. Furnished with 

tools to signpost.

Staff trained on issues of Forced Marriage and Honour based Violence and managing 

Look to establish clear service level agreement with Travellers Trust

Actions:

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

Training completed by March 2012 Jo Beilby DVC / Abi 

Burton 

December-12

Consultaion by September 2011 Becky Ward

Rep[ort to RS strategy and Youth HL 

strategy June 2011

Tim Carroll

Staff trained on issues of Forced Marriage and Honour based Violence and managing 

restricted information.

Conduct impact assessments--health, working/DWP, wealth.

Review value of homelessness / accredited / tenancy sustainment training and agree future 

training programme. 

Agree core training and forums for staff involved in homelessness / housing options and 

training providers. 

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 178



York Housing Options and Homelessness Strategy 2008-13 Action Plan

Report to HSMT June 2011 Tom Brittain

* CYC = City of York Council  / PCT = York and North Yorkshire Primary Care Trust / CAB = Citizens Advice Bureau  

Evaluate the impact of cuts on partnership approach/pathway. 

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

08/07/11
13:24
$0aw0snx1.xls

P
age 179



P
age 180

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

 

Cabinet 
 

 
19 July 2011 

A report of the Cabinet Member for Leisure, Culture and Social 
Inclusion 

 
 

Strengthening the Capability and Capacity of York’s Voluntary 
Sector 
 

Summary 

1. The Cabinet is asked to approve a proposal for the use of the new  
£100k fund for the voluntary sector in York. 

Background 

2. The City of York Council Plan, 2011-2015 clearly articulates the 
Council’s aspirations and priorities over forthcoming years. Key 
themes and actions contained within the plan focus upon building 
vibrant communities and protecting York’s most marginalised and 
vulnerable citizens.  

3. The plan emphasises the importance of the York’s voluntary sector, 
both as service providers and advocates for vulnerable, 
marginalised individuals in the City. 

4. To facilitate these outcomes Council approved, in June this year, a 
£100k ‘pump priming’ fund for the voluntary sector, with the aim of 
building the capacity of the sector to deliver against priorities 
identified in the Council Plan.  

5. The intention is for York Council for Voluntary Service (CVS) to act 
as the accountable body for this additional £100k year-on-year 
funding. The Neighbourhood Management Unit would be 
responsible for regular contract management, carefully monitoring 
progress against agreed outputs and outcomes. 

Proposal 

6. It is proposed to allocate the £100k funding against the following 
priorities: 

Agenda Item 10Page 181



               £  
Creating a strong, successful City Volunteering 
Centre 

30,000 

  
This funding will enable the continued work of the Volunteer 
Centre operating at 3 days per week.  It will also provide for a 
micro bursary support scheme for organizations facing difficulties 
in recruiting and retaining key volunteers with specialist skills.  
Additional services will be introduced such as “time banking”, 
volunteering pilots,  work on developing “real-time” volunteering 
using social media platforms, support for volunteering as a route 
into employability, and volunteering programmes for vulnerable 
adults. 
   
Voluntary Sector Bursary Scheme - New 
Business Models 

30,000 

 
Grants will enable voluntary organizations to trial or develop new 
business models including trading companies and fundraising 
initiatives, including for groups who need to expand existing 
activity. 
   
Voluntary Sector Projects – Neighborhood 
Based Initiatives 

40,000 

  
This funding would enable the voluntary sector to establish 
projects and initiatives that directly respond to community need 
evidenced through area working.  It will take the form of a 
combination of microgrants to individual projects and direct funding 
for more city-wide strategic approaches that may arise through the 
voluntary sector’s participation in area working tasking groups.   
 
Total 
 

100,000 

Projected Outputs and Outcomes 

7. Specific outputs against which the scheme will be measured in its 
first year of operation include the following: 

• Numbers of new social enterprises and mutuals successfully 
supported into creation. 

• % increase in residents participating / establishing volunteering 
projects in their local communities. 

Page 182



• Numbers of volunteers brokered into statutory and voluntary 
sector services. 

• Numbers of voluntary sector organizations supported to be 
involved in CYC service delivery. 

 
8. This in turn will translate in the following overarching outcomes: 

• More organizations are better able to offer volunteering 
opportunities.  

• More organizations consult with the York Volunteer Centre for 
advice and information on good practice and for volunteer 
matching and brokerage. 

• Volunteers have increased skills, confidence and social capacity  
• More voluntary organizations have improved their readiness to 

contract with statutory services.  
• More voluntary organizations have improved their readiness to 

increase service delivery.  
• More voluntary organizations have explored new business 

models, e.g. social enterprise, trading arms, new fundraising 
initiatives and income diversification.  

• More small voluntary organizations  facing difficulties have 
received support to become sustainable; including access to an 
organizational health check or community accounting.  

 
Consultation 

9. York CVS have consulted extensively with the wider voluntary sector 
in York to determine their support for the proposal. There were three 
key areas where it was felt that additional support was required: 

• Support for residents to access community based volunteering 
opportunities.  

• Greater understanding of collaborative working, including 
development of voluntary consortia / reduced back office costs. 

• Support for investigating new voluntary sector business models / 
income generation mechanisms. 

 
Options 

10. Members are recommended to approve the allocation of an 
additional £100k funding to the voluntary sector in York to support 
the specific strands of activity, and deliver against the outputs and 
outcomes outlined above.  An alternative option would be for 

Page 183



members to amend and adjust the above priorities, activities and 
outcomes as appropriate. 

Analysis 

11. Approval of the recommended option would build the scope and 
capacity of York CVS to deliver an enhanced package of support to 
the wider voluntary sector in York, developing the capacity and 
capability of the voluntary sector to engage with volunteers, support 
marginalised communities and explore new methods of cross sector 
collaboration and co-production. It would also allow CVS to extend 
the opening hours of the York Volunteer Centre, a critical resource 
in the City.  

12. A wide variety of alternative options for the allocation of the £100k 
additional funding could be considered. However, the recommended 
option has been drawn up in close consultation with the Chief 
Executive of York CVS and the wider voluntary sector. All parties 
concerned have agreed that the proposal will ensure robust 
deliverables and will impact positively on the voluntary sector. 

Corporate Priorities 

13. The allocation of an additional £100k funding to the voluntary sector 
would make a direct contribution to the following specific outcomes 
listed in the draft City of York Council Plan: 

• Improved volunteering infrastructure in place to support 
increasing numbers of residents to give up their time for the 
benefit of the community 

• Increased participation of the voluntary sector, mutuals and not-
for-profit organisations in the delivery of service provision 

 
Implications 

14. Financial:  The budget set in February approved an increase in 
funding to the voluntary sector of £93k.  The amendment to the 
budget approved by Council in June this year further increased this 
uplift by £7k giving a total funding uplift of  £100k.  This brings the 
total of the Council’s core grant funding to the voluntary sector in 
2011/12 to £376k.   The additional £100k is ongoing funding; 
however, given the need to be aware of the financial pressures, 
commitments have not been made for future years but will be 
reviewed as part of the 2012/13 budget process.   

Page 184



15. Equalities:  The fund will enable targeting of support towards 
activities which contribute towards all the equality outcomes set out 
in the draft Council Plan. It will be a requirement of all recipients of 
CYC funding to demonstrate and evidence their commitment to 
equal opportunities in the work of their organisations, in line with the 
Equalities Act 2010. 

16. Legal:  The additional funding set out in this report is made under 
section 2 of the Local Government Act 2000 (other financial 
assistance). 

17. There are no Human Resources, Crime and Disorder, 
Information Technology, Property, or other implications arising 
from this report. 

Risk Management 

18. The potential risks range from failure of York CVS (as the 
accountable body for the £100k funding) to deliver the agreed 
service at the appropriate standard, to the closure of the 
organisation as a whole with consequential loss of funds. These 
types of risks have been considered and will be dealt with carefully 
through the monitoring, assessment and agreement process put in 
place by the Council.  

19. The Neighbourhood Management Unit would be responsible for 
overarching contract management, carefully monitoring progress 
against agreed outputs and outcomes. Distinct lines of reporting and 
accountability to City of York Council against the outputs and 
outcomes listed in paragraphs 7 and 8 would be established.  

20. If members agree to this allocation of funding the next step would be 
to draw up a detailed SLA between the Council and York CVS.  This 
SLA would set out the criteria for the two funds that are to be made 
available, advertised and distributed, and the appropriate 
mechanisms for allocating funding.  This will include the 
establishment of a steering committee to oversee the funds onto 
which York CVS will co-opt the Executive Member for Leisure, 
Culture and Social Inclusion.   

21. The SLA will also set out the reporting arrangements by which CVS 
will account for the use of the funding.  The SLA will also set out that 
part of the £100k funding that will need to be used to fund CVS’s 
costs in administering the funding. 

Page 185



Recommendations 

22. Members are asked to approve the allocation of an additional £100k 
funding to support the voluntary sector in the City, specifically 
focused around building the capacity and capability of local 
voluntary bodies to diversify income streams and deliver joined-up 
services at a neighbourhood and City-wide level, and extending the 
opening hours and provision of the City Volunteering Centre 

Reason: To increase the scope and build the capacity of York CVS 
to strengthen the fabric of the voluntary sector in the City. 
 

 
Contact Details 
 
 
Author: 

 
Cabinet Member responsible for 
the report: 

Adam Gray 
Senior Partnership Support 
Officer 
Neighbourhood 
Management Unit 
551053 
 
Kate Bowers 
Head of Neighbourhood 
Management 
Neighbourhood 
Management Unit 
551817 

 
Cllr. Sonja Crisp 
 
Report 
Approved  Date  

    

 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)    N/A 

Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all Al
l 

X 

 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
 
Background Papers:  N/A 
 

Page 186



 

 

  
 

   

 
Cabinet 19 July 2011 
 
Report of the Cabinet Member for City Strategy 
 
High Speed Rail Consultation – The Council’s response to the 
Government’s consultation 

Summary 

1. The purpose of this report is to present a draft of the Council’s 
response to the Government’s ‘High Speed Rail Consultation’ on its 
proposed high speed rail network (HS2) This provides an opportunity 
for Cabinet to instruct any necessary changes to the draft before the 
Council’s response is submitted on or before the closing date. 

 
Background 

 
2. A report entitled ‘High Speed Rail’ was presented to Executive on 11 

May. This report: 
 
i. Advised on the Government’s initiative to create a new company 

- High Speed Two - to investigate the high speed rail issue 
ii. Set out the position of the Leeds City Region 
iii. Advised on the outcome of a review, undertaken by ARUP on 

behalf of the council, to establish the policy position for York. 
 
3. Executive, on 11 May 2011, resolved: 

 
i. That the policy position for York, as set out in the Arup review, 

be agreed and that further work be focused on: 
 

a) reducing journey times between Leeds and York, 
particularly through the electrification of the line between 
Leeds and York; 

b) promoting the benefits of any HS2 [high speed rail] 
parkway stops being located to the east of Leeds, and  

c) securing shorter term improvements to the East Coast 
Main Line (ECML) 

 

Agenda Item 11Page 187



 
ii. That Members and Officers continue to lobby though the 

appropriate forums for ongoing investment in the ECML 
 

 
 
4. The report to presented Executive also stated that a consultation on 

the detailed recommended alignment between London and the West 
Midlands will take place in the autumn [of 2010]. Furthermore, 
Ministers had also requested High Speed Two undertake detailed 
work on route options for the lines from the West Midlands to 
Manchester, Sheffield and Leeds for early 2012. 
 

5. In February 2011, the Government released its ‘High Speed Rail: 
Investing in Britain’s Future’ consultation. The closing date for 
responses to this consultation is Friday 29 July 2011. 
 
 
City of York Council policy on high speed rail  

6. Further to the resolution at Executive on 11 May 2010, the principal 
reference for Council’s policy on high speed rail is contained in the 
City of York’s Local Transport Plan 2011-2031 (LTP3), under the 
strategic theme of ‘Providing Strategic Links’ as shown in Table 1 

 
Table 1: Strategic Theme 2 – Provide Strategic Links 

Aims Objectives 

S3. Ensuring that 
York is well 
connected to the 
UK National rail 
network 

a. Connectivity with High Speed Rail 2 
(HS2) 

b. Upgrades to East Coast Main Line 

 
7. The more detailed interventions related to high speed rail, extracted 

from Table 5.2 in LTP3, and expected to be delivered from 2015 
onwards are shown in Table 2. 

 
Table 2: LTP3 priority measures or interventions relating to high speed 

rail 
Ref. 
No. 

Priority measure or intervention  

S3 a 
Make best advantage of opportunities in Government’s 
planning / procurement process for ensuring York’s 
connectivity with (anticipated) HS2 

S3 b Make best advantage of opportunities for upgrades to 

Page 188



 
infrastructure (and services) that benefit York 

Content of the consultation  

8. Numerous documents constitute the consultation, including: 

• Consultation Summary*; 
• Consultation Document*; 
• HS2 London to the West Midlands Appraisal of Sustainability Main 

Report Volumes 1 and 2; 
• HS2 London to the West Midlands Appraisal of Sustainability Non 

Technical Summary*  
9. Although the full range of consultation documents have been made 

available to view and download on the high speed rail website 
http://highspeedrail.dft.gov.uk/ it has not been possible to download 
many of them due to technical problems. The response to the 
consultation has, therefore, been based on the documents marked 
thus (*) above.  

10. The Consultation summary consists of three main parts: 

• Part 1 – Covers the case for high speed rail 
• Part 2 – Concentrates on the section from London to the West 

Midlands 
• Part 3 – Describes how to respond to the consultation. 
 
Part 1 
 

11. The Government’s focus has been on reviewing the costs and benefits 
of the key strategic rail options for meeting the future capacity 
‘challenge’. These include new high speed and conventional lines and 
upgrades to exiting infrastructure. 
 

12. The government favours a ‘Y-shaped’ high speed rail network, 
comprising a line from London to the West Midlands and onward legs 
to Manchester and Leeds. This network would cost around £32 billion 
to construct. On conservative assumptions, it would generate 
estimated benefits with a net present value of around £44 billion, plus 
fares revenues with a net present value of approximately £27 billion. 
The benefit to cost ratio (BCR) is approximately 2.6. 
 

13. The Government also believes that high speed rail would deliver 
significant non-monetised benefits, such as its contribution to job 
creation and regeneration and its potential to promote sustainable and 
balanced economic growth. 

 

Page 189



 
14. The Government proposes that this network should be delivered in 

phases, beginning with an initial London-West Midlands line. This 
could be operational by 2026, with the second phase to Manchester 
and Leeds opening in around 2032-33.  
 

15. The first phase is expected to include a direct link between the high 
speed rail route and the existing high speed rail route to the channel 
tunnel (HS1) and a junction to enable a direct link to Heathrow airport. 
The construction of this link is to be incorporated in the second phase.  
 
Part 2 
 

16. This covers the first phase of the route, which, due to it finishing to the 
North East of Birmingham (connecting with the West Coast Main Line 
between Lichfield and Tamworth in Staffordshire), is wholly outside the 
City of York local authority area. 

Part 3  

17. The Government is seeking views on the high speed rail strategy and 
the initial London – West Midlands line through seven questions 
contained in this part. The first three questions relate to the case for 
high speed rail and its delivery and the four latter questions related 
specifically to the London-West Midlands line. 
 
 
 
The Council’s Response 
 

18. The questions and the draft council’s response to them are at Annex 
A. 

 
19. The key points in the response are: 

• The council supports the proposals for a high speed rail network, 
particularly the y-shaped extensions to Manchester and Leeds. 

• The council advocates that any resources directed to the proposed 
high speed rail network must not be to the detriment of existing or 
future necessary improvement programmes for other routes, such 
as the East Coast Main Line (including the Intercity Express 
Programme to replace existing HSTs and Class 91s). This applies 
not only in advance of the completion of both phases of the high 
speed network, but also once it is operational. 

• The council broadly agrees with the phased introduction of the high 
speed rail network, but suggests that the benefit to cost ratio (BCR) 
should be included, for completeness. 

Page 190



 
• The council supports the case for a direct connection to the 

existing high speed rail line (HS1). 
• The council believes that the government’s strategy for air travel 

needs to be considered before confirming its view on a direct 
connection to Heathrow. 

• The Leeds element of the Y-shaped network should connect to the 
East Coast Main Line south of York, rather than north of York. 

• The council’s comments on the questions relating to part 2 of the 
Consultation Summary can only be, and are, more general in 
nature.  

• The council acknowledges that the route has been refined to 
reduce its adverse environmental impacts. However, the impacts of 
the scheme on the local ecology etc. needs to be balanced with the 
economic, social and environmental benefits the scheme could 
deliver. A similar evaluation will need to be undertaken for the 
second phase of the network, which could (depending on where 
the connection to the ECML is made) run through the City of York 
local authority area.  

• A new rail route has a lower ‘relative’ environmental impact than an 
equivalent new high capacity, high speed road. However the 
‘absolute’ environmental impact still remains to be considered. 
 
 

Other Responses 
 
20. The Leeds City Region, of which York is a constituent member, has 

also prepared a draft response to the consultation. Similarities and 
differences in the LCR response compared to York’s, as it relates to 
each question,  is summarised below: 
 
Question 1 Broadly in agreement with York’s response in support of 

high speed rail (HSR), although more detail is given on 
economic, carbon reduction and technical issues 

Question 2 Broadly in agreement with York’s response in support of 
high speed rail (HSR), although more detail is given on 
the economic impacts of providing new capacity on the 
new and existing networks. 

Question 3 Seeks a firm commitment to implement the full route 
(western and eastern parts of the ‘Y’ beyond 
Birmingham to be constructed in parallel). Advocates 
implementing the northern links as soon as possible and 
bringing forward the legislation to enable this. 

Question 4 Broadly in agreement with York’s response, adding that 
shortest journey times should reap the greatest benefits. 
Supports Heathrow link and HS1 link. 

Page 191



 
Question 5 Stressed the importance of high standards of design to 

achieve appropriate linespeeds 
Question 6 Supports measures that mitigate the environmental 

impacts of the scheme 
Question 7 No comments returned 
 

 
Council Priorities 

21. LTP3 is a cross-cutting document that encompasses and contributes 
to all of the council’s outward facing council priorities. 

 
Implications 

• Financial – None identified at present. 

• Human Resources (HR) – None identified at present 

• Equalities – Ensuring York residents have better access to 
proposed high speed rail links 

• Legal – None identified at present 

• Crime and Disorder – There None identified at present 

• Information Technology (IT) – None identified at present 

• Property – None identified at present 

• Sustainability – High Speed Rail Two has completed an Appraisal 
of Sustainability for the London – West Midlands route. It is 
expected that a similar appraisal will be undertaken for the second, 
Y-shaped extension to Manchester and Leeds, phase. 

• Other – None identified at present 

Risk Management 

22. In compliance with the council’s Risk Management Strategy, the main 
risk associated with this is failing to submit an effective response to 
influence decisions on the programmes to improve infrastructure and 
services on the existing East Coast Mail Line (and other lines serving 
York) and where the high speed rail network will re-connect with the 
East Coast Main Line. 

 
Recommendations 

23. The Cabinet is recommended to: 

Page 192



 
i) Note the contents of the report. 
 
Either 

 
ii) Accept the draft response as council’s response to the 

Government’s consultation on a high speed rail network to 
be submitted. 

or 
 
iii) Direct officers to make necessary changes to the draft 

response prior to it being submitted as the council’s 
response to the Government’s consultation on a high speed 
rail network. 

Reason: To either approve or ascertain the required changes to the 
draft response to the Government’s consultation on a high 
speed rail network, prior to it being submitted or before the 
closing date of 29 July 2011. 

 

Contact Details 

Author:  
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 

Ian Stokes 
Principal Transport Planner 
(Strategy) 
Transport Planning Unit 

Richard Wood 
Assistant Director of City Strategy 
 

Report 
Approved 

���� Date 23/02/2011 

 
 
    

 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)  List information for all 
 
Wards Affected: Al

l 
����    

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
 
Annexes 

Page 193



 
Annex A: Draft City of York Council response to the Government’s ‘High 
Speed Rail: Investing in Britain’s Future’ consultation.  
 

Page 194



   
 High Speed Rail: Investing in Britain’s Future 
 Consultation response form 

 
 

Part 1 of the consultation document 
1. This question is about the strategy and wider context (Chapter 1 of the main consultation 
document): Do you agree that there is a strong case for enhancing the capacity and performance 
of Britain’s inter-city rail network to support economic growth over the coming decades? 

 
2. This question is about the case for high speed rail (Chapter 2 of the main consultation 
document): Do you agree that a national high speed rail network from London to Birmingham, 
Leeds and Manchester (the Y network) would provide the best value for money solution (best 
balance of costs and benefits) for enhancing rail capacity and performance? 

 
 
 

City of York Council agrees that there is a strong case for enhancing the capacity and performance 
of Britain's inter-city rail network for the reasons (such as general rising demand and reducing 
scope to increase capacity) stated in the Consultation Summary document and the additional 
reasons listed (in no particular priority order) below: 
1 Demand forecasts, produced by Network Rail, suggest long distance rail demand using the 
East Coast Main Line (ECML), North TransPennine and Cross Country Routes will increase by 1-
2% per annum to 2036. 
2 Rail is a more sustainable form of transport than road transport or aviation for longer-
distance inter-city travel 
3 Technological advances (e.g. Broadband) enable good communications between London 
and cities in less prosperous areas of the country, thereby, enabling these cities to transform their 
economies by generating new businesses within them or attracting businesses to them whilst 
maintaining essential links with the UK's Capital city (a global finacial centre). However, even with 
this improved communication technology, there will still be a need for personal contact to conduct 
business, and business travellers from the north eastern cities would benefit from a fast, frequent 
and available rail service to travel to the Capital and beyond. 
4 The Eddington Study on transport and economic productivity advocated improvements to 
the existing rail network.  
5 There is an identified need to strengthen the rail links between the wider Leeds area and 
other destinations including Manchester, Birmingham and the East Midlands.     

From the evidence presented in the Consultation Summary document and further work comissioned 
by City of York Council the benefit to cost ratio (BCR) in the order of 2.6 appears to offer good value 
for money. By way of comparison road improvement schemes tend to be considered as offering 
good value for money with a BCR of 2.5 or more. In addition the council also agrees with the view 
that high speed rail would deliver significant non-monetorised benefits, further strengthening the 
case for its construction.  
However, it does not appear to be explicitly clear that the scheme costs in Chapter 1 include for the 
environemntal mitigation measures described in Chapter 2. 
In considering the continued investment in the UK's rail network overall, the council advocates that 
any resources directed to the proposed high speed rail network must not be to the detriment of 
existing or future necessary improvement programmes for other routes such as the East Coast 
Main Line (including the Intercity Express Programme to replace existing HSTs and Class 91s). 
This applies not only in advance of the completion of both phases of the high speed network, but 
also once it is operational.  

Page 195



   
 High Speed Rail: Investing in Britain’s Future 
 Consultation response form 

 
3. This question is about how to deliver the Government’s proposed network (Chapter 3 of 
the main consultation document): Do you agree with the Government’s proposals for the phased 
roll-out of a national high speed rail network, and for links to Heathrow Airport and the High Speed 1 
line to the Channel Tunnel? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Based on the evidence presented in the Consultation Summary, City of York Council broadly 
agrees the proposed phased roll-out of a national high speed rail network. However, it is not clear 
from the Consultation Summary what the relevant merits of constructing the first phase only 
(London to West Midlands) versus the full 'Y' (to Manchester and Leeds) are. The potential for more 
abstraction form short haul air travel, if the full 'Y'route is implemented, will have a clear benefit on 
fare revenue, and including this, for completeness, should help to make the case for high speed rail 
more convincing.  
The case for a direct connection with high speed 1 (HS1), to the Channel tunnel and mainland 
Europe beyond, is supported by City of York Council. The main reason for this view is the removal 
of the interchange penalty for transferring from one high speed rail route to another. However, 
sufficient capacity needs to be available (or provided if not) on HS1 to enable all new and proposed 
HS1 services (including the UK 'Javelin' services) to/from the London terminus at St. Pancras and 
through running HS2 servcies to be carried. 
The spur to Heathrow airport may impose operational delays on the main HS2 route due to the 
junction/track crossings required to serve the spur. The Government's long term policy for air 
transport also needs to be considered before confiming the need for a Heathrow link. 
In considering the high speed rail network as a whole, although the council appreciates that the 
consultation at this stage is necessarily at a 'high level' it is somewhat disappointing that the level of 
detail in Figure 3 is low, particularly in relation to showing where the high speed rail network 
connects with the existing East Coast Main Line (north east of Leeds) and the West Coast Main 
Line (north west of Manchester). For, York and the surrounding area, it is considered essential that 
the location of the connection with the East Coast Main Line (ECML) is south of the city to maximise 
the benefits to the city that the high speed rail network could deliver via direct links from the new 
'Leeds' station on the high speed route. Also from Colton, south of York Station to Northallerton the 
ECML is 4 track affording potentally more train paths for reconnection than the predominantly 2 
track section beyond Northallerton.  

Page 196



   
 High Speed Rail: Investing in Britain’s Future 
 Consultation response form 

Part 2 of the consultation document 
 
4. This question is about the specification for the line between London and the West 
Midlands (Chapter 4 of the main consultation document): Do you agree with the principles and 
specification used by HS2 Ltd to underpin its proposals for new high speed rail lines and the route 
selection process HS2 Ltd undertook? 

 
5. This question is about the route for the line between London and the West Midlands 
(Chapter 5 and Annex B of the main consultation document): Do you agree that the 
Government’s proposed route, including the approach proposed for mitigating its impacts, is the 
best option for a new high speed rail line between London and the West Midlands? 

 
6. This question is about the Appraisal of Sustainability (Chapter 5 of the main consultation 
document): Do you wish to comment on the Appraisal of Sustainability of the Government’s 
proposed route between London and the West Midlands that has been published to inform this 
consultation? 

 
7. This question is about blight and compensation (Annex A of the main consultation 
document): Do you agree with the options set out to assist those whose properties lose a 
significant amount of value as a result of any new high speed line? 

 
Have you attached additional evidence to this response form? (Please select one answer only) 
 Yes    No 

 
 
 

This part of the route does not have a direct impact on the environment within the City of York local 
authority area. The following comments are, therefore, more general in nature. 
It would appear (and is generally accepted) that a new railway corridor would have a lower physical 
'footprint' (land take requirement) than an equivalent high capacity, high speed road. This, therefore, 
imparts a lower 'relative' local environmental impact, but the question as to its absolute 
environmental impact still remains. 
City of York Council acknowledges that the route, as proposed by the government, has been 
refined, from a previous scheme, published in 2010, to reduce its adverse environmental impacts, 
through measures such as deep cuttings and tunnels etc.. However, the impacts of such measures 
on the local ecology etc. needs to be balanced with the economic, social and environmental 
benefits the scheme could deliver. A similar evaluation will need to be undertaken for the second 
phase of the network, which could (depending on where the connection to the ECML is made) run 
through the City of York local authority area.  

City of York Council does not have sufficient knowledge of the physical and social geography of this 
section of the route to offer any opinion as to whether the Government's proposed route is the best 
route option. However, with regard to the proposed approach for mitigating its impacts please see 
the response to Question 4 above. 

Please see response to Question 4 above. 
 

This part of the route does not have a direct impact on the environment within the City of York 
authority area. However, it is possible that the second phase of the high speed line may pass 
through the City of York local authority area and, therefore, devalue some properties therein. 
Awaiting full consultation document (including Annex A to be able to offer further comment.  

Page 197



   
 High Speed Rail: Investing in Britain’s Future 
 Consultation response form 

Thank you for completing the response form. Please send it to: 
Freepost RSLX-UCGZ-UKSS 
High Speed Rail Consultation 
PO Box 59528 
London 
SE21 9AX 
The consultation closes on Friday 29 July 2011. Responses cannot be accepted after the closing 
date. 

Page 198



 

 
 

 

   
Cabinet 
 

19 July 2011 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 
 

 
Financial Outturn 2010-11 

 
Purpose 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide details of the headline financial 
performance issues for 2010-11, covering the period 1 April 2010 to 31 March 
2011.  The report assesses performance against budgets, outlines requests 
for carry forwards and provides a position statement on the council’s revenue 
reserves. 
 

• Summary 

• The council‘s provisional outturn position is a £369k underspend, with 
requests for carry forwards of unspent budgets totalling £168k reducing 
this position to a potential final underspend of £201k. 

• This position, an improvement of £2,037k from the £1,668k of pressures 
reported at Monitor 3, is testament to the council’s effective financial 
management, the implementation of the savings programme and the 
continued hard work of directorates in controlling costs. 

 
Finance Overview 
 

2. The General Fund budget for 2010-11 was £118,166k, with utilisation of 
balances and reserves reducing the call on Council Tax to £117,338k.  The 
council‘s provisional outturn position is a £369k underspend, with requests for 
carry forwards of unspent budgets totalling £168k reducing this position to a 
potential final underspend of £201k. 
 

3. The final position represents an improvement of £2,037k (£986k at directorate 
level) since Monitor 3.  This improvement is primarily as a result of continued 
stringent cost control methods, and internal management reporting has 
tracked the impact of this positive action since the figures for the Monitor 3 
report were finalised in early January.  
 

Agenda Item 12Page 199



4. As highlighted throughout the year, and despite significant investment in the 
2010-11 budget, demand for adult social care services and the effects of the 
economic downturn have continued to cause financial pressures.  These 
pressures were compounded by £2,287k of in year grant cuts from Central 
Government following the June 2010 Emergency Budget.  
 

5. As the need for improvement was recognised at an early stage, and due to 
clear commitment in narrowing the potential overspend, directorates have 
worked incredibly hard to contain expenditure and coupled with the council’s 
improved financial management the year-end position is testament to these 
efforts, without which it is clear there would have been a major overspend. 
 

6. An overview of the outturn position is summarised on a directorate by 
directorate basis in Table 1 below.  The main movements from the Monitor 3 
report are: 
- City Strategy – an improvement of £379k which is primarily due to an 
improvement in concessionary fares and additional engineering fees. 

- Communities & Neighbourhoods – an improvement of £514k due to a 
number of cost reduction strategies across the directorate. 

- Corporate Budgets – a significant improvement of £1,051k, which is a result 
of the provision for 16/17 year old care legislation made in the 2010-11 
budget remaining unallocated, a further tranche of VAT refunds and the 
early receipt of the latest YPO dividend. 

Table 1: Outturn Position. 
 

Directorate

2010-11 
Net 

Budget

Mon 3 
Variance

Outturn 
Variance

Movement

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adults, Children & Education 91,729 +1,647 +1,579 -68 

City Strategy 7,257 +588 +209 -379 

Communities & Neighbourhoods 41,655 +569 +55 -514 

Customer & Business Support Services 5,373 -169 -241 -72 

Office of the Chief Executive 3,035 -23 +24 +47 

DIRECTORATE BUDGETS 149,049 +2,612 +1,626 -986 
Asset Rental Adjustments -32,089    -      -      -   

Corporate Budgets 1,206 -944 -1,995 -1,051

GROSS BUDGET 118,166 +1,668 -369 -2,037

Page 200



7. A strategy was agreed as part of the Monitor 2 report that allocated revised 
variance targets for directorates that would see the council’s overall 
expenditure outturn on budget.  This strategy incorporating directorate 
expenditure controls and effective financial management has yielded a 
£3,441k improvement from that report.  Whilst not all targets were met, other 
gains were made elsewhere which have ultimately contributed to the reported 
underspend. Final progress against these targets is outlined in Table 2 below. 

 

 
Table 2: Progress Against Target Variances. 

 
8. Whilst the year-end position is positive and testament to the hard work of 

teams across the council, there remains considerable financial concerns 
looking ahead into 2011-12 and beyond. The 2011-12 budget contains 
approximately £21m of savings comprising efficiencies, service reductions 
and grant cuts imposed by Central Government.  This represents a very 
challenging agenda, one not faced by the council before, and every single 
proposal will have to deliver or the financial position this time next year will not 
be as favourable.  Any future overspends will have a negative impact on the 
council’s reserves and subsequently reduce flexibility when it comes to 
budget setting.  It is therefore important that focus now moves to 2011-12 and 
the practices of stringent cost control and new and effective ways of working 
continue to embed themselves to ensure the continued financial health of the 
organisation 
 
 

 

Directorate

2010-11 
Net 

Budget

10-11 
Mon 2 

Variance

Outturn 
Variance

10-11 
Target 

Variance

Variation to 
Target

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adults, Children & Education 91,729 +2,310 +1,579 +1,010 +569 

City Strategy 7,257 +940 +209 +190 +19 

Communities & Neighbourhoods 41,655 +410 +55 +10 +45 

Customer & Business Support Services 5,373 -107 -241 -207 -34 

Office of the Chief Executive 3,035 +13 +24 -37 +61 

DIRECTORATE BUDGETS 149,049 +3,566 +1,626 +966 +660 

Asset Rental Adjustments -32,089    -      -      -      -   

Corporate Budgets 1,206 -494 -1,995 -894 -1,101 

GROSS BUDGET 118,166 3,072 -369 72 -441

Page 201



Directorate Financial Performance 

9. The following sections provide further information on the financial outturn of 
each directorate as outlined in Table 1 (paragraph 6).  
 
Adults, Children & Education 

10. Adults, Children & Education are reporting a £1,579k overspend, an 
improvement of £68k from the £1,647k pressure reported at Monitor 3.  
Performance against the total £1,781k More for York ACE savings target is 
included in this figure, representing £1,148k of the net overspend. 

 
11. Elsewhere in the directorate a £1,167k overspend is being reported in Adult 

Social Services, a deterioration of £416k from Monitor 3.  This deterioration is 
mainly due to the unexpected write off of £283k of outstanding customer 
debts at the year end and a small number of additional Learning Disability 
placements that were notified late in the year. 
 

12. The remaining Adult Social Services overspend is due to increasing demand, 
above the approved budget, which has continued to be an issue in 2010-11. 
The main contributory factors include the fact that more people have opted to 
take Direct Payments than anticipated and the numbers are likely to increase 
as the personalisation of services is rolled out further resulting in an 
overspend on this budget of £1,194k.  A greater than anticipated number of 
referrals for Independent Residential and Nursing Care has caused an 
overspend of £491k.  A reduction in the level of income generated in Elderly 
Persons Homes, as well as unbudgeted costs from the Pay and Grading 
process represents an overspend of £292k in this area. 

 
13. Children & Young People's budgets have shown a marked improvement with 

an underspend of £735k being reported, £568k more favourable than at 
Monitor 3.  This is derived from a number of areas, the most significant being 
an underspend on the Fostering of Looked After Children of £234k, due to a 
reduction in the number of children placed in Independent Fostering Agencies 
(IFA) placements which are more expensive than placements with local foster 
carers, as well as an underspend of £235k within the Education Development 
Service which is due to a number of posts being held vacant in anticipation of 
further savings being required in 2011-12, and the redirection of grant income 
to cover base budget expenditure. 
 

14. In addition the directorate received in-year government grant cuts totalling 
£1,832k, against which savings have been made of £1,467k.  Difficult 
decisions have had to be taken in order to reduce expenditure on a wide 
range of community based schemes within the Early Intervention Fund as well 
as the Youth Volunteering Project.  The remaining £365k, related to Area 
Based Grant, has been reported as a corporate pressure. 

Page 202



 
City Strategy 

15. City Strategy is reporting an overspend of £209k, which is an improvement of 
£379k from the Monitor 3 report.  This position is inclusive of £107k of 
redundancy costs following a review of the directorate’s services and £256k 
of More for York savings, related to facilities management and administrative 
efficiencies, that have not been achieved.   

 
16. The directorate’s income generating services have faced continued pressures 

resulting from the economic downturn.  Shortfalls in income from parking 
(£291k), building control (£259k), development control (£159k) and 
commercial property (£138k), as well as the fact that no Yorwaste dividend 
has been received (£430k) have all contributed to the underlying overspend. 

 
17. However the position has been mitigated by a number of factors.  

Management actions including a vacancy freeze and other operational budget 
savings have helped significantly reduce the overspend.  Concessionary fares 
has underspent by £335k following a fixed price deal being agreed with First.  
It should also be noted that Members allocated the directorate £400k from the 
General Contingency at Monitor 2 in order to support budgets that were 
facing economic downturn pressures. 

 
Communities & Neighbourhoods 

18. Communities & Neighbourhoods is reporting a slight overspend of £55k, 
which represents a significant improvement of £514k from the £569k pressure 
reported at Monitor 3.   
 

19. In Housing and Public Protection, a £296k overspend on building 
maintenance, due to a number of factors including unavoidable staff costs, 
and a £159k overspend on Travellers Sites, due to increased utility and 
repairs costs, has been offset by underspends on temporary accommodation 
costs and staffing savings across the service area, resulting in an overall 
overspend of £26k for the service plan. 
 

20. In Environment, a £290k net overspend on commercial waste, due income 
shortfalls, and a £250k overspend on winter maintenance budgets following 
the severe weather in November and December has been offset by a £125k 
underspend on street light electricity costs, resulting in an overall overspend 
of £470k for the service plan. 
 

21. Communities and Culture has underspent by £441k, which is primarily due to 
sport and active leisure savings, an underspend on ward committee 
expenditure and vacancy management measures across the service.  

Page 203



However, there was a significant shortfall of income in libraries of £207k 
resulting in an overall underspend of £441k for the service plan. 
 

22. The directorate has a number of carry forward requests outlined in paragraph 
28. 

 
Customer & Business Support Services 

23. Customer & Business Support Services has reported a year end underspend 
of 241k, which is a £72k improvement from the Monitor 3 report.  The 
underlying underspend from earlier reports remains, namely  the re-alignment 
of IT support and maintenance contracts which realised in year savings, and 
is further bolstered by an improvement in the performance of the Benefits 
subsidy team in reducing financial loss to the council.   
Office of the Chief Executive 

24. The Office of the Chief Executive is reporting a slight year end overspend of 
£23k.  This is driven by the recent directorate restructure where significant 
one-off redundancy and pension costs of £72k have been set against an 
underlying underspend of £49k.   

 
Corporate Budgets 

25. These budgets cover Treasury Management, the General Contingency and 
the remaining General Fund budgets that are retained corporately.  The year 
end position shows an underspend of £1,995k on these budgets, an 
improvement of £1,051k from Monitor 3.  The position is primarily possible 
due to the unspent 2010-11 Pay Award provision (£800k), one-off VAT refund 
receipts for claims related to the Fleming and Conde-Nast cases (£644k), the 
early receipt of the latest YPO dividend (£226k), unallocated General 
Contingency (£165k) and the fact that the provision created to cover 
expenditure related to 16/17 year old care legislation remains unallocated 
(£500k).   

 
Dedicated School Grant (DSG) 

26. In the DSG area there is an underspend of £257k against a budget of 
£92,754k.  Due to the nature of the DSG, any underspend must be carried 
forward and added to the following year’s funding with overspends either 
being funded from the general fund or reducing the following year’s funding 
allocation.  

 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

27. The current working balance on the HRA is £8,880k and the year end position 
identifies an underspend  of £463k.  There are a number of reasons for the 
underspend including a number of vacancy management measures across 
the service and lower loss of rents from void properties. 

Page 204



Carry Forward Requests 

28. Financial regulations allow for requests to be made to Members for unspent 
budgets to be carried forward into the following year.  The following list 
outlines the nature of this year’s requests, totalling £168k: 

i) Communities & Neighbourhoods: Ward Committee Budgets (£103k) – 
primarily unspent budgets relating to street lighting schemes. 

ii) Communities & Neighbourhoods: Target Hardening (£31k) – a number of 
schemes came under budget.  This request would fund schemes for which 
funding could not be allocated to in 2010-11. 

iii) Communities & Neighbourhoods: Community Centres (£34k) – 
underspends generated from increased usage of centres would be 
reinvested in maintenance and improvements. 

29. It should be noted that any carry forward request that is granted will reduce 
the provisional underspend, and as a result impact the level of the General 
Fund reserve. 

 
Reserves 

30. The February 2011 Budget Report to Council stated that the minimum level 
for the General Fund  reserve should be £6.1m.  Following the 2009-10 
outturn, the reserve sat at some £6.7m however the remainder above the 
minimum level was used to balance the 2011-12 budget.  Any underspend 
that is made would be added back to the reserve with the acceptance of any 
carry forward requests reducing this figure. 

 
31. A report to Council on 30 June approved the use of £200k of the reserve to 

fund initiatives in 2011-12, which coupled with the approval of all carry 
forward requests, would mean that there would be a nil movement on the 
current level of the reserve.  

 
32. It is also important to highlight that any future year end overspends have to be 

funded from this reserve and Members have to be mindful of the massive task 
presented by the 2011-12 budget in delivering some £21m of savings.  It is 
clear for 2010-11 that whilst this minimum level has not been breached, 
failure to deliver the 2011-12 savings would result in the stark reality of a 
major overspend and subsequent reduction of this reserve.  Should this 
happen the Director of Customer & Business Support Services would have no 
option but to recommend to Council that the reserve is reinstated to at least 
its minimum required level which would have implications on future budget 
setting cycles.   

 
Analysis 

Page 205



33. The analysis of the financial position of the council is included in the body of 
the report. 

 
Consultation 

34. There has been extensive consultation with Trade Union groups on the 
ongoing implications of the council’s financial situation. 

 
Corporate priorities 

35. The information and issues included in this report demonstrate progress on 
achieving the priorities set out in the council's corporate strategy (2009-12).  
 
Implications 

36. The implications are: 
• Financial - the financial implications are dealt with in the body of the report. 
• Human Resources - there are no specific human resource implications to 
this report. 

• Equalities - there are no specific equality implications to this report, 
however equalities issues are accounted for at all stages of the financial 
planning and reporting process. 

• Legal - there are no legal implications to this report. 
• Crime and Disorder - there are no specific crime and disorder implications 
to this report. 

• Information Technology - there are no information technology implications 
to this report. 

• Property - there are no property implications to this report. 
• Other - there are no other implications to this report. 
 
Risk Management 

37. The risk management processes embedded across the council continue to 
contribute to managing the risk issues associated with major projects and key 
areas of service delivery. 

 
Recommendations 

38. Members are asked to: 

a. Note the provisional underspend of £369k and the current level of the 
General Fund reserve. 

Reason: In order to inform future financial decision making. 

 

Page 206



b. Review the requests for the carry forward of budgets into 2010-12, detailed 
in paragraph 28 and totalling £168k, and determine which should be 
approved noting that any approvals would reduce the provisional £369k 
underspend 
 

Reason: So that resources can be directed into those areas that meet 
corporate priorities. 

 
 
Chief Officers Responsible for the report: 
Ian Floyd, Director for Customer & Business Support Services 
Keith Best, Assistant Director for Customer & Business Support Services 
(Financial Services) 
Report Approved tick Date June 2011 

üüüü 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)  - None 
 
Wards Affected:  None All tick 
For further information please contact the author of the report 

 

Page 207



Page 208

This page is intentionally left blank



      

 

  
 

   

 
Cabinet 
 

19 July 2011 

 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 

 
 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME OUTTURN 2010/11 AND REVISIONS TO THE 
2011/12 – 2015/16 PROGRAMME 
 
 Report Summary 
 
1 The purpose of this report is to: 
 

• Set out the Councils capital programme outturn position  for 
2010/11 along with the final outturn position; 

 
• Inform the Cabinet of any under or overspends and seek approval 

for any resulting changes to the programme; 
 

• Inform the Cabinet of any slippage and seek approval for the 
associated funding to be slipped to or from the financial years to 
reflect this. 

 
• Inform Members of the funding position of the capital programme. 

 
• Provide an update on future years capital programme. 

 
 Consultation 
 
2 The capital programme was developed under the Capital Resource 

Allocation Model (CRAM) framework and agreed by Council on 25 
February 2010.  Whilst the capital programme as a whole is not 
consulted on, the individual scheme proposals and associated 
capital receipt sales do follow a consultation process with local 
Councillors and residents in the locality of the individual schemes. 

 

Agenda Item 13Page 209



 Summary of the 2010/11 Capital Programme 
 
3 The 2010/11 – 2014/15 capital programme was approved by Council 

on 25th February 2010. Since then a number of amendments have 
taken place as reported to the Executive in the 2009/10 Capital 
Programme  Monitor 3 report, the 2009/10 Capital Programme 
Outturn report and the 2010/11 Capital Programme Monitor 1, 2 and 
3 report. The changes made as result of the above papers have 
resulted in a current approved capital programme for 2010/11 of 
£64.926m, financed by £35.020m of external funding, and internal 
funding of £29.906m. Table 1 illustrates the movements from the 
start budget to the current approved position at monitor 2. 

 
 Gross 

Budget 
£m 

 External 
Funding 

£m 

 Internal 
Funding 

£m 
Original Budget 
Approved by Council at 
25 Feb 2010 

73.298  38.880  34.418 

Amendments from 
2009/10 Monitor 3 
report 

5.324  3.390  1.934 

Amendments from 
2009/10 Outturn report 

3.357  1.372  1.985 

Amendments from 
2010/11 Monitor 1 
report 

(0.447)  0.114  (0.561) 

Amendments from 
2010/11 Monitor 2 
report 

(8.226)  (5.938)  (2.288) 

Amendments from 
2010/11 Monitor 3 
report 

(8.380)  (2.798)  (5.582) 

Current Approved 
Capital Programme  

64.926  35.020  29.906 

 
Table 1 Current Approved Programme 

 
4 Capital expenditure in 2010/11 totalled £53.932m compared to a 

spend of £58.480m in 2009/10, a decrease of £5.458m.  
 

Page 210



5 Figure One illustrates the increase in capital programme size since 
1999/00, during which time it has risen from £19.5m to this years 
outturn of £53.932m. 

Capital Spend 1999/00 - 2010/11 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

55

60

19
99

/0
0

20
00

/0
1

20
01

/0
2

20
02

/0
3

20
03

/0
4

20
04

/0
5

20
05

/0
6

20
06

/0
7

20
07

/0
8

20
08

/0
9

20
09

/1
0

20
10

/1
1

£m

  
Figure 1:  CYC Capital Programme Expenditure 1999/00-2010/11 

 
6 Figure 2 shows the 2009/10 £53.932m expenditure split by 

departments. 
 

Capital Expenditure 2010/11

 10.748 
Admin Accom

 0.857 
Social Services

 0.035 
Economic Development

 17.774 
Children Services

 6.490 
Neigh Serv

 1.403 
Leisure & Heritage

 1.061 
Property

 1.342 
IT

 4.728 
Planning & Transport

 0.489 
Misc

 9.004 
Housing

 
Figure 2 Capital Outturn by Department 2010/11 

Page 211



 
 

2010/11 Capital Programme Outturn and Overview 
 

7 The 2010/11 capital outturn of £53.921m represents an under spend 
of £10.995m against the restated budget of £64.926m, a variance of 
16.9%.   

 
8 There are requests for budgets to be carried forward (re-profiled) in to 

future years totalling £9.721m. Further details are provided in the 
following departmental analysis paragraphs. The total variances for 
individual departmental capital programmes along with requests for 
re-profiling and other key information are highlighted in Table 2. 

 
 
Directora
te 

Departme
nt 

Current 
Approv
ed 

Budget  
£m 

Projecte
d 

Outturn 
 

£m 

Varianc
e 
 
 

£m 

Reprofil
ing  
 

£m 

Adjust
ments 

 
£m 

ACE Children’s 
Services 

24.645 17.774 (6.871) (6.373) (0.498) 

ACE Adult Social 
Services 

0.876 0.857 (0.019) 0.004 (0.023) 

CANS Leisure and 
Culture 

2.971 1.403 (1.568) (1.636) 0.068 

CANS Neighbourh
ood 
Services 

6.957 6.490 (0.467) (0.459) (0.008) 

CANS Housing 
 

9.492 9.004 (0.488) (0.469) (0.019) 

City 
Strategy 

 Planning 
&Transport 

5.926 4.728 (1.198) (0.566) (0.632) 

City 
Strategy 

 Admin 
Accom 

10.651 10.748 0.097 0.097 0.000 

City 
Strategy 

Economic 
Developme
nt 

0.035 0.035 0.000 0.000 0.000 

City 
Strategy 

Property 
Services 

1.264 1.061 (0.203) (0.236) 0.033 

CBSS IT 1.594 1.342 (0.252) (0.083) (0.169) 

CBSS Miscellaneo 0.515 0.489 (0.026) 0.000 (0.026) 

Page 212



us 
(Contingen
cy etc) 

 Total 64.926 53.931 (10.995) (9.721) (1.274) 

 
 

Table 2 –Approved Budget vs. Outturn & Requests for Reprofiling 
 

 
9 The detail that explains the under and overspends and the 

requirements for reprofiling are set out in the paragraphs below. All 
the explanations are based on movement against the approved 
monitor 3 position. 

 
ACE - Children’s Services (Budget £24.625m, Outturn £17.774m) 

 
10 The outturn of the 2010/11 Children’s Services Capital Programme is 

£17.774m against a budget of £24.625m, a variation of -£6.871m. 
Table 3 sets out the variations by scheme with explanation contained 
below: 

 
11 A number of schemes require re-profiling at values of over £100k as 

follows: 
 

• The NDS Devolved Capital scheme outturn position was £141k 
greater than the budget reflecting the higher level of external grant 
received. As in previous years, this funding has been devolved to 
schools to spend on their maintenance and capital priorities. 
• The Harnessing Technology programme is an under spend at 
outturn of £172k. As previously reported, the Harnessing Technology  
grant was cut in 2010/11 with the shortfall in funding replaced by a 
reduction in the amount delegated to schools, and by a revenue 
contribution from the DSG. In addition, as the capital spend on the 
new broadband contract was mainly incurred in 2009/10 an amount 
of Modernisation funding was allocated in lieu of receipt of the 
2010/11 grant. Thus in 2010/11 the equivalent amount of Harnessing 
Technology grant has been re-allocated to replace the modernisation 
funding used. 
• The Targeted Capital Fund 14-19 Diploma schemes requires 
£2.238m of funding to be re-profiled into 2011/12 from 2010/11. As 
previously reported, the scheme for improvement / extension to 
Applefields School of £1.5m to provide additional accommodation will 

Page 213



not commence on site until the summer break, therefore a significant 
element of this budget was requires re-profiling.  In addition 
remainder of this element of the budget now requires re-profiling in 
relation to work being carried out at Canon Lee and Huntington 
Schools, which is also now scheduled to be carried out early in 
2011/12. 
• The NDS Modernisation schemes shows an under spend of 
£400k at outturn, this funding has been used to contribute toward the 
Primary School Strategic Programme. The Primary School Strategic 
Programme requires re-profiling into 2011/12 of £2.432m. Both 
schemes are on-site and progressing well however, due in part to a 
delay in commencement of the Our Lady Queen of Martyr's scheme , 
the spend profile has been amended to reflect the revised work 
schedule.  
• The Schools Access Initiative schemes require re-profiling of £22k 
in to 2011/12 due to delays in billing for a number of schemes. 
• The Sure Start schemes under spend at outturn by £165k. This 
funding has been used to fund a significant number of projects within 
the early years PVI sector. This is the last year of the funding and 
was required to be spent by the end of 2010/11.  An amount of £17k 
has been transferred to the Phase 3 Children's Centres Scheme, 
which is part of the same overall grant stream.  The remaining under 
spend was because a small contingency was being held in case of 
problems with the four major schemes. 
• Joseph Rowntree One School Pathfinder scheme is now complete 
with only retentions outstanding . A small under spend is currently 
possible but this will be confirmed when final bills have been paid.  
Overall re-profiling of  £595k is required from 2010/11 to 2011/12. 
• The City-Wide Diploma Exemplar Facility at Manor School 
requires £624k re-profiling due to the process of Manor converting to 
an academy impacting the pace of  work on the new diploma 
exemplar facility, hence the final drawdown of funding not being 
required. This final payment to the Diocese who are managing the 
scheme is being paid over in June 2011. 
• The Applefields School - Co Location scheme requires £196k re-
profiling for retention purposes. 

 
 

ACE - Adult Social Services (Budget £0.876m, Outturn £0.857m) 
 

12 The outturn of the 2010/11 Adult Social  Services Capital Programme 
is £0.857m against a budget of £0.876m, a variation of -£0.019m.  
There are no significant variations to report. 

Page 214



 
CANS Leisure and Culture (Budget £2.971, Outturn £1.403m) 
 

13 The outturn of the 2010/11 Leisure and Culture Capital Programme is 
£1.403m against a budget of £2.971m, a variation of £1.568m.  

 
14 A number of schemes require re-profiling at values of over £100k as 

follows: 
 

• Milfield Lane Community Sports Centre requires £170k of funding 
to be re-profiled to 2011/12 form 2010/11 due to the delay of Manor 
School becoming an Academy. The work on the Community Sports 
facilities to be carried out in the summer holidays. 
• DCSF Wave 2 Playbuilder scheme requires £239k of funding to 
be re-profiled to 2011/12 form 2010/11. The sub schemes of Haxby, 
Garnet Terrace, Bell Farm, Hull Road Park, Strensall, Chapelfields 
and The Heworth Without schemes have all commenced with 
completion projected by the summer 2011. 
• Library Self-Issue Equipment scheme requires £124k of funding to 
be re-profiled to 2011/12 form 2010/11 and the two phases of 
installation of the machines in the branches are occurring in 2011/12 
financial year. 
• The Barbican Auditorium scheme requires £875k of funding to be 
re-profiled to 2011/12 form 2010/11 to match the timing of the 
invoices incurred. 

 
 

Neighbourhood Services (Budget £6.957m, Outturn £6.490m) 
 

15 The outturn of the 2010/11 Leisure and Culture Capital Programme is 
£6.490m against a budget of £6.957m, a variation of -£0.467m.  

 
16 A number of schemes require re-profiling at values of over £100k as 

follows: 
 

• Waste Infrastructure Capital Grant scheme requires £189k of 
funding to be re-profiled to 2011/12 form 2010/11. £65k relating to 
works at Towthorpe HWRC re: manufacture and installation of 
gantries and steps – this work took longer than expected but is now 
almost complete. £14k in respect of compactor equipment – Sourcing 
of the equipment took longer than expected but is now delivered and 
is awaiting installation. £80k on - vehicle camera equipment – This 
was delayed whilst trying to source a supplier. A quotation has now 

Page 215



been received and are awaiting placing formal order. £30k vehicle for 
St Nicholas Fields recycling to deliver enhanced city centre recycling 
vehicle – This is delayed because we are awaiting specification from 
the St Nicholas Fields team. 
• Highway Resurfacing & Reconstruction Structural Maintenance 
schemes require £172k of funding to be re-profiled to 2011/12 form 
2010/11. The reprofiling relates to the Hull Road scheme. The 
scheme budget was determined from the residual under spend 
following the selection of other works. The Hull Road scheme was 
always capable of spending more than the allocated budget, for this 
reason it was decided to leave the works until as late as possible to 
use any under spend to achieve the best possible results within the 
overall budget. 
 
Housing Services (Budget £9.492m, Outturn £9.004m) 
 

17 The outturn of 2010/11  Housing Services Capital Programme is 
£9.004m against a budget of £9.492m, a variation of -£488k.  

 
18 A number of schemes require amendments at values of over £100k 

as follows: 
 

• Repairs to Local Authority Properties schemes requires £131k of 
funding to be re-profiled to 2011/12 form 2010/11. This is comprised 
in the main of slippage on the ongoing heating installation programme 
(£114k) and slippage on the upgrading works at sheltered schemes 
which are taking slightly longer than anticipated to complete (£17k) 
• Major Repairs Allowance schemes have under spent by £105k in 
2010/11 due to Savings made on tenants choice schemes through 
new contracts. 
• The Housing Grants & Associated Investment schemes requires 
£102k of funding to be re-profiled to 2011/12 form 2010/11. This 
slippage is due to committed loans awaiting payment. 
• The Sub Regional Lettings scheme requires £111k of funding to 
be re-profiled to 2011/12 form 2010/11. The delay is in relation to the 
purchase of IT system whilst bespoke aspects of the system design 
were agreed. 

 
 

City Strategy – Planning and Transport (Budget £5.926, Outturn 
£4.728m) 

 

Page 216



19 The outturn of the City Strategy Capital Programme is £4.728m 
against a budget of £5.926m, a variation of -£1.198m. 

 
20 In relation to the Local Transport Plan schemes  both re-profiling and 

adjustments are required as part of the outturn position.  Reprofiling 
of £574k form 10/11 into 11/12 and an under spend of £632k. The 
primary reason for the variation is delays with 2 key schemes that 
whilst started before 31st March 2011, have continued into 2011/12. 
The key schemes that have slipped are A19/A1237 roundabout 
improvements (£-560k compared to £1.2m budget) and a delay in 
installation of new cycle access to the station which is managed by 
East Coast (£-103k compared to budget of £200k).  

 
21 The underspend of £632k relates to feasibility works and studies 

which were programmed in the Local Transport Plan and completed. 
However this work is a revenue cost and therefore has been 
accounted for as revenue spend. 

 
City Strategy Administrative Accommodation (Budget £10.651, 
Outturn £10.748m)  

 
22 The outturn figure is £10.748m for administrative accommodation 

against a budget of £10.651m, a variation of £97k. The scheme has 
spent slightly ahead of schedule with the £97k being re-profiled form 
2011/12 to 2011/11 and remains within the overall budget as at 31st 
March 2011 of £43.804m 

 
Economic Development (Budget £0.035m, Outturn £0.035m) 
 

23 The outturn of the Economic Development Programme is £35k 
against a budget of £35k.  

 
Property Services (Budget £1.264m, Outturn £1.061m) 

 
24 The outturn of the Property Services capital programme is £1.061m 

against a budget of £1.264m, a variation of -£0.203m. 
 
25 Contained within the in year under spend figure of -£0.203m is 

outturn position for Clements Hall.  
 
26 The requirement for additional building works were mainly carried out 

at the start of the project when the building was opened up and more 
of the structure revealed which was previously inaccessible.  These 

Page 217



included: extensive damp ingress, gable ends, basement and 
foundations work, roof structure and stabilisation of the chimney 
structures. 

 
27 In addition a rooflight was installed with installation of new leading, 

replacing a number windows and doors that all placed additional 
financial pressure on the scheme. Whilst the contingency sums in the 
budget covered a number of these items the amount of work required 
was far greater than this allocation. 

 
28 Additional costs were also incurred as a result of working with the 

Trust to identify their requirements to use and manage the building 
which were not foreseen by them at the start of the project. These 
included: An external store, improved kitchen specification, additional 
noise insulation, increased furniture requirements to meet the needs 
of occupiers especially in the offices, and additional equipment. to 
enable the Trust to make the range of facilities and types of uses 
immediately available on the opening of the hall to maximise usage 
and income. 

 
29 The original budgeted position is shown below in table 3 along with 

projected outturn of the scheme and proposed sources of financing. 
Budgets totalling £140k from areas within the Property Services 
Capital Programme have been used to part  fund the overspend 
pressure, the £140k is comprised of £110k property key components 
budget and £30k DDA budget: 

 
Government funding £977k 
CYC contribution agreed at outset £144k 
Total   £1,121k 
  
Projected Outturn  £1,336k 
Overspend £205k 
  
Proposed Funding:  
Underspends from Other Property Budgets £140k 
To be met from corporate resources (Pru 
Borrowing) 

£65k 

 
Table 3 – Clements Hall Financial Position 

 
 

CBSS IT  (Budget £1.594m, Outturn £1.342m) 

Page 218



 
30 The outturn of the IT Capital Programme is £1.342m against a budget 

of £1.594m, a variation of -£0.252m. 
 
31 The variation is comprised of 2 parts the first an under spend of 

£169k that relates to several projects coming in under budget 
including Government Connect and the Citrix upgrade and secondly 
slippage that relates to the I-Trent project. 

 
Miscellaneous (Budget £0.515m, Outturn £0.489m) 
 
32 The outturn of the miscellaneous items is £0.489m against a budget 

of £0.515m, a variation of -£0.026m 
 
33 Within the net variance of -£0.026m is the outturn position for the 

capital spend in relation to the More for York transformation 
programme. A total of £489k was spent on recycling containers per 
the original investment projection. 

 
34 The contingency budget was removed as part of the outturn process 

with pressures relating to minor scheme variations being addressed 
as part of this report. 

 
 
Funding the 2010/11 Capital Programme 
 
35 The 2010/11 capital programme of £53.981m has been funded from 

£27.092m external funding and £26.839m of internal funding. The 
internal funding is includes resources such as  revenue contributions, 
Supported Capital Expenditure, capital receipts and reserves. 

 
 
36 The overall funding position continues to be closely monitored to 

ensure the overall capital programme remains affordable and is 
sustainable over the 5 year approved duration. 

 
 

Update on the 2011/12 – 2015/16 Capital Programme 
 
37 The restated capital programme for 2011/12 to 2015/164 split by 

portfolio is shown in table 4.The individual scheme level profiles can 
be seen in Annex 1. 

 

Page 219



 
Table 4 – Restated Capital Programme 2011/12 to 2014/15 

 
38 Table 5 shows the projected call on Council resources going forward. 
 

  2011/122012/132013/142014/152015/16 Total 
£m £m £m £m £m £m 

Gross Capital 
Programme 

67.755 54.887 29.368 21.471 11.563 185.044

Funded by 
  External Funding 
 

29.700 29.243 23.321 16.870 7.206 106.340

  Council  
Controlled      
Resources 

38.055 25.664 6.047 4.601 4.357 78.704

  Total Funding  67.755 54.887 29.368 21.471 11.563 185.044
 

Table 5  - 2011/12 –2015/16 Capital Programme Financing 

Total by 
Department 

 2011/12 
Budget 

2012/13 
Budget 

2013/14 
Budget 

2014/15 
Budget 

2015/16 
Budget 

Total 
Budget 

 £m  £m £m £m £m £m 
ACE Children’s 

Services 
15.128 5.583 5.583 5.583 0.000 31.877

ACE Adult Social 
Services 

0.722 0.495 0.505 0.515 0.525 
 

2.762

CANS Leisure and 
Culture 

6.218 0.886 0.000 0.000 0.000 7.104

CANS Neighbourhood 
Services 

8.952 3.490 3.456 3.384 3.747 23.029

CANS Housing 
 

11.841 8.411 8.680 8.426 6.441 43.799

City Strategy Planning 
&Transport 

6.117 18.219 8.826 2.713 0.000 35.875

City Strategy Admin Accom 11.366 14.906 1.468 0.000 0.000 27.740
City Strategy Community 

Stadium 
4.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 4.000

City Strategy Economic 
Development 

0.058 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.058

City Strategy Property 
Services 

1.920 2.147 0.100 0.100 0.100 4.367

CBSS IT 
 

1.133 0.750 0.750 0.750 0.750 4.133

CBSS Miscellaneous 
(Contingency 
etc) 

0.300 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.300

Total 67.755 54.887 29.368 21.471 11.563 185.044

Page 220



  
39 The Council controlled figure is comprised of a number of resources 

that the Council has ultimate control over how it chooses to apply 
them, these include Right to Buy receipts, Revenue Contributions,  
Supported (government awarded) Borrowing, Prudential (Council 
funded) Borrowing, Reserves (including Venture Fund) and Capital 
Receipts. 

 
40 It should be recognised that capital receipts which form part of the 

Council Controlled Resources should be considered at risk of not 
being realised within set time frames and to estimated values until the 
receipt is received. The capital programme is predicated on a small 
number of large capital receipts, which if not achieved would cause 
significant funding pressures for the programme. The Director of 
Customer and Business Support closely monitors the overall funding 
position to ensure that the over the full duration of the capital 
programme it remains balanced, any issues with regard to financing 
will be reported as part of the standard reporting cycle to the Cabinet. 

 
Corporate Objectives 

 
41 All schemes approved as part of the capital programme have been 

scored through the Capital Resource Allocation Model (CRAM), 
which rigorously evaluates scheme submissions against key 
corporate objectives and national government priorities. 

 
 

Financial Implications  
 

42 The financial implications are considered in the main body of the 
report. 

 
Human Resources Implications 
 

43 There are no HR implications as a result of this report 
 

Equalities Implications 
 

44 The capital programme seeks to address key equalities issues that 
affect the Council and the public.  Schemes that address equalities 
include the Disabilities Support Grant, the Schools Access Initiative, 
the Community Equipment Loans Store (CELS) and the Disabilities 
Discrimination Act (DDA) Access Improvements.  The Easy@York 

Page 221



project is also aimed at improving access to Council services for all 
residents. 

 
45 All individual schemes will be subject to Equalities Impact 

Assessments 
 

Legal Implications 
 

46 There are no HR implications as a result of this report . 
 

Crime and Disorder 
 

47 There are no crime and disorder implications as a result of this report 
 
Information Technology 
 

48 There are no information technology implications as a result of this 
report 

 
Property 
 

49 The property implications of this paper are included in the main body 
of the report which covers the funding of the capital programme from 
capital receipts. 

 
Risk Management 
 

50 The capital programme is regularly monitored as part of the corporate 
monitoring process. In addition to this the Capital Asset Management 
Group (CAMG) meets regularly to plan monitor and review major 
capital schemes to ensure that all capital risks to the Council are 
minimised. 

 
Recommendations 

 
51 The Cabinet is requested to: 

• Note the 2010/11 capital outturn position and approve the 
requests for slippage totalling £9.721m from 2010/11 programme 
to the 2011/12 capital programme. 

• Recommend to Full Council the restated 2011/12 to 2015/16 
programme as summarised in Table 4 and detailed in Annex 1. 

Page 222



• Recommend to Full Council  the use of additional Council 
resources in the form of prudential borrowing at a value of £65k to 
fund the overspend on Clements Hall. 

 
 
 Reason:  

• To allow the continued effective financial management of the 
capital programme from 2011/12 to 2015/16. 

 
  

Contact Details 
 
 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the 
report: 

 
Ross Brown 
Principal Accountant 
Technical Finance 
Customer and Business 
Support 
01904 551207 
 
 
Louise Branford-White 
Finance Manager 
Technical Finance 
Customer and Business 
Support 
01904 551187 

Ian Floyd 
Director of Customer and Business and 
Support 
 
Report 
Approved √ 

Date 06/07/2011 

 
Keith Best  
Head of Finance 
Customer and Business Support 
 
Report 
Approved 

√ Date 06/07/2011 

 

 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)   
None 
 
Wards Affected:  List wards or tick box to indicate all All √ 

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 

 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
Background Papers 2010/11 monitoring working papers and respective 
DMT reports (where applicable). 

Page 223



 
Annex 1 – Capital Programme by year 2010/11 – 2015/16 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 224



�
��
��
��

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�


�
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�


�
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

�
�

�
 !

 �
"

���
�


�
#


 �

�

��
$




%

&
�

 &

�

'
��


�
 �

��
��

��
��

�
�(

��
)

�)
�

�)
�

�)
�

�)
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
��
��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

*
��

�





�
�

�
 +


$
"

�
'

�'
�

,
!�

)�
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��

�
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
+

��
�


�

�

 �
��

��
��

 -
�

�
�

 �
�!

�.
 &

��
�'

/
�

!�
��

!�
(�

�0
��

.
�(

��
0

�(
��

0
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
��
��
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

*
�

�
��

�
�

�'
�

 �
$"

'
'

� 1
/

�
�'

�

/


�
�


 +
�

-
�

�)
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

%
&

�
 2

'
�


�
�

�

��

�'
�

!�
��

!�
)

�(
�.

�
�)

�(
0�

�
�(

))
�

�(
))

�
�(

))
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��

��
�

��
�

�
��

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

$"
'

'
�


 �
$$





 

1�
��

��
��

�

 

!�
�

!�
��

��
.

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

�
��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�

 �

��
��

!�
��

.�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��

�
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
3�


�
�


�
 �

$"
'

'
�


��
)

�.
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

4
��

/
��

, 
�

$"
'

'
� �

��
��


�
�$

 4
�'

�
��

/
/


 
��

�
!�

(�
��

�(
)�

�
�(

��
�

�(
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
��
��

��
��
�

�
��
��
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

&

�

5

�

� 
2

6
7

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

-
�

��
'

��
 �

$"
'

'
� �

$�

�

$

 8

�9

 

��
�

 �
��


�
'

'
/



!�

��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��

�
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
:

'
�

�"
 �

��
��

��
 -

�
�

�
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
"

���
�


�
#


 �

�

��




 4
"

�


 

�
�)

.�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

;'




�
"

 	
'

5
�

��




 �
�


 
�

$"
'

'
� 4

��
"

��
�

�

�

�
!�

.�
�(

�0
�

�.
�

�.
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��
��

��
��
�

�
��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�

$

��
��


� 
�

$"
'

'
�


 �
��

��



��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�/

��
�

 "
��

"
 �

'
� 

�
�


�9
�


�
 $

"
���

�

�

 

"

'
��

 9
�


�<



��
!�

0
�0

.
�0

��
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��
�

��
�

�
��

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��

,!
=

��

 

&
��

�'
/

� 
�

3

/

�
��

� 
-

�$
���

�,
 �

� 
2

��
'

� 
�

$"
'

'
�

!�
��

�(
�)

�
��

�
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
��

��
��
�

�
��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�


��

�

�

 

�
$"

'
'

� !
 �

'
 8

'
$�

��
'

�
!�

.�
�0

�
�.

�
�.

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
��

��
�

�
��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�


�$
 %




�

�
�(

��
�

�(
��

�
�(

��
�

�(
��

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

+
�

+
�

8
 7

	
�

�
�

 �
>

4
�

%
&

1+
6

	
�

!�
.0

!�
(�

)�
�)

()
)�

�
�(

�)
�

��
(�

�0
�

�
�(

�0
�

�
�

�(
�0

�
�

�
�(

�0
�

�
�

�
+

�
+

�
8

 �
>

+
�

	
%

�
8

 -
6

%
&

1%
7

�0
�

!�
(�

��
��

(�
�0

�
�(

��
�

��
()

)0
�

�
�(

�0
�

�
�

�(
�0

�
�

�
�(

�0
�

�
�

�
+

�
+

�
8

 1%
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
!�

(�
)0

!�
��

�(
��

�
�

��
�

�(
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�

�
�

�
 !

 �
'

$�
��

 �

�

��
$




;'

��
� 

�
?

�
��

/

�

� 
�

�'
�


!�
�

)�
��

�
��

�
��

�
��

�
��

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

1�
�'

�/
��

�'
�

 2
��

��

/


�
� 

1/
�

�'
�


/

�

�

!�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��

�
�

�
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

&
�


�9
�


�
 �

�
�

�
'

��
 7

��
�

�
�

��
�

��
�

��
�

��
�

��
�

�)
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

+

�


$
��


 
�

?
�

��
/


�
�

!�
)

�0
0

��
�

��
�

��
�

��
�

��
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

4
1+

�
8

 �
6

&
7

�
+

 !
 �

��
��

��
 !

 �
��

��
��

�

Page 225



�
��
��
��

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�


�
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�


�
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

�
�

4
1+

�
8

 �
6

&
7

�
+

 !
 �

��
��

��
 !

 �
��

��
��

�
�

�
��


 
�

'
$�

��
 �

��

 

1+
 �

��
�

�
��

)�
�0

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

&
�,

 �

�

��
$


 2
'

�

�

�
�


��
�'

�
!0

)
.

�
!0

)
!.

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

*

�

��
"

 �
�

�
 �

��

�

, 
=

'
�<


 
��

 �
'

$�
��

 �

�

��
$



 
�


�
�9

��

"

/

�

�

.�

.�
0�

�)
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
��

�
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

+
�

+
�

8
 7

	
�

�
�

 �
>

4
�

%
&

1+
6

	
�

!�
�

�
0�

)
!)

!�
)�

�
�

�
�.

�
�

�
��

�
�

�
��

�
�

�
��

�
+

�
+

�
8

 �
>

+
�

	
%

�
8

 -
6

%
&

1%
7

��
�

�)
�

!)
!�

��
)

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

+
�

+
�

8
 1%

+
�

	
%

�
8

 -
6

%
&

1%
7

!�
�

�
�0

�
�

�
�0

�
�

�
�.

�
�

�
��

�
�

�
��

�
�

�
��

�

+
�

+
�

8
 7

	
�

�
�

 �
>

4
�

%
&

1+
6

	
�

!�
��

!�
(�

�.
�0

(�
��

!)
�(

��
.

��
(0

��
�

�
�(

�)
0

�
�

�(
�0

0
�

�
�(

�.
0

�
�

��
�

+
�

+
�

8
 �

>
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
)�

�
!�

(�
�.

��
(�

��
!)

�(
��

.
��

(�
��

�
�

�(
�0

�
�

�
�(

�0
�

�
�

�(
�0

�
�

�
�

+
�

+
�

8
 1%

+
�

	
%

�
8

 -
6

%
&

1%
7

!�
(�

��
!�

��
�(

�0
0

�
��

�
�(

0�
�

�
�

�.
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

%
�

 !
 8


�

�

�

 �

�
�

 �
�

��
�

�

�

$'
/

9
 8

�9
��

�,
!�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

2
�




�

/
 �


�
��

$

 *


�
��

��

 

8
'

��

�

, 
�

��
!�

��
�

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

:
'

�<
 4

'
'

�

 �

��
��


�
, 

! 
��

��
�0

�
!�

�
�(

��
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��

��
�

�
��
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

-
�



 
�

5
�/

/
��

�
 �

'
� 

�
�


� 
��

#

�0

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

2
���

�

��

 8
��


 
�

'
/

/
 �

�
'

��

 

�

�

��



!�
)�

�
�)

�
�0

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

:
'

�<
 �

3�
�'

�

 �


�
��



�

�)
.

��
��

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
4

��
<


 �
�

�
 �

�

�

 �
�

�$




 &

�


�
'

�
/


�
�

��
!�

�
��

0
��

��
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��
�

��
�

�
��

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

&
�

�
-

 =
��


 
� 

4
��

,9
�

���

�

-
�

�
�

��
�

��
!�

�.
�)

.
��

.
��

.
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
��

��
�

�
��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
"

���
�


�
#


 4
��

, 
8

'
��


�
, 

�
��

!�
�

!�
�

��
��

��
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

��
�

��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

8
�9

��
�,

 �

�

�!
1



�

 

�
?

�
��

/

�

�
0

!�
��

�0
��

�
�.

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
��

��
�

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
3�

�'
�


 *
�


�'
�,

 @
 :

'
�<

 
�

�.
�

��
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�<
��

�
�


 
�

�
'

��

 

*
��

� -
�'

'
� 

	

�

��
$


/

�

�
!)

��
)

)
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
9

�$
��

 �
�

�
��

'
��

�
/

!0
)�

��
�

0)
�

�(
��

.
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
��

��
�

�
��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

:

�

�

�


, 
4

'
'

� �
�


�
�

, 
1/

�
�'

�

/


�
�


 
�

�
�)

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
+

�
+

�
8

 7
	

�
�

�
 �

>
4

�
%

&
1+

6
	

�
�0

!�
(�

��
�(

��
�

��
�(

��
�

�(
��

0
�

�
00

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

+
�

+
�

8
 �

>
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
��

!)
0�

��
�

�
)0

�
�(

�0
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
+

�
+

�
8

 1%
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
��

!0
��

0)
�

��
0�

�
�(

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�

�
�

%
�

 !
 %


�
�

"
9

'
�

�"
'

'
�

 �

�

��
$




�

��
 A

�
��

��
, 

2
'

�
��

'
��

�
�

!�
!0

�
��

0�
0�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��
�

��
�

��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
'

�
��

/
��

��

�

 8
��

�
 1�

�


�

��
��

�'
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

=
�


�

 1�

��
�


��
�

$�
�

�

 �

��
��

��
 7

��
�

� 
B=

1�
7

C
!�

0.
�)

�
�0

.
�0

.
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
��

��
�

�
��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
���


�
 �

��




� 
+

'
��


�

!�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�

Page 226



�
��
��
��

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�


�
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�


�
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

�
�

4
1+

�
8

 �
6

&
7

�
+

 !
 �

��
��

��
 !

 �
��

��
��

=
��

�
 �

'
/

/
��

�





 !
 1/

�
�'

�

/


�
� 

�
$"


/




!�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
$'

&

�

'
� 

�

$

�
��

�,
 7

��

 

� 	

$


�
��

'
�

!�
�

�
��

��
.

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

=




� 
'

� 
:

'
�<

 	

$

,$
���

�
 �

��



�
�(

��
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

*
��

"
5

�,
 	




�

��
�$

��
�

 D
 	


$
'

�

�

��
$�

�'
�

 B
�

��
�

$�
 2

��
�

�C
�

!�
)�

�(
�0

�
�)

�
�(

�0
)

�(
��

�
�(

��
�

�(
.�

�
�(

�.
)

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
��

��
��
�

�
��
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�


$
��

� �
��

�
�


 
2

��
�

�

�

��
$


 B
�

��
�

$�
 /

��
�

�C
!�

�
��

0
��

�
��

�
��

�
��

�
��

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
��




� 

8
��

"
� 

2
'

�

�

�
�


��
�'

�
��

�0
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
*

��
"

5
�,


 
1/

�
�'

�

/


�
�


.�
�

��
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
��
��
��
 �
	

�!
�	
� 
��
�
 

" 

�
	�
�#
$
%
&

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�

/

��
'

��
�

/
!�

��
�(

)�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

�
��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

=
��

�

� 

	




���

�

$

 4

�'
��


�
'

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

	

�

��
$


/

�

� 
'

� 
6

�

'

�
�

�
 8

��
"

��
�

�
 �

'
��

/
�



�

��
��

��
��

��
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��

�
�

��
�

�
��

�
�

��
�

�
��

*
��

"
5

�,

 

�
'

�
�

��
�'

�
 1/

�
�'

�

/


�
�


�
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��

9
'

�
 	


�
�

$�
�'

�
 ��

 �
��




� 

8
��

"
��

�
�

�
��

�
��

�
��

�
��

�
��

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

+
�

+
�

8
 7

	
�

�
�

 �
>

4
�

%
&

1+
6

	
�

!0
!�

�.
�(

�.
�

�
��

.
0(

.�
�

�
�

�(
�.

�
�

�
�(

��
�

�
�

�(
�0

�
�

�
�(

)�
)

+
�

+
�

8
 �

>
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
�

!�
)�

�(
��

�
�

�)
�

�(
��

.
�

�
�(

).
�

�
�

�(
)�

�
�

�
�(

�0
�

�
�

�(
��

)
+

�
+

�
8

 1%
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
!�

�
!�

0�
�(

�)
�

�
�0

�
�(

0�
�

�
�

�(
)�

�
�

�
�(

)�
�

�
�

�(
)�

�
�

�
�(

)�
�

�
�

%
�

 !
 *

'
�


�
�

�
2

'
�


�
�

�

��

�'
�

 '
� 

8
'

$�
� �

�
�"

'
��

�,
 *

'
/




!�

�
)�

.�
�

�(
��

�
��

�
�)

�
��

)
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

	

�

��
�


 �
'

 8
'

$�
� �

�
�"

'
��

�,
 4

�'
�


�
��




!�

��
�(

��
.

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
��

��
��
�

�
��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�




�

��

�
$


 �
'

 �
��


�
 D

 &
�


�9
�


�
 4


'
�

�

!�

�.
�

�
��

�
��

�
��

�
��

�
��

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

2
	

�
 �

$"

/




!�

��
�(

��
�

�(
))

0
�(

��
0

�(
��

�
�(

..
)

�(
��

.
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��

�
��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

*
'

�

�

�
�

 7
��

�
�


 D
 �




'

$�
��


�
 1�

�


�

/

�

� 
B7

��
�

�
C

!�
�

!�
��

��
�

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

�
��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

&
�


�9
�


�
 -

�$
���

��




 7
��

�
� 

B7
��

�
�

C
�

.�
�

.)
�

�(
��

�
�(

�)
�

�(
��

�
�(

�)
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�


�
�

, 
�

'
�




��

��
�'

�
 ��

 *
'

/




 B7
��

�
�

C
��

�0
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

8
'

$�
� �

�
�"

'
��

�,
 *

'
/




!.

�
��

�
.�

�(
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��

��
�

�
��
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
��

�
�

��
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

9
 	


�
�'

�
��

 8

�

��
�

�

 

�
$"


/

 

B7
��

�
�

C
!�

��
�)

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
��

��
�

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

+
��

�

��


�

 !

 ;
�/




 �

��




� 
=

��
� 

B7
��

�
�

C
�

)�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

+
��

�

��


�

 �

��




 �
�


$�
��

$�
�,

 6
�

��

 

B7
��

�
�

C
!�

�
��

�
��

��
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
�

��
�

�
��

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�

Page 227



�
��
��
��

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�


�
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�


�
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

�
�

4
1+

�
8

 �
6

&
7

�
+

 !
 �

��
��

��
 !

 �
��

��
��

=
��


�
 2

��
�


 
6

�
�

��
�



�

��
�

�(
��

�
�(

��
�

�(
��

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

���
��

�
 1�


�
��

��
'

�
 4

�'
�

��
/

/



�
)�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

4
�'

�

�

�,
 �

�
, 

�
�$

< 
�

$"

/



��

�
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
� 

�
$"


/




 B7
��

�
�

C
��

��
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

+
�

+
�

8
 7

	
�

�
�

 �
>

4
�

%
&

1+
6

	
�

!�
.

!�
�.

.(
��

�
�

��
.

��
(0

��
�

�
0(

��
�

�
�

0(
�0

�
�

�
0(

��
�

�
�

�(
��

�
+

�
+

�
8

 �
>

+
�

	
%

�
8

 -
6

%
&

1%
7

!�
�

!�
)0

�(
)�

�
�

�)
0

)(
.�

�
�

�
�(

��
�

�
�

)(
��

�
�

�
�(

.0
�

�
�

�(
��

.
+

�
+

�
8

 1%
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
��

!�
.�

�(
�.

.
�

�.
�

�(
.�

)
�

�
�(

�0
�

�
�

�(
��

)
�

�
�(

��
�

�
�

�(
�0

�

+
�

+
�

8
 7

	
�

�
�

 �
>

4
�

%
&

1+
6

	
�

!)
�

!�
(�

��
��

()
0�

��
�(

��
�

�)
(�

��
�

�
��

()
0)

�
�

��
(�

��
�

�
��

(0
��

�
�

��
(�

00
+

�
+

�
8

 �
>

+
�

	
%

�
8

 -
6

%
&

1%
7

!�
�

!�
(�

��
.(

��
�

�
�(

��
�

��
(�

��
�

�
0(

�)
�

�
�

.(
��

.
�

�
0(

��
�

�
�

)(
��

�
+

�
+

�
8

 1%
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
!�

�
!�

(�
��

)(
��

�
��

�(
��

�
��

(0
)�

�
�

�(
��

�
�

�
�(

��
)

�
�

�(
��

�
�

�
�(

.0
�

�
��

, 
�

��
��


�
, 

B4
��

�
�

��
�

 D
 +

��
�


�
'

��
C

�
���
���
���
��

�
���
���
���
��

8
'

$�
� +

��
�


�
'

��
 4

��
�

 B
8

+
4

C
!�

��
!�

)�
�(

�0
�

�)
�

�(
�0

�
�(

.�
�

�(
.�

�
�(

��
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��
��

�
��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
��

��
��
�

�
��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

:
'

�<
 �

��
, 

=
��

�

 !

 	

�

��
�


 D
 	


�

5

��

 

B�
��

, 
=

��
�


C
0

�.
�

!0
��

�
��

�
.�

.�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
��

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
��

�
�

�
�

,$
���

�
 �

��
, 

�(
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
$$





 

:
'

�<
 

�
�(

��
�

��
(0

)�
�(

)0
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
��
�

�
�

��
��
��

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
2

��

�


�
 4

��
EE

�
�

�
��

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
8




/

��
 	

'
��

 -
�'

'
�

 &

�


�
$




�

�
�(

��
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
+

�
+

�
8

 7
	

�
�

�
 �

>
4

�
%

&
1+

6
	

�
!�

��
!�

��
�(

)�
0

�
��

�
�(

��
)

�
�

�0
(�

�.
�

�
0(

0�
�

�
�

�(
)�

�
�

�
�

+
�

+
�

8
 �

>
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
!�

(�
��

�
�(

��
)

�
�

�(
��

.
�

�
��

(�
0�

�
�

0(
)�

.
�

�
�(

��
�

�
�

�
+

�
+

�
8

 1%
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
��

�
!�

��
�(

��
�

�
��

�
�(

��
0

�
�

�(
.�

�
�

�
.)

�
�

.�
�

�
�

�
��

, 
�

��
��


�
, 

B�
�

/
��

 �
$$

'
/

C
�

�
/

��
 �

$$
'

/
/

.)
��

()
�0

!.
)

��
(�

��
��

(.
��

�(
��

0
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��

��
��
��

�
��
�

��
��
��

�
�

��
��
��

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

+
�

+
�

8
 7

	
�

�
�

 �
>

4
�

%
&

1+
6

	
�

�
.)

��
()

�0
�

!.
)

��
(�

��
�

�
��

(.
��

�
�

�(
��

0
�

�
�

�
�

�
+

�
+

�
8

 �
>

+
�

	
%

�
8

 -
6

%
&

1%
7

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

+
�

+
�

8
 1%

+
�

	
%

�
8

 -
6

%
&

1%
7

�
.)

��
()

�0
�

!.
)

��
(�

��
�

�
��

(.
��

�
�

�(
��

0
�

�
�

�
�

�

�
��

, 
�

��
��


�
, 

B�
'

/
/

�
�

��
, 


�
��

��
/

C
�

�
�

�
�

�
'

/
/

�
�

��
, 

�
��

�
��

/
�

�(
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��

, 
�

��
��


�
, 

B�
$'

�
'

/
�$

 &

�


�
'

�
/


�
�C

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
/

��
� �

�

�

�





 
=

'
�<


"
'

�



�
�0

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

F
�


��
'

��
+

'
�

��

�

 1�
�'

�/
��

�'
�

 �

�

��



��
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

+
�

+
�

8
 7

	
�

�
�

 �
>

4
�

%
&

1+
6

	
�

�
�

��
�

�
�0

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

+
�

+
�

8
 �

>
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
+

�
+

�
8

 1%
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
�

�
��

�
�

�0
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�

�
��

, 
�

��
��


�
, 

! 
4

�'
�


�
�,

�
��

9
'

�
 2

��
��


/

�

�
!�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
4

�'
�


�
�,

 G

,

 �
'

/
�

'
�


�
�


 B
*

D
�

C
!�

��
!�

)
��

�
�)

�)
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��

��
�

��
�

�
��

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
*


�
��

"
 D

 �
��


�
, 

� &
&

�
!�

�
!0

�
0

0
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�

�

Page 228



�
��
��
��

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�


�
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�


�
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

�
�

4
1+

�
8

 �
6

&
7

�
+

 !
 �

��
��

��
 !

 �
��

��
��

-
��


 
�

��

�

, 
	


�
�

��
��

'
�


 
! 

�
�

��
��

��
'

�



��
!)

�
��

)�
)�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��
�

��
�

��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

	

/

'
��

� '
� 

�

9




�'



��

!�
�

�
��

��
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��
�

�
�

��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
� 

�
�


/

�

�

 *

��
� 	


�
�

�9
�


"
/


�
�

�0
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
6

��

�

� 
	

��

�

 �
��

< 
	


�
��

�

!�

�
��

�
��

��
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
�

��
�

�
��

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

$'
/

9
 �

��
�$



�

�
�

�(
�.

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
2

��

�

'
�

 *
'

�




 �
3�


�
�

��
 	


�
��

�

!�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

*
�

�
�

��

 

� 4

�


"
'

�/

 

	

�

'
$�

��
'

�
!�

�
��

��
��

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
��
�

��
�

��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

4

�


"
'

�/

 

1/
�

�'
�


/

�

�

��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
���

5
�,



��

��
)

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
	

��

�

9
��

< 
�


�
��

�

!�

)
��

�)
�.

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

��
�

�
�

��
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

4
�'

�

�

�,
 �

'
/

�
���

�
$


 B
�


9




�'

 

��
�

 -
��


 
�


�

C

!0
�

�
0�

0�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
�

�
�

��
�

�
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�

	
��


�
9

��
< 

	

�

��
�


 !
 �

$�
�9

'
�'

�
�

"
 �

'
 �

���
�'

�
 �

��
�

�



�
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

	
��


�
9

��
< 

	

�

��
�


 H
 �

��

 

�
��

�
�


 
�

���
5

�,
�

��
.

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

	
��


�
9

��
< 

	

�

��
�


 H
 2

��
,�

��



�
�

�)
�

�
�

�
��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
4

"
'

�'
�'

��
��

$ 
�

�

�

�
, 

4
�'

�
��

/
/



�

��
�

��
�

��
�

��
�

��
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

+
�

+
�

8
 7

	
�

�
�

 �
>

4
�

%
&

1+
6

	
�

��
!�

��
�(

��
�

�
��

�
�(

.�
�

�
�

�(
��

)
�

�
��

�
�

�
��

�
�

�
��

�
+

�
+

�
8

 �
>

+
�

	
%

�
8

 -
6

%
&

1%
7

��
�

�.
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
+

�
+

�
8

 1%
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
��

!�
��

0)
�

�
��

�
�(

.�
�

�
�

�(
��

)
�

�
��

�
�

�
��

�
�

�
��

�

+
�

+
�

8
 7

	
�

�
�

 �
>

4
�

%
&

1+
6

	
�

!�
..

!)
��

��
(�

)�
�

)�
�

��
(�

��
�

�
��

(�
)�

�
�

��
(�

.�
�

�
�(

0�
�

�
�

��
�

+
�

+
�

8
 �

>
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
!�

(�
��

�
�(

�.
0

�
�

�(
��

.
�

�
��

(�
0�

�
�

0(
)�

.
�

�
�(

��
�

�
�

�
+

�
+

�
8

 1%
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
��

�
!)

��
��

(�
)�

�
)�

�
�0

(.
��

�
�

�.
(.

00
�

�
�(

��
�

�
�

�.
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

 !
 1+

 

?

�
��

/

�

�
1+

 �
?

�
��

/

�

�
!�

�.
!0

�
�(

��
�

0�
�(

��
�

)�
�

)�
�

)�
�

)�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��

��
�

��
��
�

�
��

��
��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

��
�

+
�

+
�

8
 7

	
�

�
�

 �
>

4
�

%
&

1+
6

	
�

!�
�.

!0
�

�(
��

�
�

0�
�(

��
�

�
�

)�
�

�
�

)�
�

�
�

)�
�

�
�

)�
�

+
�

+
�

8
 �

>
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
+

�
+

�
8

 1%
+

�
	

%
�

8
 -

6
%

&
1%

7
!�

�.
!0

�
�(

��
�

�
0�

�(
��

�
�

�
)�

�
�

�
)�

�
�

�
)�

�
�

�
)�

�

2
�


$

���

�

'

�



2
'

�

 �

 :
'

�<
�)

.
�0

.
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
*

�E

�

 �
'

�
��

 &

�

'
�

!�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

'
�

��
�

�

�

$,
!�

��
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

��
�
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

��
�	
�

��
��

��
��
��

��
��

�
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

+
�

+
�

8
 7

	
�

�
�

 �
>

4
�

%
&

1+
6

	
�

!�
�

�
�0

.
�

�
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
+

�
+

�
8

 �
>

+
�

	
%

�
8

 -
6

%
&

1%
7

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

+
�

+
�

8
 1%

+
�

	
%

�
8

 -
6

%
&

1%
7

!�
�

�
�0

.
�

�
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�

�

Page 229



�
��
��
��

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

��
��

��
�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

	

�

�


�

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

��
�

��
�

�
��

�
��

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�


�
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�

��
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

�
�

�
�

���
�

��



�
�

�
�


�
�

�
�

�
���

�
��



�

�
�

�

�

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

��
��

�
�

4
1+

�
8

 �
6

&
7

�
+

 !
 �

��
��

��
 !

 �
��

��
��

7
�'




 �

3�

�

�
��

�
�


 9
, 

&

�

��
�/


�
�

�
�
�
��
��
'�
��

�
�(
)�
*
�

��
+�
)

!�
.0

!�
(�

)�
�)

()
)�

�
�(

�)
�

��
(�

�0
�

�
�(

�0
�

�
�

�(
�0

�
�

�
�(

�0
�

�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�*
 +
��
��*

�

��
+�
)

!�
�

�
0�

)
!)

!�
)�

�
�

�
�.

�
�

�
��

�
�

�
��

�
�

�
��

�
�
�
,
*
��
�-
��
)�

�
��
��
��
��
	�

�

�0
!�

(�
��

�(
��

�
��

�(
��

�
�(

��
0

�
�

00
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�
�
,
*
��
�,
��
�'
! 
�

' 
 �
�*
�

��
+�
)

!0
!�

�.
�(

�.
�

�
��

.
0(

.�
�

�
�

�(
�.

�
�

�
�(

��
�

�
�

�(
�0

�
�

�
�(

)�
)

�
�
,
*
��
�.
 �
)�
��

!�
.

!�
�.

.(
��

�
�

��
.

��
(0

��
�

�
0(

��
�

�
�

0(
�0

�
�

�
0(

��
�

�
�

�(
��

�
�
�	/
�*
	

�	
��
/�
#$
��
��
��
��
0
�1

�
�)
" 

	
&

!�
��

!�
��

�(
)�

0
�

��
�

�(
��

)
�

�
�0

(�
�.

�
�

0(
0�

�
�

�
�(

)�
�

�
�

�
�
�	/
�*
	

�	
��
/�
#�
�2

��
��
++
 2

&
�

.)
��

()
�0

�
!.

)
��

(�
��

�
�

��
(.

��
�

�
�(

��
0

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�	/
�*
	

�	
��
/�
#�
 2

2
��
�	/
�)
	�
��
�2

&
�

�
�

�
�

�(
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�
�	/
�*
	

�	
��
/�
#�
+ 
� 
2
�+
�3
��
��
 "
2
��
	&

�
�

��
�

�
�0

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�	/
�*
	

�	
��
/�
��
$

 
"�

	
/

��
!�

��
�(

��
�

�
��

�
�(

.�
�

�
�

�(
��

)
�

�
��

�
�

�
��

�
�

�
��

�
�
%
*
*
��
��1

��
4�
�"
2
��
	

!�
�.

!0
�

�(
��

�
�

0�
�(

��
�

�
�

)�
�

�
�

)�
�

�
�

)�
�

�
�

)�
�

5
�)
+�
���
��
 �
)

!�
�

�
�0

.
�

�
��

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
+

'
��

� 9
, 

&

�

��
�/


�
�

!�
(�

)�
!.

()
��

��
(.

��
�

.(
)�

�
�)

()
��

�
�

��
(0

0)
�

�
�.

(�
�0

�
�

��
(�

)�
�

�
��

(�
��

�

Page 230



 

 

 
 

 
 
Cabinet 

 
19 July 2011 

 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 

 

Treasury Management Annual Report & Review of Prudential 
Indicators 2010/11 
 

Summary 
 
1. This Council is required through regulations issued under the 

Local Government Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury 
report reviewing treasury management activities and the actual 
prudential and treasury indicators for 2010/11. This report meets 
the requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management (the Code) and the CIPFA Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential 
Code). 

 
2. The treasury management annual activities are detailed in report 

and the prudential indicators, which ensure the Council’s 
treasury management activities are affordable sustainable and 
prudent as approved by Council on 25 February 2011, are 
contained in Annex A.  

 
3. The Council’s debt and investment position ensures adequate 

liquidity for revenue and capital activities, security for  
investments and manages risks within all treasury management 
areas. Procedures and controls to achieve these objectives are 
established through Member reporting and through officer 
operational activities detailed in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Practices.  The Council‘s treasury position a for 
2010/11 is as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 14Page 231



  31-Mar-11 
Rate of 
Return 31-Mar-10 

Rate of 
Return 

Borrowing: £M   £M   
-PWLB 108.1   101.1   
-Market 25.0   15.0   
Total Borrowing 133.1   116.1   
Average Borrowing 

130.5 4.20% 104.9 4.52% 
Investments:         
Total Investments 35.2   25.9   
Average Investments 63.8 1.15% 47.4 2.20% 

Table 1 – Position of the treasury management portfolio 
  
Background 
 
Economic Background 
4. The performance of the council’s treasury management function 

is an outcome of the long-term borrowing and short-term 
investment decisions affected by the economic conditions during 
the 2010/11 financial year. 

 
5. The base rate remained at 0.5% throughout 2010/11 and 

inflation rates (CPI)  remained higher than expected above the 
Bank of England’s target rate of 2%.  The change in UK political 
background was a major factor behind weaker domestic growth 
expectations, evidenced by the heavy spending cuts announced 
in the October Comprehensive spending review.   

 
6. Interest rates on bonds (gilt yields), which affect the Council’s 

achievable borrowing rates,  fell for much of the first half of the 
year as financial markets drew considerable reassurance from 
the Government’s debt reduction plans. Expectations of further 
quantitative easing also helped to push yields to historic lows. 
However, this positive performance was mostly reversed (with 
increasing borrowing interest rates) in the closing months of 
2010 as sentiment changed due to sharply rising inflation 
pressures. 

 
7. Figure 1 shows the base rate movements since 1 April 2010 with 

predictions from economists and the Council’s Treasury 
management Advisors – Sector -  to February 2014. The graph 
shows how predictions have changed. The diamond line shows 

Page 232



Sectors prediction of the base rate in February 2010 compared 
to their latest prediction in triangles.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   Figure 1 – Forecast Base Rates 2010- 2014  
 
Treasury Managment Strategy 
8. The council’s borrowing strategy set for 2010/11 at full Council 

on 25 February 2010 followed advice from the council’s treasury 
management advisors –Sector Treasury Services - to borrow 
primarily at the start of the year when borrowing rates were 
forecast to be lower prior to rates rising in the second half of the 
financial year.  The actual movement in interest rates broadly 
followed the expectations in the strategy, borrowing was taken at 
the lower rates during the year, the full borrowing requirement 
was not taken due to borrowing rates being higher than 
investment rates. 

 
9. Figure 2 illustrates the PWLB rates for 2010/11 including the 

loans borrowed by the council.  This shows the council, took 
borrowing in the first half of the year when interest rates were 
lower. 

 
 
 
 
 

Base Rate Actual & Projections April 2008 - May 2011

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

A
pr

-1
0

O
ct

-1
0

A
pr

-1
1

O
ct

-1
1

A
pr

-1
2

O
ct

-1
2

A
pr

-1
3

O
ct

-1
3

Date

%

Official Bank Rate

Sector Forecast - May
2011

UBS Forecast - May
2011

Capital Economics
Forecast - May 2011

Sector Forecast as at
16/02/10 (10/11
Budget)

Page 233



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Figure 2 - PWLB rates vs. Bank of England vs. CYC borrowing level 
 

Borrowing Outturn 2010/11 
10. The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets 

as part of the Capital programme. The way that the capital 
programme is financed affects the treasury management activity 
of the Council, and ultimately borrowing.  The prudential 
indicators which control the borrowing activity of the Council are 
contained in Annex A. 

 
11. The councils long-term borrowing started the year at £116.4m.  

Table 2 shows the movement in debt during the year, the 
interest rates obtained on new borrowing, the average rate of the 
portfolio and the year of maturity. 

 
   Date Type Amount 

£M 
Interest 
rate 

Year of 
Maturity

Total Borrowing 01/04/10      116.1 4.52%   

Less Loans Repaid  05/05/10 PWLB 4.0 3.85% 2010/11 
   10/02/11 PWLB 3.0 0.85% 2010/11 
Plus New Loans  12/05/10 LOBO 5.0 3.60% 2060/61 
   25/05/10 PWLB 5.0 3.70% 2020/21 
   28/05/10 MARKET 5.0 0.70% 2011/12 
   12/08/10 PWLB 3.0 4.01% 2025/26 
   12/08/10 PWLB 3.0 2.95% 2017/28 

PWLB rates 01/04/10 to 31/03/11

0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

A
pr

-1
0

M
ay

-1
0

Ju
l-1

0

A
ug

-1
0

O
ct

-1
0

N
ov

-1
0

D
ec

-1
0

F
eb

-1
1

M
ar

-1
1

Date

%

1 7-7½ 9½-10 14½-15 49½-50 cyc borrowing

Page 234



   31/08/10 PWLB 3.0 3.92% 2059/60 
Total Borrowing 31/03/11      133.1 4.20%   

Table 2 - Movement In Long Term Borrowing 2010/11 
 
12. All of the new borrowing decisions were taken in light of the 

maturity structure of the Council’s current long term borrowing 
and the advantageous interest rates available.   

 
13. The Council did not restructure any of its borrowing portfolio 

during the year as no opportunities were favourable due to the 
disparity in PWLB rates since November 2007 and the 
governments change in PWLB rates in the comprehensive 
spending review. 

 
14. The overall position of the borrowing activity resulted in a fall in 

the average interest rate by 0.32% from 4.52% to 4.2%. 
 
15. Figure 3 shows the average rate of CYC borrowing continues to 

fall and in 2009/10 was comparable to other unitary authorities 
and the national average.  No figures as yet are available for 
2010/11. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 3 - CYC borrowing vs National Average vs Unitary Authority 
 

Long Term Borrowing Rates and Value 1991/1992 - 2010/11

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

91
/9

2
92

/9
3

93
/9

4
94

/9
5

95
/9

6

96
/9

7
97

/9
8

98
/9

9
99

/0
0

00
/0

1
01

/0
2

02
/0

3
03

/0
4

04
/0

5
05

/0
6

06
/0

7
07

/0
8

08
/0

9
09

/1
0

10
/1

1

LT
 B

or
ro

w
in

g 
(£

m
)

0.00

2.00

4.00

6.00

8.00

10.00

12.00 A
verage R

ate of Interest (%
)

CYC LT Borrowing £m Avg Rate CYC %
National Ave % Avg Rate for UA %

Page 235



Investment Outturn 2010/11 
16. The Council’s investment policy is governed by CLG guidance, 

which was implemented in the annual investment strategy 
approved by the Council on 25 February 2011.  This policy sets 
out the approach for choosing investment counterparties, and is 
based on credit ratings provided by the three main credit rating 
agencies (Fitch, Standard & Poors, Moody’s) supplemented by 
additional market data (such as rating outlooks, credit default 
swaps, bank share prices etc.).   

 
17. The investment activity during the year confirmed to the 

approved strategy, and the Council had no liquidity difficulties 
 
18. The Council maintained an average investment balance of 

£43.1m compared to £47.2m in 2009/10.  The surplus funds 
earned an average rate of return in 2010/11 of 1.15%, compared 
to 2.2% in 2009/10.  The rates available in 09/10 were more 
favourable and there were longer term investments that still held 
good rates in 2009/10 which no longer existed in 2010/11.  The 
comparable performance indicator is the average 7-day LIBID 
rate, which was 0.43% in 2010/11 and the one month LIBID rate 
of 0.62%. This occurred in line with the Investment strategy that 
the security of capital is of prime importance. 

 
19. Figure 4 illustrates the investment interest rates available for 

2010/11 including the rate of return on investments achieved.   
The Council could not invest further in 1 year due to the security 
of the Councils surplus fund being of prime importance.  The fall 
in the rate of return in May is the repayment of the 2 year 
investment with Nationwide when rates were more favourable. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 236



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 4 – Investment rates vs. Rate of Return on CYC Investments 
 
Consultation 
 
20. This report is for information purposes and reports on the 

performance of the treasury management function. Members 
through the budget process set the level of budget and expected 
performance of the Councils treasury management function.  

 
Options / Analysis 
 
21. In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, it is a 

requirement under the CIPFA Prudential code and the CIPFA 
Treasury Management in Local Authorities that the Cabinet 
receives an annual treasury management review report of the 
previous year –2009/10- by 30 September the following year – 
30 September 2010.  It is also a requirement that the Council 
delegates the role of scrutiny of treasury management strategy 
and policies to a specified named body which in this Council is 
the Audit & Governance Committee.  This annual treasury 

Investment Rates 01 April 2010 - 31 March 2011

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

01
/0

4/
20

10

01
/0

5/
20

10

01
/0

6/
20

10

01
/0

7/
20

10

01
/0

8/
20

10

01
/0

9/
20

10

01
/1

0/
20

10

01
/1

1/
20

10

01
/1

2/
20

10

01
/0

1/
20

11

01
/0

2/
20

11

01
/0

3/
20

11

Date

%

BOE Base Rate 7 Day LIBID % 3 Month LIBID %
6 Month LIBID % 1 Year LIBID % CYC Investment %

Page 237



management report is scheduled at Audit & Governance 
Committee on 28th July 2011.  

 
Corporate Priorities 
 
22. The council will meet its Corporate Strategy objective of 

“Effective Organisation” to achieve high standards by 
successfully and proactively managing its treasury activities.  
Effective treasury management is concerned with the 
management of the council’s cash flows, it’s banking, money 
market and capital transactions, the management of debt, the 
effective control of the risks associated with those activities, and 
the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

 
Implications 

 23.  
(a) Financial These are detailed in the body of the report 
 
(b) Human Resources (HR) There are no HR implications as a result 

of this report 
 
(c) Equalities There are no equalities implications as a result of this 

report   
 
(d) Legal  Treasury Management activities have to conform to 

the Local Government Act 2003, which specifies that the 
Council is required to adopt the CIPFA Prudential Code and 
the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice 

 
(e) Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder 

implications as a result of this report 
 
(f) Information Technology (IT) There are no IT implications as a 

result of this report 
 
(g) Property There are no property implications as a result of this report  

 
 
Risk Management 
 
24. The treasury function is a high-risk area because of the level of 

large money transactions that take place.  As a result of this 
there are strict procedures set out as part of the Treasury 

Page 238



Management Practices statement.  The scrutiny of this and other 
monitoring reports is carried out by Audit & Governance 
Committee as part of the council’s system of internal control 

 
Recommendations 
 
25. The Cabinet, in accordance with the Local Government Act 2003 

is advised to: 
(a) Note the 2010/11 performance of the Treasury 

Management activity,  
(b) Note the movements in the Prudential Indicators in Annex A 

 
Contact Details 
 
 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the 
report: 

Louise Branford-White 
Technical Finance Manager 
 
Ross Brown  
Principal Accountant  
 
Corporate Finance x1187 

Ian Floyd 
Director of Customer & Business Support 
Services 
 
Report 
Approved Y 

Date 19/07/11 

Ian Floyd 
Director of Customer & Business Support 
Services 

Report 
Approved 

Y Date 19/07/11 
 

 
Specialist Implications Officer(s 
 
Wards Affected:  All wards All Y 

 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers: 
Cash-flow Model 2010/11 Investment Register 2010/11, PWLB Debt Register, Capital 
Financing Requirement 2010/11 outturn, Prudential Indicators 2010/11, CIPFA Statistics 
2009/10 
 
Annexes 
Annex A: Prudential Indicators 2010/11 

Page 239



Page 240

This page is intentionally left blank



            
Prudential Indicators 2010/11 Outturn   Annex A  
  PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS   2010/11 2010/11 2009/10 

  

  

  

Estimate 
Monitor 

3  

actual actual 

1) Capital Expenditure   £'000 £'000 £'000 
  To allow the authority to plan for 

capital financing as a result of the 
capital programme.  To enable the 
monitoring of capital budgets to 
ensure they remain within budget. 

    Non - HRA 57,497 46,892 52,387
      HRA 7,305 7,039 6,093

  

    TOTAL 64,802 53,931 58,408

        
2) Ratio of financing costs to net 

revenue stream 
  

  
  This indicator estimates the cost of 

borrowing in relation to the net cost 
of Council services to be met from 
government grant and council 
taxpayers. In the case of the HRA 
the net revenue stream is the 
income from Rents and Subsidy. 

    Non - HRA 8.95% 8.52% 6.98%
      HRA 2.50% 2.61% 2.84%

  

  

  
        
3a) Incremental impact of capital 

investment decisions - Council 
Tax 

 £   p £   p £   p 

  

Shows the actual impact of capital 
investment decisions on council tax. 
The impact on council tax is a 
fundamental indicator of affordability 
for the Council to consider when 
setting forward plans. The figure 
relates to how much of the increase 
in council tax is used in financing the 
capital programme and any related 
revenue implications that flow from 
it. 

Increase in 
Council Tax 
(band D) per 

annum

21.72 20.13 15.70

        
3b) Incremental impact of capital 

investment decisions - Hsg Rents 
 £   p £   p £   p 

Page 241



  

Shows the actual impact of capital 
investment decisions on HRA rent.  
For CYC, the HRA 2008/09 planned 
capital spend is based on the 
government's approved borrowing 
limit so there is no impact on HRA 
rents. 

Increase in 
average 

housing rent 
per week 

0.00 0.00 0.00 

        
4) Net Borrowing not exceed the 

CFR   
To ensure that borrowing levels are 
prudent over the medium term the 
Council’s external borrowing, net of 
investments, must only be for a 
capital purpose and so not exceed 
the CFR. 
 

 £'000 
92,865 

£'000 
97,865 

£'000 
90,190 

5) Capital Financing Requirement as 
at 31 March  

 £'000 £'000 £'000 

  Indicates the Council's underlying 
need to borrow money for capital 
purposes. The majority of the capital 
programme is funded through 
government support, government 
grant or the use of capital receipts.  
The use of borrowing increases the 
CFR. 

Non - HRA 143,623 134,471 111,591
  HRA 18,869 18,794 12,235

  

TOTAL 162,492 153,265 123,826

        
6a) Authorised Limit for external debt 

-  
 £'000 £'000 £'000 

  The authorised limit is a level set 
above the operational boundary in 
acceptance that the operational 
boundary may well be breached 
because of cash flows.  It represents 
an absolute maximum level of debt 
that could be sustained for only a 
short period of time.  The council 
sets an operational boundary for its 
total external debt, gross of 
investments, separately identifying 
borrowing from other long-term 
liabilities for 3 financial years. 

borrowing 192,000 192,000 186,000
  other long 

term liabilities
0 10,000 0

  TOTAL 192,000 192,000 186,000

      
6b) Operational Boundary for external  £'000 £'000 £'000 

Page 242



debt -  
  The operational boundary is a 

measure of the most likely, prudent, 
level of debt.  It takes account of risk 
management and analysis to arrive 
at the maximum level of debt 
projected as part of this prudent 
assessment.  It is a means by which 
the authority manages its external 
debt to ensure that it remains within 
the self-imposed authority limit.  It is 
a direct link between the Council’s 
plans for capital expenditure; our 
estimates of the capital financing 
requirement; and estimated 
operational cash flow for the year. 

borrowing 172,000 172,000 145,000
  other long 

term liabilities
0 10,000 0.00

  TOTAL 172,000 172,000 145,000

       
7) Adoption of the CIPFA Code of 

Practice for Treasury 
Management  

  

  
  in Public Services     
  Ensuring Treasury Management 

(TM) Practices remain in line with 
the Code of Practice. 

TM Policy 
Statement

? ? ?

  12 TM 
Practices

? ? ?

   Policy Placed 
Before 
Council

? ? ?

   Annual 
Review 

Undertaken

? ? ?

  A&G named 
as specified 

Scrutiny body

? ? ?

         
8a) Upper limit for fixed interest rate 

exposure 
  

  
  The Council sets limits to its 

exposures to the effects of changes 
in interest rates for 3 years.  The 
Council should not be overly 

Net interest re 
fixed rate 

borrowing / 
investments

148%  150% 

Page 243



  exposed to fluctuations in interest 
rates which can have an adverse 
impact on the revenue budget if it is 
overly exposed to variable rate 
investments or debts.   

Actual Net 
interest re 
fixed rate 

borrowing / 
investments

110% 110% 

8b) Upper limit for variable rate 
exposure 

  

  The Council sets limits to its 
exposures to the effects of changes 
in interest rates for 3 years.  The 
Council should not be overly 
exposed to fluctuations in interest 
rates which can have an adverse 
impact on the revenue budget if it is 
overly exposed to variable rate 
investments or debts.  

Net interest re 
variable rate 
borrowing / 
investments

-48%  -50% 

  Actual Net 
interest re 

variable rate 
borrowing / 
investments

-10% -10% 

      
£'000 

 
£'000 

 
£'000 

9) Upper limit for total principal 
sums invested for over 364 days 

 £10,000 £10,000 £10,000 

  
To minimise the impact of debt 
maturity on the cash flow of the 
Council.  Over exposure to debt 
maturity in any one year could mean 
that the Council has insufficient 
liquidity to meet its repayment 
liabilities, and as a result could be 
exposed to risk of interest rate 
fluctuations in the future where 
loans are maturing.  The Council 
therefore sets limits whereby long-
term loans mature in different 
periods thus spreading the risk. 

Investments 
over 364 days

 
£0 

 
£0 £0 

  

 

  

  
      
10) Maturity structure of new fixed 

rate borrowing during 2008/09 
 

Upper 
Limit 

 
Actual 
(£13306

5k 

Actual 
(£116,0
65k) 

  The Council sets an upper limit for 
each forward financial year period 
for the level of investments that 
mature in over 364 days. These 
limits reduce the liquidity and 
interest rate risk associated with 
investing for more than one year. 

under 12 
months 10% 4% 0% 

  12 months & 
within 24 
months 10% 2% 6% 

  24 months & 
within 5 years 25% 5% 6% 

Page 244



  The limits are set as a percentage of 
the average balances of the 
investment portfolio. 

5 years & 
within 10 

years 40% 21% 19% 
  10 years & 

and above 90% 68% 69% 
            
Glossary Of Abbreviations     
HRA 
Housing Revenue Account 

CFR 
Capital Financing Requirement 

 
CYC 
City of York Council  

 
1. In accordance with the Prudential Code, the Prudential Indicators set by 

full Council on 25th February 2010 for the financial year 2010/11 must be 
monitored and reported at Outturn.  The Prudential Indicators are detailed 
above and the key points are explained below: 

 
2. Indicator 1 - Capital Expenditure: The capital programme expenditure 

at monitor 3 was estimated to be £64.8m and outturn was £53.9m.  The 
Capital Programme Outturn 2010/11 report has further details with 
regards to this movement.  The reduced outturn compared to monitor 3 is 
due to a number of schemes being slipped to be completed during 
2011/12.    

 
2. Indicator 2 – Ratio of Finance Costs to Net revenue Stream: This 

indicator represents how much borrowing (where the finance costs are 
not supported by government grant), for the capital programme, will cost 
as a percentage of the net revenue stream of the Council. The General 
Fund indicator is 8.52% compared to a budgeted level of 8.95%, with the 
marginal decrease due to reduced finance costs. This was reflected in eth 
revenue outturn report.  The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) version of 
the indictor is 2.61% compared to the budgeted level of 2.50%, the 
difference is due to a lower net revenue stream of the HRA than original 
estimated.  

 
3. Indicator 3 (a) & (b) - Incremental Impact of Capital Investment 

Decisions on the Level of Council Tax (3a) and Housing Rents (3b): 
This indicator shows the impact of capital investment decision on the 
bottom line level of Council Tax.  The Council can fund its discretionary 
capital programme from two main sources, from borrowing or using 
capital receipts from the sale of surplus assets.  The Council’s policy is to 
use capital receipts to fund the Capital programme.  However in the 
current economic environment with reduced capital receipts there is the 
requirement to use borrowing to support the capital programme, which 
has an impact on Council Tax through the revenue cost of financing the 

Page 245



borrowing.  The borrowing is not taken unless it is affordable, sustainable 
and prudent and can be supported by an existing budget.   

 
4. Indicator 4 – Net Borrowing not exceed the CFR:  In order to ensure 

that borrowing levels are prudent over the medium term the Council’s 
external borrowing, net of investments, must only be for a capital purpose.  
This essentially means that the Council is not borrowing to support 
revenue expenditure.  Net borrowing should not therefore, except in the 
short term, have exceeded the CFR for 2010/11 plus the expected 
changes to the CFR over 2011/12 and 2012/13.  This indicator allows the 
Council some flexibility to borrow in advance of its immediate capital 
needs in 2010/11.  The table highlights the Council’s net borrowing 
position against the CFR, it confirms that no borrowing occurred in 
advance of need and the net borrowing position was below the CFR. 
 

5. Indicator 5 - Capital Financing Requirement (CFR): The CFR at outturn 
was £123,826m, which is the Council’s underlying need to borrow for all 
capital investment over time. At year-end when the Capital programme is 
financed, the CFR can change when decisions are made with regards to 
the use of external funding, capital receipts etc to support the Capital 
investment of the Council 

 
6. The CFR  represents the capital expenditure (which has not yet been paid 

for by revenue or other resources) which is required to be funded by 
borrowing.  Under Statute, the council is permitted to borrow to fund 
capital expenditure.  When borrowing is undertaken it is not taken for a 
specific capital scheme but rather to fund the council’s capital financing 
requirement as a whole.  The Council is allowed to borrow in advance of 
need, it can borrow the CFR in the current year and also 2 years in 
advance.  The Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital expenditure 
is termed the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).     

 
7. Part of the Council’s treasury activities is to address the funding 

requirements for this borrowing need.  Depending on the capital 
expenditure programme, the treasury service organises the Council’s 
cash position to ensure sufficient cash is available to meet the capital 
plans and cash flow requirements.  This cash requirement may be 
sourced through borrowing from external bodies (such as the 
Government, through the Public Works Loan Board [PWLB] or the money 
markets), or through utilising temporary cash resources within the 
Council. 

 
8. The Council’s underlying borrowing need (Capital Financing 

Requirement) is not allowed to rise indefinitely.  Statutory controls are in 
place to ensure that capital assets are broadly charged to revenue over 

Page 246



the life of the asset.  The Council is required to make an annual revenue 
charge, called the Minimum Revenue Provision – MRP, to reduce the 
CFR.  This differs from the treasury management arrangements which 
ensure that cash is available to meet capital commitments.  External debt 
can also be borrowed or repaid at any time, but this does not change the 
CFR. 

 
9. The Council’s 2010/11 MRP Policy (as required by CLG Guidance) was 

approved as part of the Treasury Management Strategy Report for 
2010/11 on 25th February 2010. 

 
10. Indicator 6(a) - Authorised Limit: The authorised limit is the 

“affordable borrowing limit” required by s3 of the Local Government Act 
2003.  The Council does not have the power to borrow above this level, 
which is approved at Full Council every year. The table confirms that 
during 2010/11 the Council has maintained gross borrowing within its 
authorised limit of £xxxx m.  The Council’s highest level of borrowing 
during the year was £136.1m.   The headroom available within this limit 
allows the Council the ability to borrow in advance of need in accordance 
with its 3 year forecast Capital programme.  If these limits were breached 
the LG Act 2003 requires full Council approval.  Debt levels have 
remained within the limits set. 

 
11. Indicator 6(b) – Operational Boundary: This is approximately the 

expected borrowing position of the Council during the year.  Periods 
where the actual position is either below or over the boundary is 
acceptable subject to the authorised limit not being breached.  In the 
event the actual borrowing level was below the operational boundary due 
to the Council not borrowing the total amount is was permitted to do so 
during the year and not taking any borrowing in advance of need.  This 
was in accordance with the strategy to hold off borrowing due to 
borrowing rates being much higher than investment rates. 

 
12. Indicator 7 - Adoption of the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury 

Management: In accordance with the Prudential Code, the Council has 
adopted the CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of 
Practice “the Code”  prior to the beginning of the financial year.  The table 
shows the code has been adhered to.  

 
13. Indicator 8(a) & (b) - Upper Limit for Fixed and Variable Interest 

rate Exposure: Interest rate exposure on debt is positive due to it being 
in relation to interest paid and on investments is negative as it is interest 
being received.  When the variable and fixed interest rates are totalled, it 
will always be 100%.  The majority of the interest received for the Council 
relates to variable rated investments, where as the interest paid on debt is 

Page 247



fixed.  The limits set in the budget were not breached and the outturn 
stands at 110% for fixed interest rate exposure and –10% for variable 
interest rate exposure. 

 
14. Indicator 9 - Upper Limit for total principal sums invested for over 

364 days: This has been set at £10m and is approximately 25% of the 
average portfolio throughout the year.  In the year no investments for 
longer than 364 days have been taken due to the low interest rates 
available on the market and the forecast that interest rates will raise in the 
coming months. 

 
15. Indicator 10 - Maturity Structure of Fixed rate Borrowing:  The 

borrowing portfolio is spread across different time periods to ensure that 
the Council is not exposed to the requirement to take new borrowing in 
any one year and be exposed to interest rates in any one year.  In 
2010/11 the borrowing portfolio maturity profile was within the limits set. 

 
  
 
 

Page 248



 

 

  

   

Cabinet  19th July 2011 
 
Report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 
 

2012/14 Budget Process  

Summary 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with an 
overview of the proposed 2012/14 budget strategy, highlighting 
the key issues in relation to the councils Medium Term 
Financial Forecast (MTFF).      

Background 

2. All aspects of the public sector are continuing to face 
challenging times in light of the Government’s commitment to 
reduce the national deficit as outlined in the Comprehensive 
Spending Review (CSR) published in November 2010.  The 
CSR provided certainty for the first two years of the spending 
period, however beyond 2012/13 the position is less certain 
and could easily change depending on the national financial 
climate, the outcome of the Local Government Resource 
review and the council’s success or otherwise in delivering 
current savings proposals.    

3. The proposed approach set out in this report reflects the 
proven methodology for ensuring a robust budget is developed 
and approved within the statutory timeline.  It also introduces a 
two year budget period to allow for longer term decision making 
and will cover both capital and revenue. 

2012/13 – 2013/14 Budget outline plan 

4. The proposed 2012/13 – 2013/14 budget process builds on the 
success of the changes implemented for the 2011/12 process, 
including a clearer timeline and earlier planning.   

5. Annex 1 contains the plan in the form of a flow diagram.  The 
timeline shows the issuing of this report as the starting point 
and that over the summer months Directorate Management 
Teams will be considering their budget pressures and putting 
together officer proposals to manage the council’s overall 
financial position.  The information gathered in this phase will 

Agenda Item 15Page 249



 

be fed into a series of meetings with Cabinet members in the 
lead up to Budget Council in February.  Alongside this, the 
budget consultation commences in September and this is 
considered further in paragraphs 11 and 12 of this report.    

6. As part of the budget process, briefings with Group Leaders, 
senior managers, unions and all staff will be undertaken.  
Detailed equality impact assessments will be conducted for any 
potential proposals, and a full equalities impact assessment will 
be completed for the overall budget. 

7. Final budget reports will be taken to Cabinet and Council in 
February 2012.  

Medium Term Financial Forecast 

8. The budget report to Council in February of this year identified 
that the council faced the potential need to identify savings of 
around £10m per annum.  A more detailed review has identified 
that the likely level of savings for 2012/13 is £13m, with a 
further £8m required in 2013/14.  The strategy therefore needs 
to consider proposals that identify approximately £20m over the 
two year budget period.  This assumes that the current 
programme of savings is delivered during 2011/12 

9. The main assumptions underpinning the MTFF are set out in 
the table below: 

 2012/13 2013/14 

Council Tax increase 1% 1% 

Pay award 1% 2% 

Increase in cost of pensions 1% 1% 

Reduction in Government Grant £5m nil 

 

10. It should be noted that the level of council tax increase is 
merely indicative at this stage, for financial planning purposes. 

11. There continues to be a reduction in specific grants across a 
range of services.  The current assumption is that any 
reductions in these grants will be met from within the service 
where the grant loss is experienced. 

Page 250



 

12. The capital programme will continue to be shown over a five 
year period, to identify the ongoing capital investment required, 
along with the revenue funding implications of any increase in 
the councils borrowing.    

Consultation 

13. York has traditionally undertaken extensive consultation as part 
of the annual budget process. Last year this consultation 
comprised 

• Citizen Survey 
• You Choose 
• Equality Advisory Group 
• Business Community Consultation (statutory) 

 
14. A major consultation exercise will be undertaken this year 
through the Fairness Commission, which will report to Cabinet 
in November so that issues can be considered in the budget 
setting process.  This will replace the Citizen Survey and the 
other forms of consultation listed above will continue to be 
undertaken.   

Resource Review 

15. The spending review and subsequent Localism Bill announced 
a raft of policy changes for Local Government, both in terms of 
the way services will be provided and how they will be funded.  
These changes have been consolidated into what is now 
known as the Local Government Resource Review, a wide 
ranging assessment of the financing of local authorities across 
the UK, the results of which will be reported back to the 
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 
sometime in 2011 with a view to the changes taking effect from 
2013/14.   

16. The Government recently announced again it’s intention to 
localise business rates.  However, they have also made it clear 
that no authority will receive less funding when the new 
arrangements are introduced than they would have done 
previously.  As very few authorities actually get back what they 
put in to the current system, and there would be massive 
gainers and losers by implementing the straight retention of 
collected rates, some form of alternative grant funding system 
or ‘pooling’ arrangement to protect councils who would lose out 
is likely to be implemented.   

Page 251



 

17. It is expected that there will be no immediate financial impact in 
2013/14 as other funding streams will be adjusted to ensure 
that each Authority maintains it’s current overall funding 
position.  However, there will be future potential for the city to 
benefit directly from economic activity and development. 

Risks 

18. There are a number of risks associated with the timetable and 
the MTFF. Externally, there may be further reductions in grants 
the council receives.  If such grants are subject to cuts, late 
settlement notification will obviously have an impact in terms of 
reaching a balanced budget.  It is therefore imperative that as 
much work is carried out as early as possible to allow informed 
judgements to be made should the council lose out on funding.  
Internally, risk to financial projections exists through both the 
non-delivery of previously agreed savings programmes, and 
increased demand for financial resources resulting from 
changing economic and demographic pressures.       

Recommendations 

19. It is recommended that Cabinet: 

a) Note the financial position outlined in the report and agree 
to the proposed budget timetable set out in Annex 1 and the 
plans to commence budget consultation in September.   

 
Contact Details 

Authors: Chief Officer Responsible for the 
report: 

Debbie Mitchell 
Corporate Finance 
Manager 
Tel 4161 
 
Andrew Crookham 
Principal Accountant 
Tel 2912 
 
 

Ian Floyd, Director of Customer and 
Business Support Services 
Report 
Approved 

 Date  

 

Report 
Approved 

 Date  

 

For further information please contact the authors of the report 
Annexes: 
Annex 1 – 2012/13 Budget Process – Outline Timetable 
Annex 2 – Medium Term Financial Forecast 

Page 252



2012/14 Budget Process - Outline Timetable Annex 1

Democratic 
Process 

Key Tasks/ 
Milestones Reports Work  

Areas 

April 2010 

Budget Framework 
Report (Cabinet) Internal Budget 

Manual & Forms 

Initial Directorate 
Plans 

May 2010 

July 
2011 

August 
2011 

Sept 
2011 

Work  

Oct 

Cabinet/CMT 
Briefing 

Rounds of 
Cabinet/Director/ 
Finance Meetings 
on Directorate 

plans 

Outcome of Local 
Government 
Resource Review 

Public 
Consultation 

Revised 
Directorate Plans 

Oct 
2011 

Nov 
2011 

Dec 
2011 

Budget Strategy 
Report (Cabinet) 

Cabinet Member 
Sessions 

1/2: CMT 
14/2: Cabinet 
23/2: Council 

Settlement Grant 
Notification 

Jan 
2012 

Feb 
2012 

Cabinet/Director/ 
Finance Meetings 
on Directorate 

plans 

Page 253



Page 254

This page is intentionally left blank



MTFF Summary - July 2011 Annex 2

2012/13 2013/14
£'000 £'000

Unavoidable Growth Requirements
Removal of one-off funding (use of collection fund) 618        -        
Pay increases (increments) 1,885     2,480    
Superannuation contribution & redundancy costs 1,308     1,690    
Corporate Areas:
- Treasury Management (MRP) 1,030     970       
- Waste Management 750        750       

Total Unavoidable Growth 5,591     5,890    

Available Resources
Council Tax (inc. Coll Fund (Surplus)/Deficit) (731)      (739)      
Formula Grant 5,040     -        

Total Available Resources (inc Formula Grant) 4,309     (739)      

INITIAL BUDGET GAP 9,899     5,152    

Potential Growth Proposals
Provisional growth pressures 3,000     3,000    
Contingency Fund 400        400       

Total Potential Growth Proposals 3,400     3,400    

TOTAL POTENTIAL FUNDING GAP 13,299   8,552    

P
age 255



P
age 256

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

  

   

Cabinet  
 

19 July 2011 

 
Report of the Cabinet Member for City Strategy 
 

Water End Flood Alleviation Scheme 

Summary 

1. This report provides information on the Water End Flood Alleviation 
Scheme which is being promoted by the Environment Agency. This 
will raise existing and construct new flood defence structures to 
provide a 1 in 200 year standard of protection to an estimated 393 
residential and commercial properties within the project area. The 
Council has undertaken to make a contribution of £1m in its capital 
programme for 2012/13 and authorisation is requested for the 
Council to enter into a financial contribution agreement with the 
Environment Agency.  

2. In addition to the above the Council has also undertaken to make a 
contribution of £356,000 in 2012/13 to enable the Environment 
Agency to commence a feasibility study into a flood protection 
scheme at Clementhorpe. This will be subject to a separate 
agreement in due course.  

Background  

3. The Environment Agency (EA) has identified that the existing flood 
defences at Water End need to be improved to provide an 
appropriate level of protection to properties in the area. A scheme 
for improvements was included in their indicative capital 
programme for implementation in 2012/13. They have developed 
the design and carried out consultation to meet this timescale and 
the estimated cost of the scheme is £3.2m 

 
4. The proposed scheme will raise existing and construct new flood 

defence structures to provide a 1 in 200 year standard of protection 

Agenda Item 16Page 257



 

to an estimated 393 residential and commercial properties within 
the project area. The outline design includes: 

 
§ Raising the height of the existing defences along Water 

End 

§ Raising the height of the existing Leeman Road 

embankment 

§ Constructing a new flood defence to connect the Leeman 

Road embankment to tie into high ground at Cinder Lane 

§ Providing a new defence across the entrance to Landing 

Lane to tie into the high ground 

§ Providing additional penstocks on outfalls passing under 

the existing and proposed defences 

 
5. The indicative capital programme was compiled on the assumption 

that the Flood Defence Grant in Aid (FDGiA) allocations would be 
at the 2010/11 level. However Defra has changed its approach to 
funding flood defence and as a result the Water End scheme was 
removed from the EA’s capital programme as it did not meet the 
criteria for 100% FDGiA.  

 
6. The aim of the new approach is to enable more projects to be 

funded by topping up FDGiA with local contributions by 
beneficiaries. While some FDGiA funding is available for the Water 
End scheme, its viability is dependant on other funding being 
found. In recognition of this the Council undertook to secure a 
contribution of £1m in its 2012/13 budget and this has now been 
confirmed following the new administration’s review. 

 
7. The EA wish to progress the scheme and have requested that the 

Council enter into a financial contribution agreement.  Approval is 
requested for this agreement to be signed.  

 
8. The Council has also undertaken to make a contribution of  

£356,000 in 2012/13 to enable the Environment Agency to 
commence a feasibility study into a flood protection scheme at 
Clementhorpe. This will be subject to a separate agreement in due 
course.  

Page 258



 

Implications 

9. Financial – The contributions are included in the capital programme 
approved by the Council 

Human Resources (HR) - None 

Equalities - None 

Legal –  Once signed the Financial Contribution Agreement will be 
legally binding on the Council 

Crime and Disorder- None        

Information Technology (IT) - None 

Property - None 

Risk Management 
 

10. Without the Council’s contribution the Water End scheme will not 
proceed in 2012/13 and is unlikely to proceed at a later date in the 
current financial climate. The area will remain at risk of flooding and 
due to the continuing deterioration of the defences this risk may 
increase although the EA would do its best to mitigate this by 
maintenance. 

 
11. The Council, EA, Yorkshire Water Services and Council are at an 

early stage of discussion and feasibility study, and the Council 
funding will enable this to continue. The EA do not currently have 
any funding allocated to this scheme.    
 

 Recommendations 

12. It is recommended  

1. that approval is given for the signing of the financial 
contribution agreement with the Environment Agency 
confirming the Council’s contribution of £1m in 2012/13 
towards the Water End Flood Alleviation Scheme. 

Reason: To enable the Environment Agency to progress 
the scheme as detailed in paragraph 3.  

2. that the contribution towards the Clementhorpe scheme be 
noted and an agreement signed with the EA in due course. 

Page 259



 

Contact Details 

Author: Chief Officer Responsible for the 
report: 

Michael Tavener 
Project Manager 
(Structures and Drainage) 
 
Ext 1473 

Richard Wood 
Assistant Director (Strategic Planning 
and Transport) 
Report 
Approved 

 Date  

 

Specialist Implications Officer(s): 

None 

Wards Affected: Holgate  

For further information please contact the author of the report 
 

Page 260


	Agenda
	
	2 Minutes
	4 Forward Plan
	5 Taking Forward the 2011/12 Budget Priorities
	Annex Taking Forward Budget Priorities

	6 Petition to Council on Support for Vulnerable People
	Annex 1 Petition to Council on Support for Vulnerable People

	7 A Review of City of York Council's Elderly Persons Homes (EPHs)
	Annex A Review of EPHs
	Annex B Review of EPHs
	Annex C Review of EPHs
	Annex D Review of EPHs
	Annex E Review of EPHs

	8 Homeless Review 2010/11
	Annex 1 Homeless Review 2010-11

	9 Approval of the Homeless Strategy (Review) 2011 to 2013
	Annex 1 Homeless Strategy Action Plan
	Annex 2 Homeless Strategy Action Plan

	10 Strengthening the Capability and Capacity of York's Voluntary Sector
	11 High Speed Rail Consultation - The Council's Response to the Government's Consultation
	Annex A High Speed Rail Consultation

	12 Financial Out-turn 2010/11
	13 Capital Programme Out-turn 2010/11 and Revisions to the 2011/12-2015/16 Programme
	Annex 1 Capital Programme Out-turn

	14 Treasury Management Annual Report and Review of Prudential Indicators
	Annex A Treasury Management Annual Report

	15 2012/14 Budget Process
	Annex 1 Budget Process
	Annex 2 Budget Process

	16 Urgent Business - Water End Flood Alleviation Scheme

